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Annual Memorabilia 2021
——SFFEEXER

MAJOR EVENTS T E;EH)

March 2021 —E—-—4%=H

The Group raised net proceeds of approximately
HK$189 million by completing an additional
issuance of 135 million new Shares to promote
the Group’s business development.

REE T AHIE .35 R - EEFRN1.89F
B EEREEREE -

The Group hosted the 6th Blackstone Awarding
Ceremony.

AN mE

PRI

%%F%E%ﬁ

REEAWRE N E RO RBRAE o

The Group and Xiaomi Inc. jointly held the 2021
Xiaomi Marketing Game Industry Salon named
“MIMO OPENDAY” to explore new paths for
industry marketing growth in the digital age.

AR @B/ KA T E F Y2021 F /N K S
2021- IJ\*E‘:‘maﬁﬁ!Ik“ 7% 8 MIMO OPENDAY | - FREF(LBAT
WO Fie. 44 \ BT S S R IR T o

W%WW
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Annual Memorabilia 2021
B —FEEKXERL

April 2021 —E¥=—¢MA

The Group hosted the 2021 Quick App Alliance
Developers Conference and held the inauguration
ceremony of a car-terminal working group
under the Quick App Alliance to broaden the
ecosystematic layout and development model of
the industry.

REBAEMPW2021 FREAHBFHBERS » AWHE
ITRERERIERYEN  UIRRTEERMGR

MEBREN
.............................................................................................................................. B o JER R R R R TR
August 2021 —F=—%F/\H

z mﬂ%ﬁ iR e The Group entered into a strategic cooperation

with East West Bank on promoting the in-depth

f]ﬂﬂﬂﬂ ;Rliﬁa‘-'gﬁ zb cooperation on development between the two
RIES 1’E & parties.

STRATEGIC COOPERATION
SIGNING CEREMONY | 2021.08 e ‘ o
FEBMEEZRITERBBEEE  BBEHRES

1R -

The Group won the “Quality Partner Award” at
the 2021 OPPO Developers Conference.

REFELE2021FOPPO HEBERS[BESIEE
PEEE | o

............... 6 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2021



Annual Memorabilia 2021
—E-—FFEXER

October 2021 — &= —%+A8

The Group won the “2021 Technology Innovation
Intelligent Service Award” by the Internet Weekly
of the China Academy of Social Sciences in
2021, and was selected into the list of “2021
China Top 100 New Technologies”.

AEBLE2021FHELRR(EBHART)
[2021 FE M AIFE se RIS EE | » I A& 2021
REH R 10058 J4EE o

November 2021 —_&E=-—%+—H

The Group was awarded the “2021 Technology
Marketing Company” by the 13th Golden
Network Award of Internet Society of China,
and Mr. GAO Dinan, the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, received the
“2021 Digital Marketing Leader”.

FEERETREBAGEE = EBEAR2021
FERMEHAT] ARTAEESIEREFEH
TESFBEEREI2021FEHFTEHEMA
e

............................................................................................................................... —E-—EF BNSHAERAT 7



Chairman’s Statement

EFRHBESE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2021, despite the prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic
affecting the world, the Chinese economy began to recover and
maintain growth, while the public gradually returned to their normal
living. During the pandemic, in the midst of further deepening its
digital development, the government started to pay more attention
to the formalization and standardization of the internet industry.
In this context, we continue to expand our business channels,
deepen our business ecosystem to better serve Android ecosystem
participants and smart loT participants, and actively promote
Android ecosystem industry standards and industry norms to
facilitate ecological sustainability. | am pleased to present to the
Shareholders our annual report for 2021.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

By adjusting our business plans in a timely manner during the
pandemic, we formulated and maintained a strict management
model, accumulated high-quality customers, and continuously
strengthened delivery efficiency, which ensured the stability
and development of our main business and revenue in 2021.
Total revenue for the full year of 2021 was RMB2,098.2 million,
representing an increase of 21.5% compared to RMB1,726.7 million
for the same period in 2020. Gross profit increased by 8.5% on a
year-on-year basis to RMB263.3 million. Operating profit increased
by 0.3% on a year-on-year basis to RMB95.4 million. Profit after tax
decreased by 6.8% on a year-on-year basis to RMB62.3 million.

8 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, we recorded a strong performance in terms of channel
expansion and placement model innovation. During the year, we
not only achieved outstanding placement results in our business
partnership with the MHA members, but also performed well
in the cooperation with short-form video creators, video self-
media creators, key opinion leaders and key opinion consumers.
We continued to promote the development of various industries
by exploring and deepening our efforts in various sectors. Our
revenues from mobile advertising amounted to RMB2,005.1 million
in 2021, representing a year-on-year increase of 20.5%. In 2021,
our revenues from online video distribution and game co-publishing
amounted to RMB85.1 million and RMB8.0 million, respectively.

Our steady growth was also attributed to our advanced placement
technology, and we continued to make investments in the research
and development for the purposes of continuous update, to ensure
that we can provide accurate distribution services in various
industry sectors. In 2021, we optimized and upgraded our mobile
application placement for various industries, while providing full
support for various placement model innovation. We have enhanced
our video business partnerships by targeting the popular short-form
video industry. At the same time, we provided our customers with a
wide range of convenient services, including investment in creative
materials and other comprehensive support to meet the placement
requirements of various industries.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRHBESE

We have made great process in the deployment of the Quick App
ecosystem. At present, there are more than 1.2 billion devices
equipped with Quick App technology, covering 170 countries and
regions around the world, with monthly active devices of over 500
million units. We also vigorously promoted the development of
the Internet-of-Vehicles business based on the Quick App, and
established a car-terminal working group under the Quick App
Alliance (RFEFBEEEE# T /E/NE) in April 2021, which currently
comprises 8 car-terminal manufacturers and more than 50 beta
developers and has launched 4 vehicle models. Based on the Quick
App technology, we have launched a customized smart vehicle
product, namely Q-CAR, a cross-0S, cloud lightweight vehicle
application development framework. During the year, Leapmotor
has entered a technical cooperation with the associate company
established by us and Xin Point Holdings Limited, to firstly apply
Q-CAR to Leapmotor vehicles by providing technical support and
solutions. In the future, Q-CAR will provide comprehensive and
customized solutions for more new energy smart vehicles to create
a smarter and safer driving experience.

We have always been committed to actively promoting the
standardization of the Android-based ecosystem. In order to
promote the development of intelligent terminal software industry
and improve the quality of mobile application software, the
Intelligent Terminal Golden Seal Alliance (the “ITGSA”), which
is managed and operated by us, was officially established. The
members of the board of the ITGSA include six domestic intelligent
terminal manufacturers, being Alibaba Group, Baidu, Tencent,
OPPO, Vivo and Xiaomi. Under the guideline of China’s industrial
policy, the ITGSA is market-driven, and mainly engaged in providing
services for developers, with an aim to build an intelligent terminal
software ecosystem platform and technical standards. The ITGSA
provides gold standard certification service for high-quality mobile
application products, aiming to select industry-leading mobile
applications in terms of stability, compatibility, performance, power
consumption, security, privacy, etc., to comprehensively improve
the service quality standards of the industry and significantly
increase the trust and recognition of Android-based ecosystem
users.

KMEREAEEAHMREINEZERE
Bralr CEBBI2EARBEIHRERR
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Although the Omicron variant of COVID-19 and the turbulent
international situation have brought more challenges to the global
economic development, we believe that we can continue to maintain
a stable development in the future with valuable experiences we
accumulated and learned during the pandemic, coupled with our
efforts in channel expansion, content ecosystem development and
placement models innovation. In 2022, we will continue to maintain
and expand our channels, customer base and markets, improve
our own ecosystem from different aspects, and continue to develop
our content ecosystem in a longitudinal direction. To this end, we
will continue to invest in research and development to maintain our
advancement and high adaptability in the industry. As for the Quick
App, we will work with members of car-terminal working group to
provide more diversified and customized internet services for smart
vehicle based on the experience of cooperation in the Internet of
Vehicles, so as to lay a solid foundation for the deployment of the
Internet-of-Things. As the government attaches more and more
importance to the standardization and regularization of the Internet
industry, we will promote the standardization of the industry under
the help of three alliances while continuing to maintain close
contact and communication with the government and relevant
regulatory departments to support government decisions.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere appreciation
to the management team and employees of the Group for their
outstanding contributions and unremitting commitments. The Board
also greatly appreciates partners, Shareholders and stakeholders
who place trust in and render support to us as they work side by
side with us. We will continue to be committed to providing better
and more diversified services to the Android-based ecosystem
participants and the smart Internet-of-Things participants to
promote the improvement of Android-based ecosystem standards.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
25 March 2022
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Financial Highlights
M E

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR FelEnR
LOSS
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1-BLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“Z—tf CZE-\§ CZEZ-NF CZE-TF CZF--F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®TT AR%Trt AR%Trn ARETR
Revenue s 485,636 1,546,316 2,396,187 1,726,746 2,098,198
Cost of sales HERAK (439,638)  (1,329,190)  (2,057,972)  (1,483,999) (1,834,882
Gross profit 7 45,998 217,126 338,215 242,747 263,316
Other income and gains Hi AR Bz 961 11,661 24,508 18,123 17,138
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHHES (5,712) (16,729) (31,636) (16,477) (15,001)
Research and development costs TR (15,866) (26,344) (45,419) (73,543) (67,036)
Administrative expenses THEX (8,665) (74,635) (49,789) (40,401) (46,301)
Other expenses and losses HitfZ R (1,976) (1,084) (8,852) (15,108) (38,508)
Share-based payment expenses DRGBERNAFEX (1,866) (8,119) (51,251) (20,244) (18,160)
Operating profit T 12,874 101,876 175,776 95,117 95,448
Finance costs B RRAR (3,528) (6,216) (13,121) (10,172) (7,549)
Share of losses in associates AMEBE N EFE - - - (1,490) (3,826)
Loss on termination of KIETTRRES
convertible bonds Mg - (14,270) - - -
Fair value losses on convertible bonds Al k&% A FERE - (3,202) - - -
Fair value losses on preferred shares B LR A A FEEE (134,443) (217,123) - - -
Fair value losses on warrants RREZNATESE (16,239) (261,791) - - -
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI (518) (141,336) (400,726) 162,655 83,455 84,073
Income tax expenses gt b (3,758) (20,815) (56,921) (16,642) (21,776)
Profit/(loss) for the year Ehid/(§518) (145,094) (421,541) 105,734 66,813 62,297
Non-HKFRS Measures HEBYBHEEL]E
(unaudited) (FEER)
Adjusted EBITDA" {EHEEBITDA 17,422 166,625 246,443 128,723 121,390
Adjusted net profit? TRERGe 7,454 126,978 159,698 87,037 80,457
(1) Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effect of depreciation, amortisation, (1) #EFHEZEBITDAKIEITE « #8H - BIEK
finance costs, income tax, share-based payment expenses, listing R FER - ARMDAERANRAS -

MRS« TR R B 25 10 5 18 I PT HRR
B - BERKLABEEN R HEBENZ
& .

=

expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, and fair value losses
on convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.

(2)  Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of share-based payment (2) AEIEEEFFREE AR AET A G
expenses, listing expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, % EWRAE - &I TIRRES O EE &)
and fair value losses on convertible bonds, preferred shares and BRES - BEREABREEN A T ERE
warrants. ol
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

FRBEE
RBEE
“EE

EERAE
tEaaE

FRBEE
RBRE
“afR

“RnRER

Financial Highlights

FEMBRAE (HEIER)
As at 31 December
W+=ZA=1+—-8

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E2—tF CZEB-\E CZEB-nE CZZ-EBF CZFZ-%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRE AR¥Tx AR¥Tx AR¥Tx AR®Tx
37,896 255,494 219,749 241,869 272,485
287,815 1,057,440 1,369,365 1,329,751 1,572,878
325,711 1,312,934 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363
(172,472) 875,494 1,035,475 1,156,798 1,390,913
362,325 6,473 6,543 3,440 19,822
135,858 430,967 547,096 411,382 434,628
498,183 437,440 553,639 414,822 454,450
325,711 1,312,934 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363

—E--F BWEHERAS 13



Management Discussion And Analysis

CEATRE VAR

REVENUES g

Our revenues from mobile advertising increased by 20.5% from BPREEHESHREH-_ZS_ZFNWA
RMB1,663.6 million in 2020 to RMB2,005.1 million in 2021, due to R%1,663.6 BB TIEM20.5%E=—F=— E
the increase in the number of mobile games we advertised during HWARYEE2,006.1 B8 REAR=-Z=
2021. FRMERNEBERBEIEM -

In addition, we generated revenues from our online-video o BN B —F DR BRRIRIEAE

distribution services and game co-publishing services of RMB85.1 %ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&?ﬁ%ﬂ?iﬁﬁﬁ%?i%mkﬁm

million (2020: RMB55.4 million) and RMB8.0 million (2020: RMB7.8 85.1EBT(ZE-FTF . AE#}55 4BHEB

million) in 2021, respectively. TIRARBBOBERL(ZZE-ZF 1 AR
W78EETT) °

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the TREIIRFATEABHLE ST -
periods indicated.

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HILEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-ZF
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
{h 48 = (LB ES

ARBTT HWE2E  AR®TR B2

Revenues ]

Mobile advertising BEBES 2,005,125 95.6% 1,663,557 96.3%
Online-video distribution WX GIEERD 85,102 4.1% 55,409 3.2%
Game co-publishing TR EE 7,971 0.3% 7,780 0.5%
Total st 2,098,198 100% 1,726,746 100%




Management Discussion And Analysis

CEAERE VS

BEIE SRS

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of marketers’ EMBEBTEERHERE (BRTRPELZE
mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution channels of  EREFHRIER) - JEIERE B E R F RIS
our MHA members which consist of seven Android smartphone  BIRFFEEFHAEE IR REHEEND
manufacturers in China, non-MHA smartphone manufacturers and BREPHBITEERF E’J%EWEFH&V&%
non-smartphone manufacturer distribution channel suppliers. We BERESUEENE - RMTRDEER
also offered a variety of advertising formats across our distribution PRHSEEREEX (@?ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁzrﬁﬁf&

Mobile Advertising Services

channels, including app store search ads, in-feed ads, banner EES  EERRES -  ERES - BmER
ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads, to suit our customers’ F%&Fﬂﬁﬁ%)uﬂ SBRMPEFPNESES
specific needs. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our 3R « TREFIRFFRPREFZRICRE DM
advertising revenues by source for the periods indicated: B &R

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HILEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
(LU = {h#E U

ARET T HESLE AR¥ETET R
Mobile game distribution BB o B 1,938,115 96.7% 1,428,269 85.9%
Mobile app distribution BHERAEFD® 67,010 3.3% 235,288 14.1%
Total st 2,005,125 100% 1,663,557 100%

Our mobile advertising revenue generated from distribution of
mobile games increased from RMB1,428.3 million in 2020 to
RMB1,938.1 million in 2021, representing an increase of RMB509.8
million, or 35.7% from 2020. The revenues increased primarily
because we expanded the number of mobile games we marketed
and obtained new mobile game distribution channels from
smartphone manufacturers, especially from the MHA members.
Our mobile advertising revenue from mobile app distribution
decreased from RMB235.3 million in 2020 to RMB67.0 million in
2021, representing a decrease of RMB168.3 million, or 71.5% from
2020, primarily due to the decrease in the number of mobile apps
we marketed during 2021.
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging our success and experience in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
begun establishing our online-video distribution network to unleash
new monetisation opportunities since 2018.

With our stable relationships with suppliers of content distribution
channels and smartphone manufacturers, especially the MHA
members, we integrated the operational know-hows and experience
in the field of online-video distribution, and expanded our service
offerings to a broader range of marketers.

We generated a revenue of RMB85.1 million for this business line in
2021, representing an increase of RMB29.7 million, or 53.6% from
2020. The videos we distributed are mainly in the areas of finance,
entertainment and movies.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game
developers, which include game optimisation, marketing,
promotion, distribution, monetisation and other user-related
services. Leveraging our extensive experience in game co-
publishing, amassed data volume and technical know-how,
we actively identified and sourced new game content as well
as optimised existing game content based on our in-depth
understanding of user profiles, preferences, tastes, and playing
habits. Moreover, based on our close relationship with various
smartphone-based distribution channels, we allocated game
marketing and promotion resources more efficiently and effectively,
with insights into the effect of timing of offer and type of virtual
items based on user behavior and in-game spending.

Our revenues from game co-publishing services slightly increased
by 2.6% from RMB7.8 million in 2020 to RMB8.0 million in 2021.
As at 31 December 2021, we had co-published 37 mobile games in
China.
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COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of distribution fees incurred
for advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor
costs and amortisation expenses.

Cost of sales increased by 23.6% from RMB1,484.0 million in 2020
to RMB1,834.9 million in 2021. This increase was primarily driven
by the increase in distribution fees to our distribution channels from
RMB1,476.6 million in 2020 to RMB1,830.7 million in 2021, which
was in line with the increase in our revenues during 2021.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 8.5%
from RMB242.7 million in 2020 to RMB263.3 million in 2021. The
increase in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in the
transaction volume of our mobile advertising business on our
platform during 2021.

The decrease in gross profit margin from 14.1% in 2020 to 12.5% in
2021 was primarily due to the increase in cost of traffic acquisition
as a result of a more expensive traffic price in our industry, partly
offset by the decrease of other related costs associated with the
cooperation agreements with certain smartphone manufacturers in
relation to their distribution channels.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains decreased from RMB18.1 million in 2020
to RMB17.1 million in 2021, primarily due to the decrease in bank
interest income and government grants received.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses decreased by 9.1% from RMB16.5 million in
2020 to RMB15.0 million in 2021, which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in marketing and advertising expenses as a result of
our reduced spending in promotional campaigns.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COST

Research and development cost primarily consisted of fees paid to
third party consulting service providers and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
decreased by 8.8% from RMB73.5 million in 2020 to RMB67.0
million in 2021, primarily due to the decrease of the research
expenses of our systems.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses increased by 14.6% from RMB40.4
million in 2020 to RMB46.3 million in 2021, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in professional service expenses and
staff costs and related expenses.

OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Other expenses and losses increased from RMB15.1 million in
2020 to RMB38.5 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in
impairment loss provided on our accounts receivable.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSES

Our share-based payment expense decreased from RMB20.2
million in 2020 to RMB18.2 million in 2021, because the share-
based payment expenses in connection with the RSUs we granted
to certain grantees were recognised over the vesting period at a
lower weighted-average grant date fair value as compared to 2020.

OPERATING PROFIT

As a result of the foregoing, our operating profit slightly increased
by 0.3% from RMB95.1 million in 2020 to RMB95.4 million in 2021.
Operating margin decreased from 5.5% in 2020 to 4.5% in 2021.

FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs decreased from RMB10.2 million in 2020 to
RMB7.5 million in 2021, primarily due to the decrease of our bank
borrowings.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense increased from RMB16.6 million in 2020 to
RMB21.8 million in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to
the increase in taxable profit of our subsidiaries in China.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, profit for the year
decreased from RMB66.8 million in 2020 to RMB62.3 million in
2021.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures, which are unaudited and not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures
because they are used by our management to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not
consider indicative of our business performance. We also believe
that these non-HKFRS measures provide additional information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help
our management compare our financial results across accounting
periods and with those of our peer companies.

We define adjusted EBITDA as profit for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income tax
and share-based payment expenses (“Adjusted EBITDA”). We
define adjusted net profit as profit for the year without considering
share-based payment expenses (“Adjusted Net Profit”). The terms
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not defined under the
HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit has
material limitations as an analytical tool, as they do not include all
items that impact our profit or loss for the relevant years. The effect
of items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit
is a significant component in understanding and assessing our
operating and financial performance.
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In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial
performance, you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit in isolation or as a substitute for our profit for the year
or any other operating performance measure that is calculated
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-
HKFRS measures may not be calculated in the same manner by
all companies, they may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.

The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs.

N PR AZEBITDAR & A F RN M
RE RIERMSERMERERE BT
TEEBHBELAREBITDAR EARFE
FMHEERBERMERER » SEMEMIE
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Year ended 31 December

BFE+-A=1+—B1¥$E

2021 2020
—B-—% —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARB¥ETT
Profit for the year ERiEEF 62,297 66,813
Add: i

Depreciation e 5,392 4,180
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 6,216 10,692
Finance cost B R AR 7,549 10,172
Income tax expense FTEHiBEX 21,776 16,642
Share-based payment expenses AR BER AR 18,160 20,224
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) AR EBITDA(KRES) 121,390 128,723
2021 2020
—T-—%F —ERCEHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARB¥ETT

Profit for the year FERiEEF
Add: b 62,297 66,813
Share-based payment expenses L BERNAREX 18,160 20,224
Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) ERE R (RESZ) 80,457 87,037
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM EME S MBI R R B0 E TS

OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF &%
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
R+ZA=+—8
2021 2020 Change
T —ECRF )
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMT T
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHEER 444,883 240,352 85.1%
Bank borrowings RITER 171,647 194,996 -12.0%
Current assets REEE 1,572,878 1,329,751 18.3%
Current liabilities REaE 434,628 411,382 5.7%
Net current assets MEVEEFE 1,138,250 918,369 23.9%
Total equity TS BEE 1,390,913 1,156,798 20.2%

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2021, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB444.9 million, as compared with RMB240.4 million as at 31
December 2020. The increase in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to the placing of 135,000,000 new Shares at the placing
price of HK$1.45 per Share in March 2021 (the “Placing”), partially
offset by the repayment of borrowings due. Our cash and bank
balances were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars and US
dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 amounted to
RMB195.0 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB42.6 million are secured by pledged deposits of US$6.8 million
provided by one of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank borrowings of
RMB65.0 million are guaranteed by two of our subsidiaries, (3)
the bank borrowings of RMB20.0 million are guaranteed by three
independent third parties, (4) the bank borrowings of RMB60.0
million are guaranteed by our Company, (5) the bank borrowings of
RMB10.0 million are guaranteed by a senior management member
and his spouse, and (6) the bank borrowings of RMB150.0 million
are guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholders.
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As at 31 December 2021, our bank borrowings decreased to
RMB171.6 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB30.0 million are secured by pledged deposits of RMB30.0
million and US$1.9 million provided by one of our subsidiaries,
(2) the bank borrowings of RMB49.0 million are guaranteed
by two of our subsidiaries, (3) the bank borrowings of RMB5.0
million are guaranteed by an independent third party, (4) the bank
borrowings of RMB90.0 million are guaranteed by our Company
and (5) the bank borrowings of RMB139.0 million are guaranteed
by the Controlling Shareholders. All the bank borrowings as at 31
December 2021 were denominated in RMB and will be mature
within one year, with fixed interest rates ranging from 3.05% to
5.00% per annum. The decrease in bank borrowings was primarily
due to the repayment of borrowings due.

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB1,138.3 million as at 31 December
2021, compared to RMB918.4 million as at 31 December 2020. Our
current assets were RMB1,572.9 million as at 31 December 2021,
compared to RMB1,329.8 million as at 31 December 2020, primarily
due to the increase in cash and bank balance. Our prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were RMB546.6 million as at 31
December 2021, compared to RMB518.2 million as at 31 December
2020, which was mainly attributable to the increase in purchase of
prepaid data traffic for the Group’s business development needs.
Our current liabilities were RMB434.6 million as at 31 December
2021, compared to RMB411.4 million as at 31 December 2020,
primarily due to the increase in accounts payable and other
payables and accruals, partly offset by the decrease in contract
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Total Equity

As at 31 December 2021, our total equity was RMB1,390.9 million,
compared to RMB1,156.8 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly
due to the net profit occurred during 2021 and the Placing of new
Shares of the Company in March 2021.
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMFELE
As at 31 December
®+=—A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—f —ECEF
Current ratio (times)® TMENLE = ((FEDO 3.6 3.2
Gearing ratio (%)@ BEEEBLER%)P? 24.6 26.4
Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=+—HILEE
2021 2020
—T-—f ZECBF
Adjusted net profit margin® TR FRF RO 3.8% 5.0%
Notes: 5T

(1) Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided by
our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

2) Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our
total assets at the end of each financial period.

Q) Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net
profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenues for the same
period.

Current Ratio

Our current ratio increased from 3.2 as at 31 December 2020 to 3.6
as at 31 December 2021, primarily due to the increase in cash and
bank balance and the decrease in contract liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio decreased from 26.4% as at 31 December 2020
to 24.6% as at 31 December 2021, mainly due to the increase of
total assets.

(1) REBEEETHRREFIN S BHR RO R
BESERARMOARS A ERETES
$o

@ ﬁ?%{zttf’TJ?EE”%F%AREMAZHEFEJ?KE’U
BEEFRARMNEEETESD

©)] SESJ?E/%&@?WIE&EQ% PR TEREHIR RO
SRR NG AR — R m RS AR ES

o

EE &

mENtL 2

BN RESEEH_E_EF+ A=+
A3 2z -_—F+_A=+—HMW
3.6 TEHRBESRRITHEREMUREN
BERTERITETRD -

BEBEILE

BN EEEBHER-_T-_TF+ A=
+—BH264%BE_E=-_—F+ A=+
—HM24.6%  TEHARBEEEN -

—E--F BWEHERAT 23



Management Discussion And Analysis

CEATRE VAR

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin decreased from 5.0% in 2020 to
3.8% in 2021, primarily due to the increase in overall operating
expenses.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures mainly consist of additions to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Our capital expenditures
amounted to RMB1,072,000 and RMB490,000 in 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital
requirements from a combination of various sources, including
but not limited to internal resources and external financing at
reasonable market rates. We seek to improve the return of the
equity and assets while adhering to our prudent funding and
treasury policies.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars and the Hong
Kong dollars. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in our Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the
Reporting Period.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures in 2021.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets
for our Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2020: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).
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Directors and Senior Management

ESRSRERE

OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 43, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and has served as our chief
executive officer since March 2014, being responsible for overall
management of the business, strategy and corporate development
of our Group. Mr. Gao has 18 years of experience in the technology
industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business
director of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (AEESFAKFEM(ALR)ER A F)
from June 2008 to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (BE 2
Al), which is a company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU),
specialising in Internet-related services and products and artificial
intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t R E & K £)
in July 2008.

Ms. ZHOU Yan (&%), aged 44, is our executive Director and chief
financial officer. She is primarily responsible for the management
of financial strategy of our Group. She joined our Group in March
2017 and has served as the chief financial officer of our Company
since then. She was appointed as an executive Director in June
2018. She has 18 years of experience in corporate finance.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou served as senior management
of the finance department of Tsinghua Holding Co., Ltd. (F& &
AR F) from June 2016 to February 2017. From July 2015
to May 2016, she served as the general manager of the finance
department in Tsinghua Holding Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (&%
RIZEREBRAE]). From April 2014 to June 2015, she served as
the general manager of finance department in Tsinghua Holdings
Human Settlements Construction Group Co., Ltd. (FiEABER
(5@)EPFR 2 7). From July 2010 to March 2014, she served as a
vice general manager of finance department in Beijing Enterprises
Holding Investment Management Co., Ltd. (At FIERRESEGR
‘A\]), a subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises Holding Limited (1t ZXiE %
BPFRAT) that is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 392).
From December 2008 to February 2010, she served as a senior
accountant at Beijing Futian Cummins Engine Co., Ltd. (1tZX%8
MR TS B A BR A F), a subsidiary of Commins Inc. that is a
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company listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: CMI).
From July 2004 to November 2008, she served as an accountant at
Beijing BOE Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. (It S XFEEAHKE
B AR A F)), a subsidiary of BOE Technology Group Co., Ltd. (it
FERARFEEERHEBRAQF) which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000725 and 200725).

Ms. Zhou obtained a master degree in accounting from Jilin
University of Finance and Economics (& # & & KE2) in July 2004.
She obtained a fund qualification certificate granted by China
Securities Investment Fund Association (TEIE SR EE S E£IHS)
in April 2016, and a tax accountant qualification certificate granted
by China Association of Chief Accountants (PEIZAZsHEIHBE) in
September 2012. She has been a senior-level accountant granted
by Beijing Municipal Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security (bR H A N E R B RFEB) since October 2017.

Mr. NIE Xin (F£3£), aged 42, was appointed as an executive
Director on 27 August 2020. He joined the Group in March 2019
as the senior vice president and was responsible for the operating
management. He has over 13 years of experience in operations and
management.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Nie served as an operation manager
at Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from
September 2009 to September 2012. From November 2013
to March 2019, he served as the general manager of strategic
investment department of Suzhou Meishengyuan Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (BN =4 T EREER A 7).

Mr. Nie graduated from the Central Radio and Television University
(FFREFESZIRAE) in May 2006 with a college degree.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHENG Wei (Z})&), aged 44, is a non-executive Director and
joined our Group since March 2016. He was appointed as executive
Director of the Company in November 2018 and was re-designated
as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 27
August 2020. Prior to his re-designation, he was the vice chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He
has 15 years of experience in the technology industry.
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Mr. Zheng was appointed as executive director and the president
of Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited (RERELEE
& R A)),which is a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3662), with effect from 7 January
2021 and 27 January 2021, respectively. He served as a partner of
Northern Light Investment Advisory (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (dtE}RE
RS (At ) A BR 2 A) from July 2015 to February 2016. He served as
the general manager of the creation development department and
business cooperation department as well as a vice general manager
in the mobile service group of Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2015.

Mr. Zheng obtained a bachelor degree in engineering mechanics
and a master degree in solid mechanics from Tsinghua University
(BEZEARE) in July 1999 and in July 2001, respectively. He also
obtained a degree of Ph.D. in informatics from Peking University (t
FAE) in July 2014.

Mr. SONG Chunyu (5R%FH), aged 45, is a non-executive Director
and joined our Group since May 2016. He has been working at
Lenovo Group Limited (B#48 &£ @A PR A7), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00992), and its subsidiaries since July
2001 and served multiple positions successively, such as managing
director, partner and group vice president.

Mr. Song obtained a bachelor degree in automatic control and
a master degree in control theory and control engineering from
Harbin Institute of Technology ("aEEE L% AEE) in July 1997 and
July 2001, respectively.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FREE), aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. He has been the deputy secretary
general of China Software Industry Association (7Bl {417 £ 1
&) since March 2018. From January 2008 to January 2018, he was
the deputy director of Institute of International Technology and
Economics (BIPR T &E T2 FR) at State Council Development
Research Center (B 7%P% 3 R ZH0).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (3t 5B KE) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (%LU X228) in June 1991. Then he obtained a degree
of Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.

Mr. JIN Yongsheng (£ %), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2021.
He has successively served as a professor and head of the
Department of Business Administration and Public Administration,
dean and doctoral supervisor of the School of Economics and
Management, chairman of the Professor Committee and a
member of the Academic Committee of Beijing University of Posts
and Telecommunications (tZEE KE) since July 2004. He is
principally focused on teaching and researching in the fields of
digital economy, mobile internet industry organisation and strategic
management, including, among others, digital consumer behavior,
big data business model, value creation and value transfer of
mobile internet industry. He has published more than 100 articles
in top-tier journals such as Economic Perspectives (#&BEEE)
&), Chinese Journal of Management Science (T EIEE &) and
the theoretical page of People’s Daily (A K H#R). From May 1996
to June 2004, he served as a professor, master supervisor and
deputy dean of the College of Economics and Management of
Beijing University of Technology (ItZX T KXE). From July 1988
to April 1996, he successively served as lecturer, director of the
Business Economics Teaching and Research Office, the Economics
Research Institute and the Scientific Research Office and associate
professor of the Department of Business Economics of Lanzhou
University of Finance and Economics (BB 4E K E2).
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Jin was graduated from Lanzhou University of Finance and
Economics (B B4 KE8) with a bachelor’s degree in business
economics in 1985. He obtained a master’s degree in trade
economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (-
B & BUEKE) and a doctor’s degree in industrial economics
from Renmin University of China (FEI AR KXZ) in 1988 and 2002,
respectively.

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (#224§), aged 43, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. She has been teaching in the
school of management at Qinhuangdao Campus of Northeastern
University (381t K£8) in the PRC since July 2004.

Ms. Zhao received a bachelor degree in accounting from
Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management (ZB/H
ZET#EIEER) in June 2001, and a master degree in accounting
from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (&M Bt & X
&) in June 2004. She was also accredited as a certified public
accountant by the Beijing Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AL EEHEBE) on 10 September 2010.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (F35), aged 43, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and our chief executive officer.
For further details, please see the paragraph headed “Directors and
Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this
section.

Ms. ZHOU Yan (J&%%), aged 44, is an executive Director and our
chief financial officer. For further details, please see the paragraph
headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors —
Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. NIE Xin (§553%), aged 42, is an executive Director and the senior
vice president. For further details, please see the paragraph headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive
Directors” in this section.
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Mr. ZHANG Zhen (5R7E), aged 43, is our chief information officer
and joined our Group in August 2014. He is primarily responsible for
corporate information management and overseeing product testing
of our Group. He has nearly 18 years of experience in technology
industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang served as a manager of
wireless business department in Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to December 2013. From
December 2004 to March 2005 and from March 2006 to March
2011, he served as a technology director of wireless business
department in Sohu New Era Network Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (IR AR E ML MT AR A F]), a subsidiary of Sohu.com
Inc., which is listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: SOHU) and primarily
engaged in providing Internet services.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t ¥ T X&) in
August 2004.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung, David (FR&3#), aged 35, is our company
secretary and deputy chief financial officer of our Company,
being responsible for the financial management of our Group and
secretarial matters of our Company. He joined our Group and
was appointed as a deputy chief financial officer in May 2018. He
was appointed as the company secretary of our Company in June
2018. He has over 13 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
financial management and corporate governance matters.

Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Chan was the chief financial
officer, company secretary and authorised representative of
Zensun Enterprises Limited from June 2016 to April 2018, a
property development company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00185). From March 2015 to June
2016, he was a senior manager in the finance department of CITIC
United Asia Investments Limited, a subsidiary of CITIC Limited
(PEIFERHER2E]) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00267). Prior to that, he served in
the assurance department of Ernst & Young with last position as a
manager from September 2008 to March 2015.

Mr. Chan received a bachelor degree in business administration
and accountancy from City University of Hong Kong in November
2008. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2014.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a technology company in the mobile Internet
market, helping connect businesses from various industries
to hundreds of millions of Android-based smartphone users in
China. It provides Android-based content distribution services for
marketers seeking mobile advertising, online-video distribution
and game co-publishing services. The activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 95 of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may recommend the payments of dividend on a per
Share basis in respect of the Shares of the Company. In considering
the payment of dividends, the Company takes various factors
into account, including but not limited to the Company’s financial
performance, the business conditions and strategies, the capital
requirements, statutory and regulatory restrictions and any other
factors which the Company may deem relevant. The declaration
and payment of future dividends will depend upon, among other
things, financial condition, future earnings, cash flow, liquidity level,
business prospects and other relevant factors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for
the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 8 to 11 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 14 to 25 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company attaches great importance to environmental
protection and resource conservation, and continuously pays
attention to the impact of its business operations on the
environment. The Group is committed to maintaining the common
development of economy, environment and society, and promoting
awareness of environmental protection and resource conservation
in its daily operations. The Group strictly follows the relevant
environment protection laws and regulations of the PRC and
adopts various electricity-saving and water-saving management
measures, including management over air-conditioning settings in
office areas and enhancing management and maintenance of water
equipment, thereby improving efficiency and minimizing resource
consumption. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
find any environmental-related violations.

For details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance, and the important relationship between the Company
and its employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2021 to be published on the website
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
own website (www.wankaonline.com) according to the Listing
Rules.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks in its business operations,
primarily including: (i) failure to improve and enhance the
functionality, performance, reliability, design, security, and
scalability of its products and services to suit its clients’ evolving
needs, (ii) failure to develop and maintain successful relationships
with its local channel partners, and (iii) systems disruptions,
distributed denial of service attacks, or other hacking and phishing
attacks on its systems and security breaches.

Effect Assessment of the COVID-19 Outbreak

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted economic
activities worldwide. Many countries have imposed restrictions
on non-essential services and business operations, and have
also implemented travel restrictions, border closures and other
quarantine measures that have significantly curbed the normal
movement of goods, services and people. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, the impacts of COVID-19 have been
reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact our business
operations and financial operating results, and there is uncertainty
in the nature and degree of its continued effects over time. The
Group will proactively manage the businesses and take the
necessary actions to ensure that the long-term business prospects
of the Group remain stable.
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USE OF PROCEEDS PTSIER&

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the ERARROBR=-Z—NE+=A=+—HU
Stock Exchange on 21 December 2018 by way of global offering, EHBEARNEHIMERLT  EEME
raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$194.7 million RIEAFEANB147TEESBT (HERY
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting ARBAT12BER) (RINKREX£EA - &
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related HEHEEREMBBELTRY) ([BX A%
listing expenses (the “IPO”). g

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had utilized the proceeds as BE-ZE-_—F+=-A=+—8 xKECD

set out in the table below: B AT RATEMFERIE -
Expected
timeline for
the use of
Net proceeds Utilization up to Utilization during unutilized
from the IPO 31 December 2021 the Reporting Period ~ Unutilized proceeds proceeds
HRER
HE-%--% FRREL
BRARYE tZR=t+-8 REEH AR
FamEHE EBRRE EBRAE HABRAERE HRE%
HKS AMB HKS RMB HKS AMB HKS RIB
‘million milion million millon ‘million million million millon
BE  ARE BE  ARE BE  ARE B8 ARE
Bt BER B BEn BT BET B BET
Strengthening research and EERD 584 514 58.4 514 1.1 103 - - -
development capabilities
Promoting the development RARERERN 584 514 48.1 423 97 89 103 9.1 2023
standard of Quick Apps REEE o S
Expanding service offeringsand ~ EAREEHER 292 %7 292 %57 68 6.2 - - -
strengthening ecosystem MEEERS
Expanding monetization channels R &% (L EER 292 %7 292 %57 100 90 - - -

and strengthening sales and e R
marketing capabilities

Working capital and EBESR-ROEAR 195 170 195 170 - - - - -
general corporate uses

Total gt 194.7 172 184.4 162.1 376 344 103 9.1

The remaining balance of the net proceeds from the IPO was BXARBEMSHIBEFERBREHREFEA
placed with banks. There has been no change in the intended use R1T - BMRERSEAIE BN IS RKIEFRERE
of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the HMARITEEE  AEEBRBRERMR
Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out FRBERRT FriSFIaF5E -

in the Prospectus.



To raise additional capital for the business operations of the Group,
in January 2020, the Company issued and allotted to Xin Point
Holdings Limited, a Cayman Island company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1571), 25,789,000
new Shares at a subscription price of HK$1.90 per Share (the
“Subscription”). The Company received the net proceeds from
the Subscription of approximately HK$48.9 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB43.0 million) after deducting the expenses
incurred in the Subscription.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had utilized the proceeds for
general corporate purposes and working capital use. A breakdown
of the use of proceeds is set out in the table below:
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BRAEBERKEEEERNIES  RIE
—ZEFE—-f > AQARCEEHERERLT
(—REREXFERLTHHSEE LR IR
BREE 11571) B 1T R Ei 325,789,000 B 37
R RBEARSRIRM1.00EB T ((RBESE
H]) KMBRABEEEENEZE A2
T BRBSEEWMMNFIBRIEFENA48.9
BEBT (HERNAREIZ0EET) °

BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—H KBS
BHASHREE-—REEABRNEEES 2
Ao TRASHIFMBHIEREZZHHE

Net proceeds from Utilization up to Utilization during
the Subscription 31 December 2021 the Reporting Period Unutilized proceeds
BEZ%--%
DEEE +ZRA=+-H REEY
FARETE EBRRE EBRRE R RFAERE
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
’ million million ’ milion million " million million " million million
BE  ARK BE  ARK BE  ARK BE  ARK
BT BER AT BER Bt BE% At BAE%
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIER 284 2.0 284 2.0 79 7.2 - -
Payment of staff and INEIREZEH 14 10.0 14 10.0 2.1 19 - -
directors’ remuneration
Administration related expenses ~ {THURERX 9.1 8.0 9.1 8.0 39 35 - -
Total st 489 430 489 430 139 126 - -

To strengthen the financial position of the Group and provide
working capital to the Group, the Company completed the Placing
of 135,000,000 new Shares at the placing price of HK$1.45
per Share in March 2021, and received the net proceeds from
the Placing of approximately HK$189.0 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB157.8 million) after deducting the expenses
incurred in connection with the Placing.

AN EE P IERR I AL REZ
BEES  ARTARZEBE-FE=ZARAUE
B%1.4558 T B EE B 135,000,000 B2 7
IR AR HESSEEEENRE RN
MEEEEMESRETHEN189.05EBTT
(HERYARE1578FETT) °
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group had utilized the proceeds as RZ-ZZ=Z—F+=ZHA=+—H ' A&EEEE

set out in the table below: E2FABRNTRAT
Expected
timeline for
the use of
Net proceeds from Utilization up to Utilization during unutilized
the Placing 31 December 2021 the Reporting Period ~ Unutilized proceeds proceeds
HAHA
HE-%--% FRREL
EE tZR=t+-H REEH AR
FamERH EBRRE ESRNE HABRFTERE R
HKS AMB HKS RMB HKS AMB HKS RMB
"million millon—millon milion " miion millon " millon millon
BE  ARE BE  ARF BE  ARE BE  ARE
B BER B BEn B BER Bt BET
Further develop the Group's E-SREAER 1134 947 %59 216 259 216 875 731 2023
existing business lines REER TEIZE
Enhance the Group’s digital MERSEHETER 56.7 473 128 107 128 107 439 36.6 2023
infrastructure and forresearch i MEAHERAR S
and development of new U VES
internet and technological
solutions
General working capital uses -ReEELAR 189 158 75 63 75 63 114 95 2023
“EC=
Total @t 189.0 157.8 462 386 462 38.6 1428 192

The remaining balance of the net proceeds from the Placing was BE B RIEFRERSREHRCTEARIT o AT
placed with banks. There has been no change in the intended SRIEFHEHARLESE  MEMSK
use of net proceeds and the net proceeds from the Placing have BEFRHECLREEUE FXIFEZBHR
been and will be applied in the manner consistent with the use of HAR-BMAREA -

proceeds as disclosed above.



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group’s five largest
customers, which primarily include marketers seeking the Group’s
services, contributed to a total of 32.9% of the Group’s total
revenue and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of
7.9% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group’s five largest
suppliers, which primarily include distribution channel partners,
contributed to a total of 85.0% of the Group’s total cost of sales
and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of 26.5% of
the Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out on pages 99 to 100 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB1,029.1 million (as of
December 31, 2020: RMB886.5 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
of December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective connected
persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. ZHOU Yan
Mr. NIE Xin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. ZHENG Wei
Mr. SONG Chunyu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. LIANG Zhanping (resigned on 16 September 2021)
Mr. JIN Yongsheng
(appointed on 16 September 2021)
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin and Mr. CHEN Baoguo shall retire by
rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
JIN Yongsheng shall retire, and being eligible, have offered himself
for re-election at the AGM.

o] 4 53 ik it
BE-FT-—#+t-A=t-A AAFT

{%ﬁlmﬁfﬁéﬁ%xﬁﬁm 0291 BB T (BE
EFE+-A=+—H : AR%886.5

_7_

BEX) °

TTERREMER
AEEBE-T--F+-A=t-AHR

TERRAEMERFBINGESTHEREM
£¥28 o
ERMRER

BE-ZE--F+ZA=+—-HLFE &
SETEEENFEOARTES - SRE
HE ERRRIEZENEEALRERE
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=5
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PITEE:
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Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in
the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 26 to 31 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Ms. ZHOU
Yan and Mr. NIE Xin, has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 3 November 2021, 3 November 2021 and 27 August
2020, respectively, for an initial term of three years commencing
from 3 November 2021, 3 November 2021 and 27 August 2020,
respectively.

Each of the non-executive Directors, being Mr. ZHENG Wei and
Mr. SONG Chunyu, has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company on 3 November 2021. The initial term for their
appointment letters shall commence from 3 November 2021 and
shall continue for three years, until terminated in accordance with
the respective terms and conditions of the appointment letter or
by either party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Ms. ZHAO Xuemei, has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021,
16 September 2021 and 3 November 2021,
initial term for their appointment letters shall be three years from
3 November 2021, 16 September 2021 and 3 November 2021,
respectively, until terminated in accordance with the terms and

respectively. The

conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in directors’ information as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set
out below:

° As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16
September 2021, Mr. LIANG Zhanping has tendered his
resignation as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a
member of Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee, all with effect from 16 September 2021, in order
to devote more time to his personal endeavours.

° Mr. JIN Yongsheng was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee, all with effect from
16 September 2021. See “Directors and Senior Management”
for more information.

BBIFHITEE( Eﬂﬁflﬁ'ﬁﬂi ®KE
SERBESLZI)ESEIRZ —F+-—
A=H8"- :gi—ﬁhﬁﬁ—/\ﬁ)&_?_
F+—AZHRARQARFTLELESE - KEZE
EENVRBRES B -_ZE-_—F+—A
=R B2 —FhA+RARZE=—F
+—B=ZHEARH=F EEZREBZEEN
FRRREGESIHER—F A5 —FRAIEE
FOR=ZEANEEBATUAKILERIE o

ESHETLEATTHAEER-FAK
I BAXNHE CEERMERMN HREE
# o

RIEEHRAIE13.512) R E13.51B(1)EE
FLUBBENESEREBFHIINT -

o HNMAATBEHAZZE=_-FhATA
Hmﬂiﬁﬁﬁ PEFEECBER
RABIFHTES FHEESE

B BRZESERERERZEEERE

2 LERMEZEBEELAS
Bt BZEZ—FNA+TAEE
ER o

o  SKERERZERNRBUIEHNITE
E FNEZESXE  BERZEERE
RiREZEENEBZHE BT ——
FAATABREEEEN - FELSEHE
w2 ESkaREEE]-



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors had any material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “ Related Party
Transactions” in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended December 31, 2021 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended
December 31, 2021 or subsisted at the end of the year.

Report of the Directors

ESERE

EEREXXS - THHESHM
s

BERESVAQAHEEAMELARNEER
MEBARNREHRRING » BHEAEEE
BEBEANEARS - ZHASNTEER
BEEA T MEAER -

EEEH
BERALTAE2HRIEMNEEZROEBNE
BRITBE N ENRZEENNREFE -

E S B iz 1 s R RS RO AEF

BRAFHATHEEN  RBEHMEQIH
FAEMBEARARES AN  £ES
BUEBWEARRIEMHEMEAER
ROy EREMELR  BMBEESEHEEM
BB ARM18R F LERARBANANIE
AEMEAERNRARERESZNEFR
EATEETZEER -

EIRRREH

BR A 5F 3R P 8 AR S B 7 SRRk MY SE 36 BB
Re I-EREEN  REE-T-—F+
“A=t—-BLFEHFE ARAHEME
{7 Y o 2 B ABE AR B AR R SR S AR B B 2
AR VEREN  RBE-Z=-—F1+=A
=+-RLEFERFE  ARFATEITLE
BHZERRRLEEAHBELT QAR EH
HEAKHBRREHRBHERSY -

—E2_-FR BUEBHAERAT 41



Report of the Directors

ESERE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 11 and
12 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits” set
out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the
Company or Associated Corporation of the Company
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Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding
Capacity/ in the
Name of Nature of Number of Long/short Company
Name Corporation Interest Shares position (%)
ERAT R
4 AT &THE S S HEE k& E B3R HE BHESLEO(%)
Mr. GAO Dinan®  The Company Interest in controlled 468,248,800  Long position 31.52
corporations;
interest held jointly
SEE=F A PN ZEEEER 468,248,800 "R 31.52
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® The Company Interest in controlled 468,248,800  Long position 31.52
corporation;
interest held jointly
BRI TEO PN ZEEEER 468,248,800 "R 31.52
HEFE#ER
Ms. ZHOU Yan®  The Company Beneficial owner 5,000,000 Long position 0.34
B+ RN BEREAA 5,000,000 HRE 0.34
Mr. NIE Xin® The Company Beneficial owner 1,587,000 Long position 0.11
BELEO PN BEREBA 1,587,000 35} 0.11
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,485,663,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2021.

(2)  Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2021 (i) held by Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 269,384,300 Shares; and (i) held
by Mr. Zheng and his wholly-owned company, Countryside Tech Inc.,
which is interested in 198,864,500 Shares as they are parties acting in
concert.

(8  Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2021 (i) held by Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 198,864,500 Shares; and (i) held by
Mr. Gao and his wholly-owned company, Wanka Media Limited, which
is interested in 269,384,300 Shares as they are parties acting in concert.

(4)  Ms. ZHOU Yan is interested in RSUs granted to her under the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme entitling her to receive 5,000,000 Shares.

(6)  Mr. NIE Xin is interested in RSUs granted to him under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme entitling him to receive 1,587,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2021, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2021, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AR AT R
wa  &iE 5 ety BinEE BE e BHESO (%)
Wanka Media Limited® Beneficial Interest; interest held 468,248,800 Long position 31.52
jointly with another person
Wanka Media Limited® BEnfEs ) lBE— AT HE 468,248,800 #E 31.52
BEER
Mr. GAO Dinan® Interest in a controlled 468,248,800 Long position 31.52
corporation; interest
held jointly
S BEEe SEEEER  KEFEER 468,248,800 #E 31.52
Ms. LU Haiyan® Interest of spouse 468,248,800  Long position 31.52
Mgz @ BB 468,248,800 #E 31.52
Countryside Tech Inc.® Beneficial Interest; interest held 468,248,800 Long position 31.52
jointly with another person
Countryside Tech Inc.® ERER BE—-ATHE 468,248,800 wE 31.52
BFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® Interest in a controlled 468,248,800 Long position 31.52
corporation; interest
held jointly
BRIEELE® SEEEEER  HEEEES 468,248,800 #E 31.52
Ms. FENG Chun® Interest of spouse 468,248,800 Long position 31.52
BELZLTO [inRtEErs £ 468,248,800 e 31.52
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AR AT IR
LYt S, HESME BinEE BE e BHESEO (%)
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 104,291,430 Long position 7.02
Partners Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment SEEERER 104,291,430 weE 7.02
Partners Co., Ltd.®
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 104,291,430 Long position 7.02
Holdings Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment FEEEER 104,291,430 e 7.02
Holdings Co., Ltd.®
Notes: MI5E -

1)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,485,663,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2021.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2021 held by (i) Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him; and (i) Mr. ZHENG Wei and his wholly-owned company,
being Countryside Tech Inc., as they are parties acting in concert. Ms.
LU Haiyan, spouse of Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in Mr.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2021 (i) Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly owned
by him; and (i) Mr. GAO Dinan and his wholly-owned company, being
Wanka Media Limited, as they are parties acting in concert. Ms. FENG
Chun, spouse of Mr. ZHENG Wei, is deemed to be interested in Mr.

@)

GAO Dinan’s entire interest.
@)

ZHENG Wei’s entire interest.
(@)

The general partnership of both KIP Overseas and KIP Bright is Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Korea Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. Therefore, Korea Investment Partners Co., Ltd. and
Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
entire interests as of December 31, 2021 held by KIP Overseas and KIP
Bright, namely 98,231,500 and 6,059,930 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2021, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

2016 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on January 6, 2016 and
amended by the Board resolution passed on May 24, 2018. The
2016 Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve the grant
of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarized as follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivize
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each RSU
represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so specified
by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non — cash
and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may
not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the
RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless otherwise specified by
our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter to the RSU
Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non
— cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the
RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being March 31, 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms).

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited
(the “RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by
the RSU Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure
the RSU Trustee to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company
shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in
connection with the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) to each of
the relevant RSU Participants. The Vesting Notice will confirm the
extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of
Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip
distributions in respect of those Shares) involved.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held
or to be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 ordinary
shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, representing 4.21% of the number of Shares in issue as at
December 31, 2021 (without taking into account of any Share which
may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any RSU that may be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and the exercise
of any option that may be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme).
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As of December 31, 2021, we had granted RSUs representing BE-_Z-_—-F+-A=+—8 &MRE

62,500,000 Shares to 76 grantees under the 2016 Share Incentive —E-RERDEEFERT6EERARE

Scheme, including the following senior management and other 1£3:62,500,000 B% A% 19 #9  BR I AR 19 BE 1z

current or former key employees of the Company, including RSUs BREAXTANTISREEAEREMRE

granted and vested pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme REEFERE  BERBE-Z—"ERH

to our Director and senior management as set out below: BEENEERSREEAERETLEE
M ZPRAIAR D BE M H ST

Number Number Number
Number of of Shares of Shares of Shares Number
Shares underlying underlying underlying of Shares
underlying  theexercised the cancelled the lapsed underlying
the RSUs RSUs during RSUs during RSUs during  the RSUs as at Exercise
Name of Director/ Date of asat  theReportng  theReporting  theReporting  December3i,  Vesting Price
Senior Management ~ Grant January 1, 2021 Period Period Period 2021 Period (US$)
BEC%--% RENR BE-%--%
-A-8 EfTfk BEMR #E8h  +-B=t+-8
R RRHRG B Bkt HRRHRG
EfiifeE EERN  XRMRGEL  ZRERHEN Bt hiid
B3 /BUERASEE RHEBH k¥ RtE  EERGEE  EERGYE ke SR (%7)
Ms. ZHOU Yan 30 June 2017 5,000,000 Shares - - - 5,000,000 Shares 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Bt “E-tE 5,000,008 - - - 5000000RKH —E-NE 0.0000002
AA=TH +-p=t-8
Mr. GENG Xuefeng 22 June 2018 325,958 Shares - - - 325958 Shares  2019-2022 0.0000002
LSy “E-\f 305,958 R - - - 5 8KRH  ZB-hEE 00000002
AR=T=H “E-CF
Mr. NIE Xin 22 March 2019 1,587,000 Shares - - - 1,587,000 Shares 22 March 2020 0.0000002
EARE “E-hE 1,587,008 & - - - 1587000RMHA  —B-EE 0.0000002
ZA=tH =ZA=tc-R



Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:
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EARITENZREBRODECHEEEMNT :

Number of RSUs

SR EMEE

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2021 24,523,473
BE_T-—F—HA—BWEKRTESR 24,523,473
Granted 5,994,597
=t g 5,994,597
Forfeited (5,993,837)
22k (5,993,837)
Exercised -
21T -
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2021 24,524,233
BE-_T-—F+-A=+—B0ERTESS 24,524,233

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On November 3, 2018, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through the grant
of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of the
Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of the
Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 127,321,635 Shares
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible
person under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years from November 3, 2018 and the options granted have a 10-
year exercise period. Options may be vested over such period(s)
as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion subject to
compliance with the requirements under any applicable laws,
regulations or rules.

The exercise price of the option shall be such price as determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the option), but in any case the subscription
price shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended December 31,
2021.

2019 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company adopted its 2019 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on August 29, 2019.
The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve the grant
of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarized as follows:

The purpose of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivize
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme include existing employees, Directors (whether executive
or non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive
directors) or officers of the Company or any member of the Group
(the “2019 RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the 2019 RSU
Eligible Persons to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme at its discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2019 RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU
vests to obtain Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges
applicable, as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion.
Each RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include,
if so specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-
cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds
of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares.
A 2019 RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest in
any Shares underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are
actually transferred to the 2019 RSU Participant. Further, a 2019
RSU Participant may not exercise voting rights in respect of the
Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless
otherwise specified by our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU
grant letter to the 2019 RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights
to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or
the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any
Shares underlying the RSUs.

The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of the
scheme, being August 29, 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms).

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“2019 RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue new Shares to the 2019 RSU Trustee which
will hold such Shares to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs
upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the 2019 RSU Trustee
to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase
existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the
Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the 2019 RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the 2019 RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the 2019 RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “2019 Vesting Notice”) to each
of the relevant 2019 RSU Participants. The 2019 Vesting Notice will
confirm the extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the
number of Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares
held or to be held by the 2019 RSU Trustee for the purpose of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme from time to time. Unless the Board
otherwise decides, the total number of all Shares held by the 2019
RSU Trustee under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme must at all
times be not more than 15% of the number of issued Shares from
time to time.

As of December 31, 2021, we had granted RSUs representing
51,658,000 Shares to 37 grantees under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme, and none of them is the director or senior management of
the Company.

Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:
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Number of RSUs

FPRH R EMEE

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2021 21,013,000
BE_—T-—F—HA—BMEKRITESR 21,013,000
Granted 30,645,000
B 30,645,000
Forfeited (276,000)
22k (276,000)
Exercised (18,214,000)
21T (18,214,000)
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2021 33,168,000
BE-_T-—F+-A=+—B0ERTESS 33,168,000



EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share incentive plans as described above, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were entered
into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2021 or
subsisted at the end of the year of 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted as a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year
ended December 31, 2021, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.
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Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided
by our Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe when and to the extent permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into our Company’s
financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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=) Beneficial ownership in equity interests
nuny Bengficial ownership through contractual arrangements

(1) Control of WFOE over the Registered Shareholders through (i) Exclusive
Option Agreements, (i) Equity Pledge Agreements, and (iii) Voting Rights
Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorneys.

2) Control of WFOE over the business of Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

(8)  The ChiLe Registered Shareholders refer to the registered shareholders
of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe is owned as to 51% by Mr. Gao
and 49% by Beijing JinChi, which in turn is owned as to 38.5% by Mr.
HUA Xinjiang (ZE#7/T), 56% by Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (AR EEABR A T) and 5.5% by Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership (/8 HRESBEE(BRAE)).
Both Tibet Jiukun Investment Consultlng Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Jiazhuo

Investment Limited Partnership are controlled by Mr. HUA Xinjiang.

(4)  The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders refer to the registered
shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(@) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE
and (2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the
WEFOE (collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements”), the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the
exclusive provider to Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Shanghai ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities
of comprehensive technical support, business support
and relevant consultation services for annual service fees,
including but not limited to the following services in respect
of the Relevant Businesses: providing business management
consultation; providing marketing and promotional services;
providing system integration and maintenance services;
providing financial support; and providing equipment and
properties transfer, leasing and disposal services.
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(b)

Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
after deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of
the preceding financial year(s), operating costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of
service fees according to, among others, scope and nature of
services and relevant market prices. The service fees shall be
paid on an annual basis and in accordance with the payment
instructions of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment
arrangements in Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements,
the WFOE also has the right to adjust the payment time and
payment method. Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to
accept any of such adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018,
and will be automatically renewed for additional ten years.
The WFOE also has the right to renew the term at its will and
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such
renewal. The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
shall not be terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b)
term of such agreement is expired.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times
and Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the
exclusive option agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and the Shanghai
ChilLe Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the right to require the
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the WFOE and/or a
third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws. The
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration that they receive in the event WFOE
exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements
in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the equity
interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.
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(c)

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements have an initial
term of ten years commencing from their respective effective
dates, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018. The WFOE
has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe shall agree to any such renewal. None
of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall not be terminated
unless in writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or
their respective shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and
each of the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2)
the equity pledge agreements dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe
Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge
Agreements”), Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and
ChiLe Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their
respective existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where applicable, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debits.

The pledge in respect of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe
took effect upon the completion of respective registration
with the relevant administration for industry and commerce,
which are April 15, 2016 and March 12, 2018 respectively for
the Huanju Times Contractual Arrangements and the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements, and shall remain valid for an initial
term of ten years commencing from the respective effective
dates, which may be renewed by the WFOE in writing. If
there is outstanding debts of Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders, ChiLe Registered Shareholders, Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, the valid period of Equity Pledge Agreements
may be renewed in writing by the WFOE to the date when all
such outstanding debts have been fully paid.

()
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(d)

Voting Rights Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorney
Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively,
the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those
who are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChilLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written
consent, any and all right that he/she has in respect of his/her
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe.

The valid period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018, and shall not
be terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (ii) all the
equity interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe,
where applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChilLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated June 15, 2018 issued
by him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from March 1, 2016 or March
9, 2018, where applicable, to the date when the Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement expires.

(d)
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(e)

Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On June 15, 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed
an undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in
favor of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1)
her spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe (together with any other interests
therein) are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or
the ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChilLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that
she will fully assist to the performance of the respective
Contractual Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that she will not have any claim on such equity
interests and assets; (3) her spouse may further amend or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other
alternative documents without the need for authorization or
consent by the spouse; and (4) they will be bound by the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements as amended from time
to time if she has obtained any equity interests, directly or
indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe for whatever
reasons.

On June 15, 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Beijing JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and
two brothers, signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi
Shareholder Undertaking”) to the effect, among others,
that each of such person unconditionally and irrevocably
(1) confirmed and agreed with the execution of agreements
in connection with the Chile Contractual Arrangements by
Beijing JinChi and (2) agreed to execute any document and
take any action as necessary to fulfill their obligations under
such agreements, including transfer of their equity interests in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2021. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the
year ended December 31, 2021.

(e)
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis
that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As of
December 31, 2021, we had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating
our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,923.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase
by 22.7% from RMB1,567.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021,
the revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries accounted for approximately 91.7% of
the revenue for the year of our Group (2020: 90.8%).

Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile
co — publishing business as well as online-video distribution
services operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
their respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in the PRC. Since foreign investment in such business
areas in which we currently operate are subject to restrictions
under the current applicable PRC laws and regulations, as advised
by our PRC legal advisor, we determined that it was not viable for
our Company to hold our Consolidated Affiliated Entities directly
through equity ownership. For details of the foreign investment
restrictions relating to the Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements — PRC
Regulatory Background” of the Prospectus and the section headed
“Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” in this
annual report.
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Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business, (2) such transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of our Group, are on normal commercial terms and
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our
Shareholders as a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s
undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by the Company and (b)
the Shareholders’ undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by Mr.
Gao, Mr. Zheng, and all then existing shareholders of our Company
relating to the Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such
undertaking. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual arrangements and any new
transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of existing
agreements to be entered into between any of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group (“New Intergroup
Agreements” and each of them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given
that our Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the
connected transactions rules under the Contractual arrangements,
it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company if such
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among
others, the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements.

Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign
Investment

On March 15, 2019, the second meeting of the 13th Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress approved the
Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China {(#
#Z \REMBEIERE L)) (the “FIL”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures {(FIHNEELE BFE L)), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures {(FIME1EREE ©F5%)) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises (/M& £ %%)) to become the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC. The FIL stipulates
three forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate
the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The FIL specifically stipulates three forms of foreign investment,
namely, (1) establishment of a foreign invested enterprise in the
PRC by a foreign investor, either individually or collectively with
any other investor; (2) obtaining shares, equity interests, assets,
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interests or any other similar rights or interests of an enterprise
in the PRC by a foreign investor; and (3) investment in any new
construction project in the PRC by a foreign investor, either
individually or collectively with any other investor.

The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements
as a form of foreign investment. Provided that no additional laws,
administrative regulations, departmental rules or other regulatory
documents on contractual arrangements has been issued and
enacted, the FIL does not, by itself, have any material adverse
operational and financial impact on the legality and validity of our
Company’s Contractual Arrangements.

Notwithstanding the above, the FIL stipulates that foreign
investment includes “foreign investors invest through any other
methods under laws, administrative regulations or provisions
prescribed by the State Council.” Therefore, there remains
uncertainty regarding whether future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may
regard contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment,
whether our Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be in
violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how
the Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Our Company will
disclose, as soon as possible, updates of changes to the FIL that
will materially and adversely affect our Company as and when
occur.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if there are regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, we could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements
and the relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChilLe or any of their shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.
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We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our
PRC Holdcos that are material to our business operations if
our PRC Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially
and adversely affect our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it
may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the
Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation
of our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company
under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the
Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG
Wei and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan
and Mr. ZHENG Wei, our Controlling Shareholders, and Beijing
JinChi, which is a substantial shareholder of Shanghai ChiLe, are
connected persons of our Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver
from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of
the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an annual cap for
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less
under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following
conditions:

(@ no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

(b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

() the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(d) on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has
direct shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly
foreign owned enterprise or operating company (including
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements; and
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(e) we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@) the transactions carried out during the year ended December
31, 2021 had been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

(¢) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and

(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s Board;
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(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with a series of contractual arrangements disclosed in the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
governing such transactions; and

(¢) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that dividends or other distributions have been
made by Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective
subsidiaries to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company and is not involved in any material legal proceedings.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its directors and officers.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no significant events that might affect the Group
subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 71 to 87 of this annual
report.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 202 employees as of December 31, 2021, as
compared to 249 employees as of December 31, 2020. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee
benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus and other employee benefits, and is determined
with reference to their experience, qualifications and general market
conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and
competence.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public
float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing
Date and as of the date of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the AGM on 2 June 2022, Thursday. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from 30 May
2022, Monday to 2 June 2022, Thursday, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend the AGM, during which period no share transfers will be
registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 27 May 2022, Friday.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the
Shares.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.
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AUDITOR

BDO Limited shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as Auditor will be proposed
at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Dinan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions under the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference which are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in
respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. ZHOU Yan

Mr. NIE Xin

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. ZHENG Wei
Mr. SONG Chunyu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. LIANG Zhanping (resigned on 16 September 2021)
Mr. JIN Yongsheng (appointed on 16 September 2021)
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, sKkills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, culture, race, gender, age and other
qualities. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity
policy is available on the website of the Company.

Gender diversity of the Board stands at a relatively high level
(25%, 2 females out of 8 Directors). The Board places tremendous
emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity) across all
levels of the Group. The total gender diversity of the Group is
balanced. To support diversity across all facets, beyond gender,
including race and ethnicity, disability, social mobility and age,
the Group is enhancing diversity and inclusion efforts through
employee networks, mentoring programmes, equitable hiring
practices, policies and awareness raising events and training for all
employees to support inclusive behaviours. Further details on the
gender ratio of the Group and initiatives taken to improve gender
diversity across senior management and the wider workforce,
together with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s own website
(www.wankaonline.com) according to the Listing Rules.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a
timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate. The
Company also arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director.
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors have complied with the
CG Code in relation to continuous professional development,
apart from reading materials relevant to the Company’s business,
director’s duties and responsibilities. All Directors also attended
and/or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company
updates Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the Company for accurate and
comprehensive record keeping.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Under code provision A.2.1 (which has been renumbered as code
provision C.2.1 with effect from January 1, 2022) of the CG Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and performed by different individuals. The roles of the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are held by Mr. GAO
Dinan. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman
and chief executive officer in Mr. GAO Dinan has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively. In light of the above, the Board considers that the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 (which has been renumbered
as code provision C.2.1 with effect from January 1, 2022) of the CG
Code is appropriate in the circumstances of the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Ms. ZHOU
Yan and Mr. NIE Xin, has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 3 November 2021, 3 November 2021 and 27 August
2020, respectively, for an initial term of three years commencing
from 3 November 2021, 3 November 2021 and 27 August 2020,
respectively.

Each of the non-executive Directors, being Mr. ZHENG Wei and
Mr. SONG Chunyu, has entered into an appointment letter on 3
November 2021 with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 3 November 2021.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Ms. ZHAO Xuemei, has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021,
16 September 2021 and 3 November 2021, respectively, for an
initial term of three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 3 November 2021, respectively.
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None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment
and new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board Committee members for information and
records.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/
Board Committee members for comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by
Directors.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the Reporting Period, details of the Directors’ attendance in
the following meetings are set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEEERY BEHERY
Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors g2 EZEE8 2EBHEEE 2 HMEEE 2 REZEE REEEKE
Executive Directors niTES
Mr. GAO Dinan BREEE 6/6 N/A N/A 212 11
TEA TEA
Ms. ZHOU Yan 5l e 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
TER TER TER
Mr. NIE Xin RBELLE 6/6 N/A 3/3 N/A 11
TER TER
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. ZHENG Wei BErE 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
TER TER TER
Mr. SONG Chunyu REMEE 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
TER TER TER
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIEHITES
Mr. CHEN Baoguo RERE % 6/6 5/5 3/3 N/A 11
TER
Mr. LIANG Zhanping RET L 6/6 4/5 3/3 2/2 11
(resigned on 16 September 2021) (R=F=-F
NATRAFE)
Mr. JIN Yongsheng SRERE N/A 1/5 N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 16 September 2021) (RZB=-F TER TER TR TER
NBT-BEZE)
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei HEgL L 6/6 5/5 N/A 2/2 11
TEA
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision right for all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in code provision D.3.1 (which has been renumbered as code
provision A.2.1 since January 1, 2022) of the CG Code. The Board
recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo
(Chairman), Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Ms. ZHAO Xuemei, all of them
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. JIN Yongsheng has
been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee since 16
September 2021 and Mr. LIANG Zhanping resigned as a member
of the Audit Committee on 16 September 2021. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise, and provide
an independent view of the effectiveness of, the financial reporting
process and the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Code provision C.3.3(e)(i) (which has been renumbered as code
provision D.3.3(e)()) since January 1, 2022) of the CG Code provides
that the terms of reference of the Audit Committee shall have
the terms that the members of the Audit Committee should liaise
with the Board and senior management and the Audit Committee
must meet at least twice a year with the Auditor. The Company
has included such terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus
complied with the Code provision C.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code during
the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, five Audit Committee meetings were
convened. The Audit Committee had performed the followings
tasks, among others:

1. reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2020 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2021;

2. reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems;

3.  discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

4. reviewed the auditors’ remuneration;

5. reviewed the matters in connection with the change of
auditor;

6. reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to
determine the provision of such services would affect the
independence of the auditors; and

7. performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed
the corporate governance policies and practices.

Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, including one executive
Director namely Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) and two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Ms. ZHAO
Xuemei. Mr. JIN Yongsheng has been appointed as a member
of the Nomination Committee since 16 September 2021 and
Mr. LIANG Zhanping resigned as a member of the Nomination
Committee on 16 September 2021. The primary functions of the
Nomination Committee include, without limitation, reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, reviewing the Board
diversity policy, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors and making recommendations to the Board on
matters relating to the appointment of directors.
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity
on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, industry experience,
technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services and time to be devoted as a Director. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as
well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng (Chairman)
and Mr. CHEN Baoguo and one executive Director namely Mr. NIE
Xin. Mr. JIN Yongsheng has been appointed as the chairmen of
the Remuneration Committee since 16 September 2021 and Mr.
LIANG Zhanping resigned as the chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee on 16 September 2021. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include, without limitation, (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedures
for developing policy on such remuneration, (ii) reviewing and
approving performance based remuneration proposals with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board,
and (jiii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, three Remuneration Committee
meetings were held. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed
and approved the remuneration of executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 26 to 31 of this annual report, for the year ended December
31, 2021 are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)
0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000

0-1,000,000

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 to give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with timely updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

FNgEE (ARMT)
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 88
to 94 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company has established and maintained adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board delegates its responsibility to the Audit Committee to review
the establishment and practices of management with respect to
risk management and internal control systems formally on a half —
yearly basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the key
risks of the Company, including determining the level of risk the
Company expects and is able to take, and proactively considering,
analyzing and formulating strategies to manage the key risks that
the Company is exposed to. The Audit Committee oversees the
management of the design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The senior management
team also provides all necessary and relevant information to the
Board, giving the Directors sufficient explanation and information
they need to discharge their responsibilities and make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before them
for approval. The internal audit team of the Company has direct
reporting lines to the Audit Committee. These systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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We have designated responsible personnel in the Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by the Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating
to any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted
a set of internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our
employees. We have established a monitoring system to implement
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our
employees comply with our internal rules and policies as well as
the applicable laws and regulations. For example, our management
is responsible for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment
on an annual basis and our Audit Committee reviews and approves
our annual risk assessment results and policies. We have also
identified certain forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, including, among others, the prohibition to
acceptance of bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation
of our assets, and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure
long-term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s
business. The Company has established a risk management system
which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party
as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes.
Each business group of the Company, on a regular basis,
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively impact the
achievement of its objectives, and formulates appropriate response
measures.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall
risk status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature
and severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.
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The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.
The review process comprises, among other things, meetings
with management of business groups, internal audit team, legal
personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work
reports and information of key performance indicators, and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended
December 31, 2021, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by staff
with the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such
staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and development.
Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also
believes that the Company’s internal audit function is adequate with
sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2021
was approximately as follows:
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Amount

&%

(RMB’000)

Type of Services BRFEEERI (NREFT)

Audit and audit related services* B R EZERERE 2,100

Non-audit services BRI -

Total et 2,100
Note: BfaE -

* The amount of audit and audit related services fee comprises the service * B REZAARENERASBERIEFEZA

fee for the audit of the Group’s 2021 consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company. See the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management - Company Secretary” in this annual report for
the biography of Mr. CHAN Chi Keung.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at (www.wankaonline.com), where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The 2021 annual general meeting at which the external auditors
attended was convened on 2 June 2022. The Board encourages all
its shareholders to participate in the forthcoming AGM where the
members of the Board and external auditors will be present and
communicate with its shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 4/F, Building No. B22, Universal
Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company has
not been amended during the Reporting Period.
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IBDO

&E&E : +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 95 to 226, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25th Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A EF S

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the
Group’s goodwill was approximately RMB183,164,000,
which is subject to annual impairment test. Impairment
provision is required when the recoverable amounts
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the
goodwill is allocated are lower than the respective
carrying values of the respective CGUs.During the year
ended 31 December 2021, based on the impairment
assessment of goodwill, the Group recognized
goodwill impairment of RMB448,000.
R-BZ—-5+ZA=+—-H r EXENEHEEREEY
B ARK183,164,000T - HEURR S FHRER -
ERBEREIBRENREELEN((ReELEE
LW ATREEENAEEREELEBUNREER
st RABERE BE-FT-_—F+-A=+—-HL
FE X BEEERBERETCRIBEREARYE
448,0007T °

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these
CGUs involved significant management’s estimation,
subjective assumptions and judgements, such as
expected future cash flows from the CGUs, budgeted
gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount
rates, and is sensitive due to business and market
volatility, and uncertain economic outlook.

HZERSELAENTRESENTESREEENE
BEME THEERAE  flnReEEEVNER
RRRERE FEEFE  WABREURIAER o
BERYEERETEEBERSENS W REEMLT

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
testing of goodwill are included in notes 4, 5, and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BETBER - S AN UREERENE AR
BHNGEE U MRMTES - 5K18

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment testing of goodwill:

BMEBHBRENSRNITUTESRF (HPERE)

o we assessed the key assumptions underlying the
cash flow forecasts, including revenue growth
rates, budgeted gross margins and discount
rates through enquiry with management and
by reference to the historical performance and
business plans of the relevant CGUs. We also
took into account the accuracy of previous
budgeting process;

e RMEBAMBEERE 2REBRRSELBEULNE
ERAMEEFETEAERSRERINETER
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° we engaged our external valuation specialists to
assess the methodologies and certain significant
assumptions such as the discount rates used by
management in the impairment testing; and

o RMEFBMMEESERIMFERETEKRRE
BlanERBERENSPEANGERE | &

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to the Group’s goodwill impairment test in
the consolidated financial statements.

e  RMFMEEMBHRRTERE BEXEHBREN
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Key audit matters (continued)

PSSt SIE (&)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

R TR IS5 1R1R

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion of
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and
the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. The
Group recognises an allowance based on the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates, such as provision
rates which are based on days past due for customers
that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
RIBZ-F+ZA=+—-H0  BRERE S5EEL
BEENEANS - BSEEEHKEERR - BEEERE
EBRMBREEAFIREHTANBEREERE ([&
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ABENAIEMEEEZER QKRS

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
of accounts receivables are included in notes 4, 5 and
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SETBCR - ST HETFEE U R EBERFUR B R
BEN RS UKL - 5R22 0

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment assessment of accounts
receivable:

RATEEURBE LT T BT (Hh )

° we obtained an understanding of and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating
to the credit control and collection of accounts
receivable;

o  HMTHRAUFNEEEREBEEESRWEEKER
MHRE R IZH

° we obtained and assessed management’s
expected credit loss allowance and judgements
on the recoverability of accounts receivable by
examining the information used by management
to establish such judgements and estimates,
such as the historical default information, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information;
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° we tested the ageing analysis and past due
analysis of accounts receivable on sample basis;
we also considered the collection of the accounts
receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period; and

e HMHAKAREBURARNERRIMXREBASN
x BAMTAEZRAREHEREEBRTO KD
MR

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to impairment of accounts receivable in
the consolidated financial statements.

o RMIMEREMBHRRPEBEERUVRTRENKE
2ERRE °

° we engaged our external valuation specialist to
assess the adjusted reasonables of the forward-
looking information used by the management in
the impairment assessment.

o RMEBBEINMLEZSHTHEERBHIRERT AT
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate
threats or, safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan, Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HEEER

BE-E-_—F+A=+—HLEE
For the Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—E-—% —ECEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARBT T
REVENUE Wz 7 2,098,198 1,726,746
Cost of sales SHEKA (1,834,882) (1,483,999)
Gross profit EF 263,316 242,747
Other income and gains H AU A & s 8 17,138 18,123
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHBAX (15,001) (16,477)
Research and development costs fF 3% R AR (67,036) (73,543)
Administrative expenses THRX (46,301) (40,401)
Other expenses and losses HitnBix R E#E (38,508) (15,108)
Share-based payment expenses DR BERNARER 30 (18,160) (20,224)
Operating profits KR 95,448 95,117
Finance costs B FE AR AR 10 (7,549) (10,172)
Share of losses in associates DLEEE A REE (3,826) (1,490)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREBL AR 9 84,073 83,455
Income tax expenses FrSHiBx 13 (21,776) (16,642)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE &2 B#HA AL
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT FRER 62,297 66,813
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE & A FIEBERZIEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF  FE(hBRER
THE PARENT (expressed in RMB per (UABBRAREEDIR)
share) 15
Basic HAR RMBO0.04 RMBO0.05
AR¥0.045t ARK¥0.057T
Diluted s RMBO0.04 RMBO0.05
AR#0.045t AR¥0.057T




Consolidated Statement of Comprehenswe I

SE2ElER

BEZE-_-F+-A=+—HLEE
For the Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—T-—% —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥T T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 62,297 66,813
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HibZmUBA
Other comprehensive income that may FRERETEH
be reclassified to profit or loss in HEBRN
subsequent periods: HabZmEUBA :
Exchange differences on translation BREBIIEREEN
of foreign operations [EREE 3,397 2,673
Net other comprehensive income that FREHB T EH
may be reclassified to profit or loss DEEERN
in subsequent periods Hih2EWR A FEE 3,397 2,673
Other comprehensive loss that will not TEEEEREENR
be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEBERNEM
subsequent periods: ZHESE :
Exchange differences on translation RARBEEEN
of the Company [EHEE (6,374) (11,753)
Net other comprehensive loss that TEEEEREEN
will not be reclassified to profit or loss DEEERNEAM
in subsequent periods 2HEEFE (6,374) (11,7593)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FREMEEERE
YEAR, NET OF TAX FRELZ (2,977) (9,080)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME [SYNGIE 2PN
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO FREMWBALZE
OWENERS OF THE PARENT 59,320 57,733
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nsolldated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRAR

HWEEZ —F T B=rH
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—B-—%F —EEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MIEE ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERRZE 16 1,592 1,001
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 26,965 4,033
Goodwill B 18 183,164 183,612
Other intangible assets Hit@mpEE 19 7,480 13,696
Investments in associates REEZE N T NRE 20 2,022 3,775
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 21 8,587 4,522
Prepayments FE{FRIE 23 42,675 31,230
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 272,485 241,869
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 22 581,348 571,166
Prepayments, deposits and other FERIE - REREM 23
receivables FEURFRIE 546,647 518,233
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 24 401,102 195,983
Restricted bank deposits ZIREIERITER 24 43,781 44,369
Total current assets MEEERE 1,572,878 1,329,751
CURRENT LIABILITIES REaE
Accounts payable EREEN 25 74,330 44,707
Other payables and accruals H At R8N T R E 26 52,715 40,917
Contract liabilities eHaE 27 29,844 45244
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 28 171,647 194,996
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 6,990 2,803
Income tax payable (S ATiS S 99,102 82,715
Total current liabilities pEI=RET k] 434,628 411,382
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE 1,138,250 918,369
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRE
LIABILITIES =L 1,410,735 1,160,238




L)
B/

Consolidated Statement of Financial :\P
SZEMBIRRNE

PR = b H = o]
As at 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—E-—f —ERIEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(b) 19,327 1,367
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE 21 495 2,073
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEERE 19,822 3,440
Net assets BEFEE 1,390,913 1,156,798
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners BARERA
of the parent FE(L R fE
Issued capital 2EATIRA 29 1 1
Treasury shares EFRHS 29 —* —*
Other reserves HihfEE 31 1,390,912 1,156,797
Total equity AR 1,390,913 1,156,798
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * BT EARK1,0007T °



onsolldated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEERBHR

BE-E-_-F+t-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Attrioutable to owners of the parent

BAAREARE
Employee
share-based  Stafufory  Exchange
Issued Treasury Share Capital - compensation reseve  fluctuation  Accumulated Total
capital shares ~ premium Teseive reserve funds Tesenve losses equty
A
ERiee Y
BRRE  ERRR  RGEE  EAGE  EMEE  fRERE  RERR  ZRER  hRUE
Notts ~ RVBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBYOO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBYOO0  RMBO0O
Wi ARETR ARETz  ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
At1 January 2020 H-B-%E-5-5 1 S 1543850 9532 90,035 0492 (9723 (598712 1,035,475
Profitfor the year ERiEA - - - - - - - 66,813 66,613
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREHATRE :
Exchange differences EizE - - - - - - (9,080) - (9,080)
Total comprehensive income ERFENAEE
forthe year - - - - - - (9.808) 66,813 57733
Issue of shares Bkt ) - - 43,366 - - - - - 4336
Issue of shares for restriced AERHIRAELRGRA
share units" - - - - - - - - -
Appropriafion to Statutory reserve fund - BAE e ES - - - - - 238 - (2.38) -
Vested restrcted share uns ERTEECERER
transferred to employee i - - 5,618 - (5519 - - - -
Equity-settled share option HEREENERERS
anangements 30 - - - - 20,224 - - - 20224
At 31 December 2020 im 33
+ZA=1-H 1 1608 953 54641 R8T (38803 (34284 1,156,798

¥ The amount is less than RMB1,000.

# SRR ARE1,0007T °

» On 25 May 2020, 21,013,000 new shares of US$0.0000002 (equivalent " NR-ZZBE-FEFRA-+HA ' BERATR

to approximately RMB0.0000014) each were issued and allotted at par —ZE-AFENA =TI BEAR R EIRL (D
value pursuant to the general mandate for the restricted share units B{rstE - FAREE0.0000002% 7T (B
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019. For details of the RAI A RE0.0000014 7T )#921,013,000%
transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated DR mEET R AR FIHEE

25 March 2020, 24 April 2020 and 25 May 2020.

& F2HARREHR—E-TF=A—
THE  —E-TFOA_tWHAR-E—
TERA_THBENRSE °



Consolidated Statement of Changes in ,Equf

HEERBHR

HE=

ek Sy il 2 By e = W
For the year ended 31 December 2021

V)
7,

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRAARL
Employee
share-based  Stafutory  Exchange
ssued  Treasury Share Capital compensation ~ reserve  fluctuation Accumulated Total
capital shares  premium reserve reserve funds reserve losses equity
WRHE
BHNES HE
EETRE  EERG  RGEE  ZARE  BMER  AvERR  RERE 0 RiGE  RE4E
Nots ~ RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Bt ARMIT ARMIT  ARMTR  ARMIR  AREIR  AREIR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 H-Z-F--H 1 S 164083 9,532 54,641 2817 (38803 (334284 1,156,798
Profitfor the year ERiEA - - - - - - - 62207 62,007
Other comprehensive loss forthe year: FREH2 TR :
Exchange differences EfzE - - - - - - 29m) - 2977
Total comprehensive income ERPENAER
for the year - - - - - - 29M) 62,207 59,320
Issue of shares™” Bkt 20b) 4 - 1566% - - - S - 1566%
Issue of shares fo resticted AREHRHER
share unis™” B - - - - - - - - -
Appropriaton to stafutory B\EERES
reserve fund - - - - - 314 - (3,124) -
Vested restricted share units E37EE/058
transferred to employee ZReRAER 4 - 10482 - (1048 - 5 - -
Equity-setfed share opton HEREEN
anangements ERERS % - - - - 18,160 - - - 18,160
At 31 December 2021 RE=-F 1 - 1800951 9,532 02319 26,001 (6780 @51 12390913
t2Bzt-

AN

The amount is less than RMB1,000.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
RMB1,390,912,000 (2020: RMB1,156,797,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

On 1 March 2021, the Company completed the placing of 135,000,000
new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a par value
of US$0.0000002 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.0000013) (the
“Share(s)”) at the placing price of HK$1.45 per Share (the “Placing”). For
further details of the Placing, please refer to the related announcements
of the Company dated 21 February 2021 and 1 March 2021.

On 18 May 2021, 30,645,000 new shares of US$0.0000002 (equivalent
to approximately RMB0.0000014) each were issued and allotted at par
value pursuant to the general mandate for the restricted share units
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
11 May 2021 and 18 May 2021.

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ZEHERE

BE-_Z_—S+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—¥-—fF = S 33
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARETR AREET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHNRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BRBLAT R A 84,073 83,455
Adjustments for: MUTEIBELFAE
Foreign exchange gains, net HNEE Wz B8 8 (706) @77)
Finance costs BAFE A 10 7,549 10,172
Bank interest income RITFE WA 9 (951) (2,128)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BER
plant and equipment RMEEE 9 4 =
Loss on written off property, MEETE - BER
plant and equipment RiEEE 9 - 22
Written off on accounts receivable 5K FELR BR TR 9 19,118 =
Impairment loss on accounts receivable FEWERFUREEE 9 18,283 13,942
Depreciation of property, " BERZETE
plant and equipment 16 468 423
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 17 4,924 3,757
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 19 6,216 10,692
(Gain)/loss on derecognition of lease HERIEERY
(W), EE @®) 262
Share of losses in associates DL E N T EE 3,826 1,490
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 18 448 -
Gain on disposal of an investment HER—BEE A RRE
in an associate G 2 =
Share-based payment expenses LR BEENAREX 30 18,160 20,224
161,402 142,034
(Increase)/decrease in accounts FEUARSX (38 h0),/ R
receivable (47,583) 12,377
Increase in prepayments, deposits and FBARE - RERkHAM
other receivables FEWFRIE S (28,848) (126,478)
Increase in long-term prepayments REFE(SFRIEE M (11,445) (31,230)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable  FE{FBRFRIZ AN, CR4) 29,623 (50,229)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (15,400) (54,387)
Increase in other payables and accruals H A PE{S 508 R FESTRUIE
120 11,751 4,293
Cash generated from/(used in) SEME/(FiARE
operations 99,500 (108,620)
Interest received 2 UFE 1,385 1,367
Income tax paid B FTEH (11,032) (13,705)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating KESEEAES(FTA)
activities RERSFRE 89,853 (115,958)
............................................................................................................................... —E-—FH BNSEERAS 101 e



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SZEHERER

BEZE--F+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
—¥-—fF —EEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARETR ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHNRETRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of an HER—EHE ARRE
investment in associate B TS FIE 380 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BERRE
plant and equipment B TS FIE 9 -
Purchase of items of property, BEYE BEKXEER
plant and equipment (1,072) (490)
Capital injection in an associate EE—REEE A (2,450) (4,392)
Net cash flows used in investing activites — REEBFFAEEREFHE (3,133) (4,882)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans REURITER 32(b) 249,647 301,506
Repayment of bank loans BRRTEMX 32(b) (272,996) (342,468)
Issuance of ordinary shares BTEBR 156,635 43,366
Principal portion of lease payments HEARNAEHS 32(b) (6,241) (4,216)
Interest paid EHFIE 32(b) (6,962) (9,081)
Decrease of restricted bank deposits ZIRFRITFFURD 588 75,146
Net cash flows from financing activities REEEERESREFHE 120,671 64,253
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeRBASEEYEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R4 ) F58 207,391 (56,587)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUNHEERRLZEEY
of year 195,983 261,370
Net foreign exchange difference TEINE Z=RE (2,272) (8,800)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERRERREEZEY
AT END OF YEAR 401,102 195,983
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERALEBYIM
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BERIRITER 401,102 195,983
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FEMERRERR
in the consolidated statement of financial REREXRFARRER
position and statement of cash flows HEEEY 401,102 195,983




CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November
2014. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O.Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands, and principal place of business is 4th Floor, Building
No. B22,Universal Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing,PRC. The Company, together with
its subsidiaries, is collectively referred to as the Group.

Prior to November 2014, the offshore structure was held
by the Company’s predecessor, Wanka Inc., a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014. On 7
November 2014, the Company entered into a letter agreement
with Wanka Inc., pursuant to which all the shares of Wanka
Holdings Limited, a company set up in Hong Kong by Wanka
Inc., would be transferred from Wanka Inc. to the Company
for a consideration of HK$1.0. The transfer was completed on
28 November 2014 and since then, the Company has been
the holding company of the Group.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, including
controlled structured entities, were mainly involved in mobile
advertising services, online-video distribution services and
game co-publishing services.

1.

Notes to the Financial Statements

AT R R MIEE

BE-_Z_—S+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

AT REE SR
ENSHERAR ([ARAFNE XK
R-ZE—NF+—AtHEHERETE
MM EREELT - HFMHE
B 3E {7 A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & X B%&
i B AP E TG EBEILERE
1055 1B BB EB22E4E - ANAFE
EHEMEBARSBANES -

R-Z—NFE+—AZA > BREENE
BIHARAFHAE B Wanka Inc.35E -
ZARIIN=Z—NFRA =+ H%EMH
EHETMRY - R=Z—NFE+— A
+ B » &AAFEWanka Inc.5] 3 — 15 X
i B TTERERAF (—
HKHEWanka Inc. EBBKIZAF)H
IR D A5 LA 1.0 T R B Wanka
Inc.EZEFALNT c ERAEZCOR -
—E+—BA=+N\HZ=K ' Bt &
AR —EAREENIER AT ©

RER > AR REMBAE (BFEX
BEEBMER) TRNSRUABBES
BRHE - AAERIAE M0 3RS I R
BIRH -

—E--FH BEWMEHAERAT 103



Notes to the Financial Statements

A ¥5 8RR Mt o

BEZZ_—S+-_A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AT REEEH ()

Bt B 2 SR HHEA E L
ARBNEZRME QRO FFERS W

follows: T :
Nominal value
Place and date of incorporation/  of issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and place of registered equity attributable to Principal
Name operations share capital the Company activities
Direct Indirect
ML/ AR ETLE/
E4 BEIDRE Eh2, ERRAEE FATIREIERELLBI TEER
EE 5t
Wanka Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
TERERAE 6 June 2014 181 REER
Eh
“E-MERARA

Wanka Huanju Culture Media People’s Republic of China US$100,000,000 - 100 Mobile advertising
(Beijing) Co., Ltd." (‘PRC”")/Mainland China 100,000,000 services
(Wanka Huanju”) 10 October 2014 BBESRE

TMER LR (L) ER FEARLAE
DA (e (ThE ) /HEIAKE

“Z-MEFATH

Structured entities:

Huanju Times Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 Note 1 Mobile advertising
(Beiing) Co., Ltd.* 7 March 2014 AK#10,000,0007C M1 services
(‘Huanju Times’) HE/ B AE BEELRE

BERAEE (1R) “E-ME=AtA
BRAR (TEERER)

Beijing Jingzhe Century PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 = Note2  Game co-publishing
Information Technology 15 November 2006 AR#1,000,0007 MzE2  services
Co., Ltd.* e/ E AR BEBER

T RERH AR S RIBRAR ZEENFT-ATER

Hui Times Information Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - Note2  Game co-publishing
Service (dilin) Co., Ltd.* 31 December 2019 AR#1,000,0007 Mz services

ERREERNNRE (SMER  PE/EAR BRBERS
nar ZE-hETZA=1-H

Wanka Huanju Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
(Hainan) Co., Ltd.* 1 June 2017 AR#5,000,0007 MzE2  services

BRI B (55) B /B KR BEEERE
Gl —Z-t5§5A-H



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name

&

Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.”
TR BR (R2)BR

AR

Sichuan Wanka Huanju Culture
Media Co., Ltd.*
o) IFE R L B R B R A F

Suzhou Longying Software
Development Co., Ltd.*
FNERRAARERAR"

Shanghai ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shanghai ChiLe”)

BB EENEERAR"
[ Lt )

Xinjiang ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
HEYEENEERAT

Shanghai Langdao Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
LEREEENEARAT"

Beijing ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
R REEREERAR

Place and date of incorporation/

registration and place of
operations

EHRL MR
BHMRERME

PRC/Mainland China
9 June 2017

TE/PEAE
—E-tF5xANA

PRC/Mainland China
17 November 2017
TE/FEAHE
“E-tE+-Atth

PRC/Mainland China
28 September 2017
e/ EIRRE
“Z—tERA-TNA

PRC/Mainland China
18 June 2014

TE/PEAE
“E-MERATNA

PRC/Mainland China
26 September 2016
P/ EIARE
ZE-RENRZTRA

PRC/Mainland China
27 July 2016
HE/FEAHE
“Z-REtA-ttA

PRC/Mainland China
14 July 2021

e/ EIRRE
“E--%tAtMmA

Notes to the Financial Statements

AT R R MIEE

BE-_Z_—S+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Nominal value

of issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

ERfTEE/
dfRAFE{E

RMB5,000,000
AR#5,000,0007

RMB5,000,000
ABR#5,000,0007C

RMB100,000,000
AR#100,000,0007

RMB40,816,327
AR#40816,327 70

RMB5,000,000
AK#5,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007

AT REEEH ()

Ft B A BHERAEF (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable to
the Company
Direct Indirect

FATEERAEL b
E# ]2

- Note 2
HizE2

- Note 2
fizk2

- Note 2
HiEF2

- Note 1
HizE

- Note 3
HizEs

- Note 3
M3

- Note 3
HiEE3

Principal
activities

TERH

Mobile advertising
services

BORERS

Mobile advertising
services

BERERE

Mobile advertising
services

BERERE

Online-video
distribution services

RERRERD B
FR#%

Online-video
distribution services

REGRERD B
it

Onling-video
distribution services

BEREERIR
oS

Online-video
distribution services

RERRERD RRB

—E--FH BEWMEHAERAT 105



Notes to the Financial Statements

A ¥5 8RR Mt o

BEZE--F+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

AT REEEH ()

Ft B A E84ERA R (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note 1: Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe were set up under PRC law MaE1: EEBRR R EEMETRES
and were controlled by the Company through Wanka Huanju via EEMBRY  WHARFRBIT
a series of contractual arrangements. ME R B R — RYE KL P iE
il o
Note 2: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership fE2: ARQRVWEEEKEERZEER
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and BhERLEMAR  MZEER
were controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These BETYBIE R B RMER - WA
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times. AEBBBERBRRMIZES o %
ERARBERROZEWB A
= e
Note 3: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership MES: ARRVEEEKEERZEER
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and were BhERLEMAR  MZEER
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChilLe. These BB B R MR - A
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai ChiLe. NEBBIB G0 EmMIES o %
ERNRALBHENEZEWNBA
= e
Notes: F&E

The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report represent
management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the
subsidiaries, as no English names have been registered.

* Zi e U e ) = NG L

DEREZENIBEEPXEHENEG
R RERARGEMEMEEME -

This company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

AIERIBEFBEREE R AINEE
under PRC law. :

/N
Bz -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets STHARATHB AT c EEAAIHE
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in B AT ZHBEESABRBHATT
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive Ko

length.

AR A EERRBHAREFESR
REREAZEVBRERFEIES



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership
of companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the
Company controls certain subsidiaries through contractual
arrangements. In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (the “2014 Contractual Arrangements”)
with Huanju Times and its registered shareholders which
were further updated in 2016 (the “2016 Contractual
Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai Chile’s registered shareholders entered into a set of
contractual arrangements dated 9 March 2018 in compliance
with the applicable rules and requirements, namely the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in
2018, (i) Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements in compliance with the applicable rules and
requirements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018; and (i) Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai
ChiLe’s registered shareholders entered into a new set of
contractual arrangements in compliance with the applicable
rules and requirements, namely the New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, which superseded and replaced the ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, have enabled the Group to conduct
businesses in industries that are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in Mainland China, and enable Wanka Huanju to:

1)  govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai Chile;

2)  exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

3) receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe as
consideration for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by Wanka Huanju;

4)  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe from the respective registered
shareholders at a minimum purchase price when it is
permitted under laws and regulations in Mainland China.
Wanka Huanju can exercise such options at any time
until it has acquired all equity interests of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

5)  Obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid
for the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from
its involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and consolidated
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2. REIEE(E)
(b) Basis of measurement and presentation (b) STEEEREINER

currencies

The financial statements have been prepared under the ZEMBBRREBEBEELRAE
historical cost convention. These financial statements BIRE - ZEHMBHMRIUAAR
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) which is the same as BTAREDZEY  ARBTH
the functional currency of the Company. All values are RATZINEEY - REBFTIE
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise S FTEEEHNERAZRE
indicated. T ©

(c) Basis of consolidation (c) HFEANIREZE

The consolidated financial statements include the FEERREELAEERE=
financial statements of the Group for the year ended B+ A=+—HLEFE
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including W BEREK - MHBARAARATH
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled HEQEEZEHNNES (B1F4
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group BHER) EXAEEHSERF
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its & 7 E R R O] £ [0 3R AE R
involvement with the investee and has the ability to REZEEFUR BN EBEH
affect those returns through its power over the investee REFNED (AEEERT
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability BEEIUEREREHEEHE
to direct the relevant activities of the investee). EENBEFER) X EZEE R

B o BERISIESIRE -

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less A A R EESEEEE DA

than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an REFRZHRESBLER

investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and AR EERT G E RS HEEEH

circumstances in assessing whether it has power over RERWNENFEZE —Y)1EE

an investee, including: EERER B8

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote (a) HEWRELTNWHMRERE
holders of the investee; BEANSHZHE

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; b)) HMENZHMEENE
and &

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting () AEENRERREBERER
rights. E

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are MBS R Ry B A SRR e A B AR A

prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, A — NS TR IZER IR &

using consistent accounting policies. The results of W B ARNEERAEE

subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the BEEHEEBREEAR I

Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated BEFRENREZZEHELRLE

until the date that such control ceases. HAL -



2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs
and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group. Of these,
the following development is relevant to the Group’s

consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16

ERBHE SR 1658 25T A

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

BRETHEREI - HEMEREZER
F45% - BEMBEREERETS - FBUK
WEEAEIFRE B KRS
F169R18FT A

Except for the amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021,
the group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the

amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark

reform — phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as modifications, and (ii)

discontinuing hedge accounting when an interest

benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark rate
as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR
reform”). The amendments do not have an impact on
these financial statements as the group does not have
contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates

which are subject to the IBOR reform.
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AUEHREEA D)

RANHR] AR ISR BERER
&L
RASENASAHER - T8
SETEI A S M E THEIBEY
BHRELARBBMBEREEL
BUERT AR o B » T HMERT A
SENGEMEHRREE

(a)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021 (early adopted)
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Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs
(continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends
the availability of the practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic by 12 months.

Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to rent
concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying
the practical expedient are met. The amendment is
effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 with any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendment recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at
the beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier
application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021 and applied the practical expedient
during the year ended 31 December 2021 to all rent
concessions granted by the lessors that affected only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 as
a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic.The
amendment did not have a significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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RNBEUBRERA(EF
AUBREEA ) (&)

3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b)
issued but are not yet effective

ENRM{E R R AEZAI T AE
iR ER IR &R

LU A ge SR R @ 4R S B R
BEAMR] BB B BIBR
EERE LR BEREX
BEAREAEERES RN - AEH
At BN ZEEALENERE

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they

become effective.

HKFRS 17

BB REERFE175E

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB E 2RS35 2 185]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMERELERNF105RR
BRETEAIZE285E 2155
Amendments to HKAS 1
BB EER 155 2 185]
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ARG EAFE1EREBIEHREER
B AEE25 2185
Amendments to HKAS 8
EBETTERESE 2 185]
Amendments to HKAS 12

EBEETTERIE 1258 2155]
Amendments to HKAS 16

EEETTERE 1658 2155]
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB EREI7R 2 185]
Amendments to HKFRSs Standards
BBV ERE A 2185

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January !

A2 c XEEWARRNZE
BBk PERAT I E EMHE R
RERPFE] R LB B BY
HEZER o
Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?
REZ S 4 R HEEISET?
Reference to the Conceptual Framework’
HIRER R ryiE
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture’

REZHABENANSELFZ B EE L EXTES

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

BEMRERIERE S EREBZEES
(ZE=FF)IFE515a]2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

B BERE

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Bl 1hat 89 E 2?2

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transactior?

HE-XGELZEERBEHHZELIEH?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use'

¥ - BERRE - (FHREFZAHITZH7E

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’

EIEEH — IB1TEAIHIK AT

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020"

CE-NEE B EFEE BB BN FENE

RZZE-_—_F—F—HzZ%&

2022 46 B 7 HA R A 2

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZZEZ=F—H—HBzz’&
2023 26 B0 4 2 B AR 2

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to 8 RAFEE B IS Bz &M%
be determined B4 S BRI AR R o

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be relevant to the Group is as follows:

AR REEERNZEEBY
BHREEANE-SERNT :



3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of
past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 to determine whether the obligating event that
gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by
the acquisition date. The amendments also add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKASB in January 2016 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended
Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, the proceeds from selling such items, and the
cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation
5 (2020), Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of
the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity
instruments, other assets or services.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary.

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply
to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of
that period.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3. FpEBUBREEN(E
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) B BHREER ) (8)

(continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b)

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permit a
subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS
1 to measure cumulative translation differences
using the amounts reported by its parent, based
on the parent’s date of transition to HKFRSs.

° HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the
fees included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph
B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to
derecognise a financial liability, explaining that
only fees paid or received between the entity and
the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the entity or the lender on other’s behalf are
included.

° HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives that
might arise because of how lease incentives are
illustrated in that example.

Except for the above, the directors expect that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs above will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the year of initial application.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognhised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets designated as fair
value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
information on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 3 years
Transportation equipment 4 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter of
the estimated economic lives and the licensed period or their
duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated as 3 years.

Software copyright

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe.

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination

Customer relationship is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a
portfolio of customers or a market share and expects that,
because of its efforts in building customer relationships and
loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with Shanghai
ChilLe. The customer relationship is determined by an external
valuer, stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any
impairment losses subsequently, and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
during which benefits will be derived from the customer
relationship to the Group.

Research and development costs
All research and development costs are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software
or other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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4., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
are accounted for as finance leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

4,
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLSs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

4,
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalment or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services
and game co-publishing services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

(1)  Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to its
customers and revenue is recognised over the period
that services are provided. Revenue from mobile
advertising services is recognised based on actual
performance measurement. The Group recognises the
revenue from the delivery of (i) per-click when the users
click on the advertisement, (ii) per-impression when the
advertising are displayed to users; or (iii) per-download
when the third party apps are downloaded by users.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(1)

@

Mobile advertising services (continued)

The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the
principal or agent in the transaction. The Group is
a principal in a transaction if the Group controls
the services provided before they are provided to
customers. If control is unclear, the Group considers
whether it is primarily obligated in a transaction, is
subject to inventory risk or has latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers. The Group records
revenue on a gross basis when the Group assessed
itself acting as the principal in the transaction; otherwise,
it records revenue on a net basis.

Online-video distribution services

Sell of video content

The Group generates revenue from selling video content
to the content providers and revenue is recognised point
in time when the customer obtains the control, based
on the relative stand-alone selling prices of each of the
video content.

The Group sells the video content to the content
providers may be sold separately or in bundled
packages. For the bundled contracts, the Group
accounts for individual video content separately if they
are distinct, i.e. if a good is separately identifiable from
other items in the bundled package and if a content
providers can benefit from it.

The Group recognises a proportion of the subscribers’
payment on the video content, predetermined in the
contracts with the content providers.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

3

Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers
and distribution platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged,
to the Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds
received by the Group is calculated based on the
standard price of in-game virtual currency sold and
the agreed sharing ratio in the contracts signed with
third-party game distribution platforms.

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and
payment channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling game and
service specifications and pricing, the Group considers
itself as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the mobile game revenue on a gross
basis and revenue is recognised only when the in-game
virtual items are purchased and consumed by the
players, and the commission fees paid to distribution
platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer
(if any) are recorded as cost of revenues. When the
Group’s responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion service, the
Group views game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in
the arrangements with game players. Accordingly, the
Group records the game publishing service revenue, net
of amounts paid to game developers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Conference service income is recognised at point in time
when the services are provided. The customer confirmed the
services by signing the acceptance confirmation.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

4,

EXEBRME (&

SHIRE

BRERMCBEE @ Y1%¥  BERRER
BRLEENRAN  AEERETEF
BRBENRES  HFSUT AR
o MBS EREE :

@) FAERTEBRAAEBIZE
WREPENBEERRZ -

b) FEARARSAEELARET
(RIFEET) ARENEEZE
IRGUELESBIEM

© HBERAEHAIKD -

ER LA AR EERBIK
SRAERNRGERETHEL A
BEX - HUSHURARELERIRE
o



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by either the
relevant authorities or the local municipal governments
of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of
its employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the statements of profit or loss as incurred.

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operated two employee’s share incentive
schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). Pursuant to the restricted share plan
(“RSU Plan”), the restricted shares units are used as
the settlement instrument of the employee benefits in
the share-based compensation scheme, under which
the vesting condition has been fulfilment certain service
period.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation scheme (continued)
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of
the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share when applicable.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are
recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the foreign exchange reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. EXEFBUREIE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family and
is related to the Group if that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viiiy The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to the Company’s
parent.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include
(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (i)
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial information
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered
to have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31
December 2021.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Contractual Agreements (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders
are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and are legally binding and enforceable.

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group
to make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group controls the services
provided before they are provided to customers. If control
is unclear, the Group has to consider whether it is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has
latitude in establishing prices. The Group records revenue on
a gross basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis. The judgement
of revenue recognition on gross versus net basis is based on
continuing assessment of the above factors on a transaction
basis. The Group records revenue from mobile advertising
services and online-video services on a gross basis and
reports the game co-publishing services on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group has unrecognised
tax losses of RMB37,792,000 (2020:RMB31,541,000) that are
available for offsetting against its future taxable profits as at
31 December 2021. Further details are included in note 21 to
the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 F5 SR 3R P R

BE-_Z_—S+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

EXEHHEN R T (&)

FiEr (&)

B#HE ()

R EAEEEEEHEBREA
Lt EMBARMS - SR
HREAMEESEMBEEAN - FEXK
BEREEEBR2RN AR R
SHBRASEHBBER « LB0ER
HBARNEE  EERABNER
R - ARREREEBH EZEZEBN
BRRERS > MEE - BBRHA - £
TR R A MR R AT LS AR B
HEThEAREEBEERERRE - A
BIERYRNDIL TR FIHAT o

WrtntEs? - HEERSLREE
FEAABWEEREINEES TR
BIESRAEEE L H B AEE - AW
5 BEAKBEEAE -EXZTEE
ZEANAFEHERHE - HMAKERR
BT EFAES AR EN AR - A
REBBETA o fefZHIE AR K
SEEZRARAN-BXZHTERE
B ARFERR  HEEERE
FiRE - EAKEERZPREEZRTA
K ARERAIEEEARNES 0 B8
BORRREERE WS - KRB FEE
EETREERNA G HERNRRZE
Y PR ZE VISR - AKH
BRRBEERERAABHEERBER
AECAERRBIWES - MRFEE
% 2 W R B AR B IR

REHIEEEE
BEERIBEEERES e HIEERF S
FAl ALK AR E AR IEEER 0 e
FZEEIRESER - EETRERN
EERIBEESIER  SEEARBAR
TR FE SR B R AT BE A B RS B 2k P E R R
RILIERBIRRE - (FHEZHE - A=
E_—H+-HA=+—H &%
BARERBIEEEBARY37,792,000
T (ZEZFF : AK¥31,541,000
Jt) 0 A A LUK S H R SRAEFRBUER ©
E— S BHEHN M EHREM 21 -

------- —ET-—Fk BEMSHEMRAS 155



Notes to the Financial Statements

Mﬁﬁ%%ﬂ

HE=

——Ft-A=t—-HItFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2021
was RMB183,164,000 (2020: RMB183,612,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2021, based on the impairment
assessment of goodwill, the Group recognized goodwill
impairment of RMB448,000.Further details are given in note
18 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information (i.e., gross domestic products). At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Recognition of employee benefit expense for restricted
share unit (“RSU”) granted

The Group operates two share incentive schemes, i.e.,
the 2016 and 2019 Share Incentive Scheme, under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company, for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including executive and non-executive directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, which are equity-settled transactions. The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees for RSU granted
should be measured by reference to the fair value of the
RSU at the grant date and the replacement date. The cost
of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled. The fair values of RSUs
granted before IPO period were valued using the Hull White
Enhanced RSO Valuation model and the fair values of RSUs
granted after IPO period were valued the quoted price of the
Company’s shares as at each grant date.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that is
used to make strategic decision.

FEBE=HAZBREETF(=ZF=
ZF  =f@) - HRBEEBRETE

The Group has three reportable and operating segments
(2020: three). The segments are managed separately as
each business offers different services and requires different RIS R EERERES K - o
business strategies. The following summary describes the FIE o LTI AEE R RED HDNE
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments: E:

Mobile advertising services Mobile advertising service income generated from marketers
by rendering the advertising services through contents sorting
and delivery on mobile distribution channels;

BEEE R D5 EHBEBRNRT S ERRBE I HRERNEEREMEELNE
BEERBEA

Online-video distribution services Provision of promotion of video content by video content
providers on distribution channels; and
FERNRHEREIHREERERGERS &

Provision of game co-publishing services income generated
from mobile game users for the game — co-publishing services.

RERIAEm D B RE DA

Game co-publishing services

Tz B R E 0 #B

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
revenue and segment cost of each operating segment. The
selling and distribution expenses, research and development
costs and administrative expenses are not included in the
measure of the segments’ performance which is used by
management as a basis for purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment. Other income and gains, other
expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based payment
expenses and income tax expense are also not allocated to
individual operating segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to management
is measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue
derived from the customers in each segment. Cost of sales
primarily represents distribution expenses paid to distribution
channels.

RUBHRBENVAEEBESBERBNEBEBAF

BEEBVEFIEEZEE S IMHE
B MR BEBERD B R RIRFME
RTE  DEPRBIREBEZEE DN D
BB R e D ERR AN R AL o $HE K 2 $HBR
X MBERARITHAX T AEEE
REERD B R RBFEEEND AR
B8 - At A RS - HtbfA R
B8 - PR - R BERBIR
B R ATSHRA T A a0 B EBIE

EHH -

BEEEZHRNIIBEFRBTERSD
B - AREZIBEFHWE - 8§
ERAERIEXN T2 BRREBEN D KM
%o



SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent
with that applied in the financial statements. There are no
separate segment assets and segment liabilities information
provided to management, as management does not use
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SEEF (&)

AEEERENHMERER D ER
150 P B2 A FS SR 3k FT B P 3B — BV 7 SR
E - UWHEAEEERAERNIMEE

koBasEr  BEREYNMEMAZ
FERTEERNFEEETTHRR

this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the

performance of the operating segments.

The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021

and 2020 are as follows:

EJE%:I:—? ﬂi&_?_?ﬂi-f— ﬁ
=+ —AULEERSBREDT :

2021 2020
:%:_E —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T

Type of goods or services: B M AR A ER
Mobile advertising services income BEESRFWA 2,005,125 1,663,557
Online-video distribution services income AR AR BEE i D B ARAE IR A 85,102 55,409
Game co-publishing services income iz 1SR B 4 AR A UR A 7,971 7,780
Total revenue from contracts with customers &BF &#IMALIRZS 2,098,198 1,726,746

The revenue of the Group is disaggregated by the timing of
revenue, is recognised at a point in time and over time as the
Group’s customer simultaneously receives and consumes the

AEBHWRZRZEESE  WEXE
B2 R BERFERER  EEAAREEN
EEFRERBANRRBEER EFEER

benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity B FriR AL F &% o
performs.
2021 2020
—T-—% —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AR¥T T
Timing of revenue recognition: W ER TSR R
Services transferred at a point in time 15 E A IS BB A AR 7S 85,102 17,929
Services transferred over time I By P e R Y AR A% 2,013,096 1,708,817
Total revenue from contracts with customers ZFE&SHAHBUREE 2,098,198 1,726,746

—E--FH BEWMSHAERAT 159



Notes to the Financial Statements

A ¥5 8RR Mt o

BEZE--F+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ*ﬁﬁ*—l (48)
The segment results for the years ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE_—FR-ZF-_ZTF+-A=
and 2020 are as follows: T—HLFENDEEENT ¢
Mobile Online-video Game
advertising  distribution co-publishing
services services services Total
PRREER
BEmE &R PR  BEEHER a5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARNMTRT ARETRT ARETR

For the year ended BE-Z--F
31 December 2021 +ZA=+t-BLEFE

Segment revenue Ak L6 2,005,125 85,102 7,971 2,098,198
Segment cost of sales D ERTEERAR (1,771,566) (63,316) - (1,834,882)
Segment results NEELE 233,559 21,786 7,971 263,316
Other income and gains HAiW AR bz 17,138
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAX (15,001)
Research and development costs 2 A (67,036)
Administrative expenses THHEX (46,301)
Other expenses and losses HitnBX kBB (38,508)
Share-based payment expenses DU A ER AR X (18,160)
Finance costs R I (7,549)
Share of losses in associates DMEEE A REE (3,826)
Profit before tax BRER A A 84,073
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. wEPEHE ()
Mobile  Online-video Game
advertising distribution  co-publishing
services services services Total
RERIEER
BEE SRS DERRE  BREERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETRT ARETR AR®Trn
For the year ended BE-Z-ZF
31 December 2020 +-R=+—-HILFE
Segment revenue AR L6 1,663,557 55,409 7,780 1,726,746
Segment cost of sales DEREERAR (1,448,461) (35,538) - (1,483,999)
Segment results DEbEE 215,096 19,871 7,780 242,747
Other income and gains Hi AR Wz 18,123
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEEAR (16,477)
Research and development costs ~ FFE AR (73,543)
Administrative expenses THEX (40,401)
Other expenses and losses HitnAX kBB (15,108)
Share-based payment expenses D3 A ER MRS (20,224)
Finance costs g 33%:N (10,172)
Share of losses in associates DEEE A REE (1,490)
Profit before tax BRBLAT R A 83,455
Segment results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and BE-E-_-—SR-EBEZFTA=S
2020 are as follows: T—HLEFENDEEENT :
The Group have no major customers which contributed AEEVEBE—_E_—FR-ZF_F

more than 10% of the total revenue for the years ended 31

December 2021 and 2020.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and earns
substantially all of the revenue from external customers

located in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, substantially all of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in Mainland

China.

F+ZA=+-BLEFEEHMBBEK
#HI0ONHEEEF ©

FEBEZHEFBAELE - FIRER
R0 W 5 3R B L R P B K BE Y SRR
Eo

RIB-_-—FR-ZB-2F+TZA=T

— B AEBEAHRDFERBEEIN
AP B RRE o
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7. REVENUE 7. Wi
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents WA (R AREBEE£E)IERER
the income from its principal activities. Revenue recognised FEEBKHWA - RERERH UG
during the year are as follows: T
2021 2020
—B-—f —ECEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Revenue from contract with customers within BBNEREERE 15555 E
the scope of HKFRS 15: ARBEFEHHKE :
Mobile advertising services income BEESREWA 2,005,125 1,663,557
Online-video distribution services income R GIEE M D B RIEWA 85,102 55,409
Game co-publishing services income PR E R WA 7,971 7,780
2,098,198 1,726,746
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by R R TR I R R 2t & 5 D AT R B
the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets BEFEHNNRRRHET6HE o
is disclosed in note 6.
The following table provides information about accounts THRIEHEVERREEFEANEHNE
receivable and contract liabilities from contracts with BHER -
customers.
2021 2020
- el 3 —E2CEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
Accounts receivable (note 22) FEUBRTR (MiEE22) 581,348 571,166
Contract liabilities (note 27) EHEaE (faa7) 29,844 45244
The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance BHRAREFEEREFWENANKE
consideration received from customers. RMB45,244,000 B -BE-T-——-F—HA—-BHWEY
of the contract liabilities as of 1 January 2021 has been BEARYA45,244,000 TERBEZ
recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021, To-F+ A=+ HLEE®ERR
changes in the balance of contract liabilities is primarily relate Wi - MENREERNEE T ERER
to the Group performance services under related contracts SERBHEBSOATHNENORES
were satisfied. B o
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8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 8. HthU A\ Rlkrzz

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Htp AR RS DT
2021 2020
3 —E-EE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBT R

Other income from contract with customers, BB BEREERE155
within the scope of HKFRS 15: HEEFAANEMBA

Conference service income, net (note (a)) SERBWAFE (@) 3,147 3,529

Bank interest income SRITRIE WA 951 2,128

Government grants (note (b)) USRS (BiEE (D)) 159 1,230

Foreign exchange gains, net HNE W za FER 706 277

Additional deduction for value added tax EIRIBE B ER TN 11,402 10,504

Others Hith 773 455
13,991 14,594
17,138 18,123

Notes: Bi%E -

(@:  All the conference service income of the Group is recognised at @: ERBREFZEMBREERE155%

point in time as those services are provided under HKFRS 15. BUAREE - NEEME SRR
AT LARERR ©
(0):  The Group recognises the government grants when it fulfils all the (o): ZAEERNEEXBEERRROIRE

conditions specified in the relevant law and regulations. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Government
grants include subsidies from the local government for the
investment award of approximately RMB774,506.

BRI RIS /G - AR
ZEMI BB REX KA E
H-BE_ZT-_TF+-A=1+—H
IEFE - BUTHELBIEE BT a0 &%
& BEHB K AR 774,506 7T °
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

9. PER¥BiRmF
AEBNRBADRRAENR AT £I0%

B
2021 2020
—BC--F ZECERF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MizE ARETR ARETTT
Cost of services FREE A 1,834,882 1,483,999
Depreciation and amortisation MEREHE 16,17,19 11,608 14,872
Auditor’s remuneration RS 2,100 2,000
Lease payments not included in the SFEAAERT R AN
measurement of lease liabilities HEN 292 1,402
Employee benefit expenses EERAHY (FEEES
(excluding directors’ and chief REZETHASNHH
executive’s remuneration (note 11))": (BF&E11))":
Wages and salaries IEREHS 45,485 69,162
Pension scheme contributions™ RIKEFEMER 4,325 842
Share-based payment expenses DRDAERNARAS 30 18,160 20,224
67,970 90,228
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 18 448 -
Impairment loss on accounts receivable*  FEUBRFUREER* 22 18,283 13,942
Written off on accounts receivable* H 85 R U AR TR 22 19,118 =
Foreign exchange gains, net* HNE Wi F AR (706) 277)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  RERZE
plant and equipment KHEE 4 =
Loss on written off property, MENE  BERSE
plant and equipment B 1R - 22
(Gain)/Loss on derecognition of lease HAER IR (k&) /BE 8) 262
Bank interest income RITFIBUN (951) (2,128)




9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

Impairment loss on accounts receivable, and written off on
accounts receivable are included in “Other expenses and losses”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, and foreign
exchange gains are included in “Other income and gains” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Employee benefit expense excluding share-based payment
expenses are included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses”, “Research and development costs” and
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

“ At 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years (2020: Nil).

10. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
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0. I‘?ﬁ.ﬁu: (&)

P& A2 R R L5 18 e S PR L R ORE
Bt AR RER AR [ E A F &
BEIT  SMNEWEAAGSBER
M [E A RSz T o

" EERAMFAS (TEIEARN BER
BV RFI ) st AR A 1B R A [ 5
EA] [HERDHFA ] - [H13%
AR [TTBFS T »

MORZE_—F+A=t—RH &K%
L 22 W SRR B IAHIR B A R
RERERARFENOHF(ZF_F

4o
10. BAFERL A
HIPBRAG AT -
2021 2020
:'@:_E — 7 —= ¢
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RITERIE 7,008 9,717
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17) EEEEEBENFE (HFE17) 541 455
7,549 10,172
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERRSTEA SR
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIELETHER - FEDAGRHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), @~ () )RMHEFRLAE (HEEEF

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 HERRGIE2BFENARFEES

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

RESTHRAEFHFMMNT :

2021 2020
—F-—% —E_FHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBET T
Fees: wE
Directors ) 491 522
Other emoluments: Hif < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He  RMREYR G 4,736 5,709
Share-based payment expenses DA 2 B ERENI R X - -
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHERR 711 13
5,447 5,722
5,938 6,244
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) TBILFEMITEE

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

FAXNTFELFHNTESNE

during the year were as follows: 20T :

2021 2020
—E-—% —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Mr. Chen Baoguo PREEEISE4 164 174
Mr. Liang Zhanping’ REF 4T 116 174
Ms. Zhao Xuemei HEEMgZ L 164 174
Mr. Jin Yongsheng® BKE &S 47 -
491 522

There were no other emoluments payable to the FRUEEENTFEIFHTES
independent non-executive directors during the year WHEMEME (ZZ=ZF : |) o

(2020: Nil).
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERERETEA SN
REMUNERATION (continued) (%)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) HITEE FPITESRRE
and the chief executive TBAS
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-T-——5+=-H=+—H
ILEE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses contributions remuneration

e Bl DRBBER Be
e REWHE & BHREX HE 2 i
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFT  ARETR ARBTR  ARBFR  ARETR

Executive directors: UTEE:
Mr. Gao Dinan’ By - 1,633 - 153 1,786
Ms. Zhou Yan ALt - 987 - 191 1,178
Mr. NIE Xin? BELA? - 720 - 176 896
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Zheng Wei* BEfkE - 1,396 - 191 1,587
Mr. Song Chunyu REMEE - - - - -

- 4,736 - 711 5,447
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITEE  EHRITEERRS
and the chief executive (continued) TBAE (&)
Year ended 31 December 2020 gE—T-_FTHF+-A=+—H
IEEE
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses  contributions  remuneration
Rl RDAER il
e  KEWAE  HEFEX STEIHER 240 P
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT AR®TT AR®TR
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Gao Dinan' BHREAL - 1,787 - 70 1,857
Ms. Zhou Yan £l e - 1,301 - 85 1,386
Mr. NIE Xin? RELE? - 348 - 74 422
Non-executive directors: FBTES
Mr. Zheng Wei! [ Ep - 1,588 - 9% 1,682
Ms. Xie Guowang® Bl e = = = - =
Mr. Song Chunyu REWEE = = = = =
Mr. Chen Tao® BREEES - 685 - 47 732
- 5,709 - 370 6,079
1 Mr. Gao Dinan is the Chief Executive Officer of the L BHEBEERERD BS1T
Company. BAE -
2 Mr. NIE Xin was appointed as executive directors of the 2 WEEENR T _ZFN\A=F
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Company with effect from 27 August 2020.

g Mr. Chen Tao resigned as non-executive directors of the

Company with effect from 13 November 2020.

& Mr. Zheng Wei was re-designated as non-executive

directors of the Company with effect from 27 August 2020.

2 Ms. Xie Guowang resigned as an non-executive director of

the Company with effect from 7 January 2020.

T RERERANARIITES

REXER—_ZE_TF+—H
T=ABRHEARRIIEITES -

BREEN_Z_ZTF/\A-_+
ERRERARFIITES -

HEERETN - E_TF—A
T ABHEARRIIFHITESE -

8 Mr. Jin Yongsheng was appointed as an non-executive @ BKEFERZZTE=_—FNA
director of the Company with effect from 16 September +RNBEZEEARARIERT
2021. i

7 Mr. Liang Zhanping resigned as an non-executive director 7 REFEENR_T=_—FNA

of the Company with effect from 16 September 2021.

TRBEBHEARRRIERITES -



11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were granted to
directors and the chief executive of the Group in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share incentive plan of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 30 to
the financial statement. The fair value of these options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting periods, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ and the chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2020: Nil).

11.
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EEREREITHA SN
(%)

REARBEFE » REANDTHRAD
HETE AEEEERESTRAE
BRI L 16 2 5 [ 42 34 AR A T 452 2 PR 1 A2
By HE-SHBRRMHEREHM
30 - HEABRENATFEERES
HRERARER  URELHAHEE
BRAEEMBEHREARNEED A
AMEERREITHASNNFHMIKE
o

FR - BEESYESTRASR] LK
RREAERREMHFHNZHE (22
TEHEHE) -
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals during the year include one
director (2020: one), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four (2020: four) highest paid individuals who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are

12. AEREHMAL

FR - AEBREHFHATEE-—BES
(Z2ZZFF  —F)  HFEMFEH
REXKEE1 - FRBTHE (2R
TFE NMBR)RSFMAL (EFEAD
AESENRSTRAR) WEFHMFREW

as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—%F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEEYRZ 3,786 5,623
Share-based payment expenses DR B ERENA R 8,155 10,312
Pension scheme contributions EBRESFTEIMHR 703 311
12,644 16,246

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FESKFBRSTRAEBNRSIHMA
THHMARUATEENABINT

Number of employees

REA

2021 2020

—®-—% —B-%F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007% 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 22,500,000 7T 1 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7t 23,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7t 24,000,000 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7% 7t 24,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7t £ 5,500,000 7T = 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T £ 6,500,000 7T = 1
5 )

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were granted
to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
individuals of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share incentive plan of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 30 to the financial
statement. The fair value of these options, which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting
periods, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid individuals’ remuneration disclosures.
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13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
The income tax expenses of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 represented current tax expenses
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practice in respect thereof, except for four PRC
subsidiaries (2020: five), which is entitled to a preferential tax
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13. FiEHiRX

RARRBHASHSEETMRL B
BABMBASHEMENR

RBE-Z-_-K-ZT-TH+°A
=+—HLLEFE  AEEREBILRE
EARARRBER - BRETHREBFE
BiE - ARERBE-Z-—FR=
ERF+Z A=t -RUEFENHRE
BRI RAREEPREAREAEEE
5 R AER TE AR BA Y BN HA T B S o

REPEARZENRTEE RERE
) » ZNEEERE AP Bl R PE Y R & R E TR
W TS B B B IR & B B A EER B & A
25% MR E (MEA) » A (=
Z_ZTF 5B EERRAI TR
it MEEZE15% WEBRREN

treatment 15% for three years as it is qualified as a “new high H R B 2 BIBR IS ©
technology enterprise”.
2021 2020
k- 3 —ECERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSBTT ARET T
Current — Mainland China BUHR — AR K e
Charge for the year =NIE 27,419 18,975
Deferred tax credit EEBIEIR R (5,643) (2,333)
Total tax charge for the year FABIBFAZ LR 21,776 16,642
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 13. FAEHiAX (8)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before BN R REKREB D MDA R FT1E
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the AR RIEER E T E B ADERIR
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to BERABIEASY  ERERRESENT
the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation E X WE R R EARE (AEER
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the Z)EEMBIRNEIROT ¢

effective tax rates, are as follows:

2021 2020
—T--F b Sl 223
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Profit before tax BRBLAT G R 84,073 83,455
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BEERR(25%):TEHHIE 21,019 20,864
Lower rates for specific provinces or BER DDt HHEEM
enacted by local authority ZBRHE (11,051) (13,413)
Effect of different tax rates in different TRFAGERTEHZ
jurisdictions M 308 492
Expense not deductible for tax R BAHI L HER 10,549 7,145
Tax losses utilised EBAREER (306) 166
Tax losses not recognised RERNTRIEERE 1,257 1,388
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate BASBERBEENBIEMR 21,776 16,642
14. DIVIDEND 14. &8
No dividend have been paid or declared by the Company AARRBE_ZE_—F+-A=1+—
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). HIEFESSERGTREREMBRE (=

TRF B

= —



15. EARNING PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 15.
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earning per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 1,391,102,394 (2020: 1,265,820,742) in issue excluding the
treasury shares during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based
on:
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BASEEE R ARG
iz 2 F

EREABANCEDENRAEE
BRAABEEBEAEGRFARAERNUR
1,391,102,394 R (=B =_FF :
1,265,820,742% ) B BTEER (T &
REGERS)MEFIHE MBS

BREERFNBBRERTENIE
BRI MBER T E R EES
ERENEBERECERMAESHE -

BREARBEFERNFEDERUT

BIE !

Profit for the year attributable to owners of STESRERREERR
the parent used in the basic and diluted BrATANB AR A
earning per share calculation (RMB’000) FEAL S R F)

(AR®TT)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares F R ARERERZER

in issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

FFENERITEBRRN
I

2021 2020
:iz_ﬁ —E-TF
62,297 66,813

1,391,102,394

1,265,820,742

Effect of dilution — weighted average number  #HES/ & X iE R A INFE
of ordinary shares: P
RSUs S RRFIRADEAL 59,327,780 44,796,614
1,450,430,174 1,310,617,356
Basic earnings per share BREARZEF RMBO0.04 RMBO0.05
(expressed in RMB per share) (AR AR®THIR) AE#®0.045t AK¥0.057T
Diluted earnings per share SREERF RMBO0.04 RMB0.05
(expressed in RMB per share) (AERAR®TIIR) AR#0.045t AK¥0.057T
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - BERRE

Electronic Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment improvements Total
EFRE EWtE HEmERe @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZF5-F-H 2,302 943 193 3,438
Additions hE 150 332 8 490
Written off HisH (248) - - (248)
At 31 December 2020 and R-Z-EF
1 January 2021 TZA=+-RAK
—B--%-H—-H 2,204 1,275 201 3,680
Additions hE 241 - 831 1,072
Disposal HE (256) - - (256)
At 31 December 2021 R=Z=—
+=A=+-H 2,189 1,275 1,032 4,496
Accumulated depreciation ZaHrE
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZF—-F-H 1,720 569 193 2,482
Depreciation provided FRFRIOME
during the year 248 174 1 423
Written off Hss (226) - - (226)
At 31 December 2020 and RIZZEF
1 January 2021 +ZA=+-AK
—2-_-%-H—-H 1,742 743 194 2,679
Depreciation provided ERFROITE
during the year 265 201 2 468
Disposal HE (243) - - (243)
At 31 December 2021 RIB--&
+=ZA=+-H 1,764 944 196 2,904
Net book value AREFE
At 31 December 2021 R-Z-—-%
+=-B=1+-H 425 331 836 1,592
At 31 December 2020 R-BZEF
+=ZB=+-H 462 532 7 1,001




17. LEASES 17.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease
terms between 1 and 5 years. Other equipment generally has
lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low
value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are no
lease contract that include extension and termination options
and variable lease payments.

(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:
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Gl
FREERZKEA

AEERHEEREEAMAENRM
AVHESH - MARYENEEER
AE-Z2RFHNEN - At EERE
B2 AU THHEBK, = EE R
EEEHE - —RME  AEEEEX
SESNEZER DEHEEETEZR
H o BMEEESNEFTERRAILEE
R AIBEEN

(@) FEREESZE
FR - ARENEHEEENR
EERSSHNT :

Office premises

A E
RMB’000
AREBTR
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-ZEF—HA—H 5,323
Additions NE 2,876
Derecognition of lease FHERILER (409)
Depreciation charge TERX (3,757)
At 31 December 2020 REZZBZEFHZA=1T—HR
and 1 January 2021 —E2-—%—HF—H 4,033
Additions nNE 28,253
Derecognition of lease HEKILER (391)
Depreciation charge TERX (4,924)
Exchange realignment ek (6)
As at 31 December 2021 R-BZ—H+ZH=+—H 26,965
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17. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

17. #HE
FEEESREAN (E)

(b)

( i} )

HEARK

FR - HEAENKREEREZD

movements during the year are as follows: mr
Lease liabilities
HEaE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_ZFF—H—H 5,202
New leases HiEE 2,876
Accretion of interest recognised during the year S ATERHIF 212 1{E 455
Payments (B (4,216)
Derecognition of lease HER IR (147)
At 1 January 2021 R=Z—_—%—HF—H 4,170
New leases HHE 28,253
Accretion of interest recognised during the year F AR F 12 E 541
Payments ENEN (6,241)
Derecognition of lease HEKILER (399)
Exchange realignment [ 5 A% (7)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZBZ-$+ZA=+—H 26,317
2021 2020
:Ez_ﬁ — 7 —= f'E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AR¥T T
Analysed into: paxiv= I
Current portion BNERER 6,990 2,803
Non-current portion JEENHAER 19,327 1,367
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBEIBD WA IEHRERHK
note 39(c) to the financial statements. E39(c) I E



17. LEASES (continued)
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17. 5 (48)

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEBRBEAN (E)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) THEHERREERHSENT
to leases are as follows:
2021 2020
B —EIEH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBET T
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFR 541 455
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FAEEENERX 4,924 3,757
Expense relating to short-term leases B HAEER AERTHES
and other leases with remaining WEMEEEENEX
lease terms 143 1,194
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEERE
low-value assets BENEX 149 208
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ RiBR AL HLALE 5,757 5,614

(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash
outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced

(d)

HER SR AT = REN
H9 70 B AE BE Y R AR IR & 0 H R B

are disclosed in notes 32 (b) and 35, respectively, to the R MiEE32(b) )2 351K & ©
financial statements.
18. GOODWILL 18. &

2021 2020
—E-—5 —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREET T
As at 1 January ®n—A—H 183,612 183,612
Impairment RE (448) =
As at 31 December W+=B=+—8H 183,164 183,612

2% BNSHARAF
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), which are
reportable operating segments, for impairment testing:

. Online-video distribution CGU; and

° Game co-publishing CGU.

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable
amount is determined based on value in use calculations. The
use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows
and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of the cash flows.

Online-video distribution CGU

The recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 27.07% (2020: 22.9%). The growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the online-video distribution CGU beyond
the five-year period is 2% (2020: 3%). The directors of the
Company believes that this growth rate is discreet given the
future uncertainty of the global macro economy and market.

18. & (&)

T AR,
BAEKAHIENEEDSEE L
TEBAHRELE D PNBESEEEN
(B4 EEEN ) ERIERE :

e HMEVEERIBEISELES
i, &

s EBEMERSELBN -

FEEASFHREAERE HBEMRE
ETAR - TREESBEDRBEREERE
AEEE - EHRIAREARRREER
BETHE  WEEFRE - UEFER
TREMNRE -

PERSEER S BIREEEEMN
REFAERDRESELES VN TIR
O&ENRERALSREEEIEN
HERNRE L FPEUBEENESRE
BRGENFEAEREE - BANES
MEFERMNB A REIRER27.07% (=
TZFE 122.9%) c AREERER
MEMIPERSECENAFERBEER
ERENEREZR2W(ZZE-ZF .
3%) c RATEERE  ZEF IR
FESERTSHARRTEENE » %38
RERAEE -



18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Game co-publishing CGU

During the year, the Group considers the higher competitive in
the the game co-publishing industry that lost its key customer.
This had an adverse impact on the projected value in use
of the operation concerned and consequently resulted in an
impairment to goodwill of RMB448,000. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 December
2021 is 40.98% (2020: 41.22%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the game co-publishing CGU
beyond the five-year period is 2% (2020: 3%). The directors
of the Company believes that this growth rate is discreet
given the future uncertainty of the global macro economy and
market.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
CGUs are as follows:
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18. HE (&)

EEREAE (8
BRI ER S EEEE N

REAFER  AEERABEXREFER
PHEBBETENFREIERS - BY
ﬁ&& L EWTERIFEREEEX TR
2 MmEREEREAR 448,000
Lo R=—ZB-_—F+=ZA=+—8"
BAREESRERANFABEERS
mgwa_?_ S 1 41.22%) ° AR
WEREHERSCELEENVNAFHB
BESHRENERRA2W(ZE=ZZ
F 13%) c RARESERA  ZEEZ
REBLERTSHNARTEEN » %
BREHAEE -

EERSELENNEEREE
puT :

2021 2020

:§:_$ — 7 —= ﬂi

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Online-video distribution PR GIRE R D % 183,164 183,164
Game co-publishing PR IE - 448
183,164 183,612

The recoverable amount of CGUs that hold a significant
proportion of the Group’s overall goodwill balance include:

- Online-video distribution: recoverable amount of
RMB238,061,000 (2020: RMB224,372,000) exceeds
its carrying amount by RMB183,164,000 (2020:
RMB183,164,000); and

- Game co-publishing: During the year, the recoverable
amount of RMB182,000 was less than its carrying
amount by RMB448,000. (2020: Recoverable amount
of RMB5,242,000 exceeds its carrying amount by
RMB448,000). The Group has provided a goodwill
impairment of RMB448,000 in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as other expenses and losses
during the year.

RASEREARERGLRANRE
EEXBENTHRESEERE

- HREEEEMRIE  TERKS
H ARKY238,061,0007T (=
FTEF . AK¥224,372,000
JT) ﬁﬂtﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬁ%
183,164,000 T (ZZE=FF : A
F#5183,164,0007T) ; &

- FHHEE: RAFEAR AE
H&zﬁaﬁk%ﬁ%‘wz,ooo;ﬂiﬁﬂﬁ
HEEARK 448,000t ° (=
E_ZF  AEKEEARK
5,242,000 B HEBHEBEAR
#5448,0007T) - AEBERAE
EARGEEZRITREEERE
BB AR% 448,000 7T » HIMEE
B K& E1E o
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Game co-publishing CGU (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine
the revenue growth rate is the historical data of the CGU,
management’s expectation of the future market and the
average growth rate achieved by comparable companies.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

The directors of the Company assessed that, the Online-video
distribution’s recoverable amount of the CGU would still
exceed the carrying amounts of the CGU if there is a
reasonably possible change in a key assumption on which
management has based its determination of the CGU’s
recoverable amounts. Therefore, no impairment was
considered necessary.

18. B2 (&)

R AR ()
BEBHET S A B ()
HERSEAENNEAEESERT
2T o T T BB S e
B R EEAETREREARNE
HFERHRR -

BAEENR-BEREEFNRIEMRN
EEDREEEFEN —FRERNT
HEFR - AEEFNRRAPRRES
REMHSEREM LR -

BEIR R — FE MR RR IR R BIRB AT B
B3 REAARBEE (U BBV E AR -

9 s — BETE W 0 R B P

ERRSELBANEL S B
BYARTBHRBR THRATER
MTREE -

FRLAREELBEVTERRNEER
R A R B R R BB B SN ERE R R —
jz:& o

RARFESFE  sEEEEERS
EEEM W ESERTRENEER
REASETRBENED - AIRKR
BRERIBRREELBNNAIREESE
DEBEREELEBMMNEREE -
It - BAETRE o
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. HiWBREE
Commercial Customer
resources Software relationship Total
BEER 0t EFRZ ast

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETRE AR®TRT AR®TRE ARETR

Cost 3.
At 1 January 2020, R-E-E $ A
31 December 2020, —H ZBZZF
1 January 2021 and +t=A=t+—-8"
31 December 2021 :%:—E—H
—AR=—T=_—%
+=ZA=+—H 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317

Amortisation and impairment ﬁﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁ

At 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZF

—A—H 15,674 2214 9,041 26,929
Amortisation s 4,478 1,214 5,000 10,692
At 31 December 2020 and RIBEZEF+R

1 January 2021 =t—-Hk

—EC--F

—A—H 20,152 3,428 14,041 37,621
Amortisation s - 1,216 5,000 6,216
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ—F

+=B=+—H 20,152 4,644 19,041 43,837
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ—F

+=A=+—H = 1,521 5,959 7,480
At 31 December 2020 RIEZZF

+=A=+—H = 2,737 10,959 13,696

............................................................................................................................... —E- R BMBSBRAERAT 181 e
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The commercial resources was associated with a cooperation
agreement with a mobile phone manufacturer. On 15 November
2017, the Group issued 3,806,206 Class B ordinary shares
to a mobile phone manufacturer at a total consideration of
US$1,142 in cash together with a cooperation agreement with
the mobile phone manufacturer, aiming to monetise certain
commercial resources of the mobile phone manufacturer. The
transaction was an equity-settled transaction. An intangible
asset of RMB20,152,000 was recognised, which was valued
by an independent valuer using the “with or without” method of
discounting the future expected net profits of the Group generated
from the intangible asset. Key inputs used in valuing the fair value
of the intangible asset are set forth below:

Discount rate BEIE =

Budgeted revenue growth rate

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the commercial resources,
which reflects specific risks relating to the resources.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth rate is
the average growth rate achieved in the year immediately before
the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

19. HihEREE (&)

Bt -

(@)

AERSERE

RIEERE—RBE FHEBIERET
WEEHHER R —+tF+—
A+HA  AEEmBEHFHREERS
#£173,806,206 IX B8 L @AL - AAHR(E
BIRE1,142% T« BRIEE B FH
BUEREI A (E R - BB
FHEEEHETREEREEL -
IR BUNEREENR S - ERE
B EAR#20,152,0007 © BB
HEMERBI0RE | AR AL
E 5 E A EE £ /AR R TE AL A8
1T1ME - ARFHMEEREELN AR
FEHAEREFWT ¢

At the
transaction date
BRxSEH
2017

—T—tF

19%
200%

BRI E TR B R EIRE BRI
FHERKAG  RRBHERA
RrERR -

FREREEMSERREE RS
BEEEENEENTHRES 3
B ERE R BATISER M
e



19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

Intangible assets recognised in 2018 were related to the
software and customer relationship associated with the business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. On 12 March 2018, the Company
issued 12,024,632 Class B ordinary shares to acquire a 100%
equity interest in Shanghai ChiLe. The software of RMB6,000,000
was recognised, which is valued by an independent valuer using
“excess profit” method of discounting the future expected net
profits of Shanghai ChiLe generated from the software. The
customer relationship of RMB25,000,000 was recognised, which
is valued by an independent valuer using the “relief from royalty”
method of discounting the future expected net profits of Shanghai
ChiLe generated from the customer relationship. Key inputs used
in valuing the fair value of the intangible assets are set forth below:
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19. HibEREE (&)

BT - (48)
b)) MN-FE-N\FEINETLEERLS

Discount rate BEIE =
Budgeted revenue growth rate FEEWEERE

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the software and customer
relationship, which reflects specific risks relating to the assets.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth
rate is the historical data, management’s expectation of the
future market and average growth rate achieved by comparable
companies.

T—FR BWMEHHERAS

AEETEE ARG R TP BEFR
BB -RZZ—N\F=A+=H ' &
A R)EE1T12,024,632 B BIE L@ -
LAMGEE I %4100% A% AE © BRI A
R#6,000,000 L ERER © BBl
EMEABERNEERGEE
ot 5 K SR 8 HR 4 I A T RE 3R
B - EFPBE AR 25,000,000
R BB AEMEAREXER
FRARE A 89 L8 th 24K 2 8 HA 4 7
W EREFE DEETITEE - AR
hEPEENTENEZH AR
HIEAR -

At the
transaction date
RX5BH

2018

—E-N\E

18%
50%

R KRR R EPHEER
R INEF B ERKAGE - RIRA
BENRERR -

RS RERRERENELELB

EEE - BEEHARRTISNERR
FILLER A B PTE B T R o
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20. REtZEATINIRE

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2021 2020

—T-—%F —ERIEHF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARET T

Interest in associates REE N BRER 6,226 5,265

Disposal of interest in associates FRAHEREE ATNER

during the year (378) =
Share loss in associates DL E A R EE (3,826) (1,490)
2,022 3,775

EXBENTNFENT :

Particulars of the material associates are as follows:

Particulars of Place of Percentage of
registered incorporation ownership interest Principal
Name share capital and business  attributable to the Group  activity
B3 oA AEERES
& MR AE E S FRA#ESLL TEEH
2021 2020
=®=-% =E-%F

Beijing Youbei Digital RMB10,000,000 Beijing - 40 Research and development
Technology Co., in innovation through
Ltd. (Note 1) technology
(“Beijing Youbei”)

i BE TR AREE Bl - 40  HREERIFTEA
BRAR (M) 10,000,0007T
((F!%=9:3=4))

Wanxin Chelian RMB89,639,000 ShenZhen 49 49 Internet of innovation
Technology of vehicle business
(Shen Zhen) Co.,

Limited (Note 2)
(“Wanxin Chelian”)

BEEERE ORI ARHE el 49 49 RERINEEAEYK
BRAF 89,639,0007T
(Pf=£2)

(T&EER])
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)  20. FREtZATHIRE (&)

Summarised financial information B EEEE
2021 2020
ot et —ECEE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFT ARBTT

Year ended 31 December BE+T-A=+— E ILFE
Aggregate amount of the Group’s share REE L ZE
of those associates: NEMAEEE :
Beijing Youbei Ay 3=
— Loss from operations — R EIE (160) (336)
- Other comprehensive income —Hib2mlA - -
- Total comprehensive income —ZHEWRALTE (160) (336)
Wanxin Chelian BiEEH
- Loss from operations — R EE (3,666) (1,154)
- Other comprehensive income —Hi2mERA - -
- Total comprehensive income —2HIRALRE (3,666) (1,154)
Note 1: * During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group ekl *BEZE=_T=—F+=-_A=+—H
disposed 100% of its shareholding in Beijing Youbei at a cash IEFE - AEEDEERIE R
consideration of RMB380,000, resulting a gain on disposal of B 2ERE ReREBEAARK
approximately RMB1,728. 380,0007T ' EAHERROIAR
#1,7287T e
Note 2: During the year ended 31 December 2021, upon additional Mizr2: E2—FE-_—F+-A=+—H1k
paid-up capital contribution being made by each shareholders FE REBEEBRSKRRIELSE
of Wanxin Chelian, the paid-up capital was enlarged from INEABRERE  BIREARH
RMB8,963,900 to RMB13,963,900 and the Group’s equity AR®8,963,900 LA ZE AR
interest in Wanxin Chelian remained no change. 13,963,9007T * A& BN &S B

BRI T
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21. DEFERRED TAX 21. BEHIE
The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as BEERIBEEREENESHNT :
follows:
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
2021
g%
Losses
available for
offsetting Provision
Lease against future on accounts
liabilities taxable profits receivable Total
SRR
FERH i FEUTERR
HEAR o] 531} B @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR ARBFR ARBFR ARBFR

At 1 January 2021 RZZE--%-F—H 1,042 306 4,182 5,530
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to & RETA/(HIBRE)
profit or loss during the year BaEELHE 5,500 (306) 4,570 9,764
Gross deferred tax assets RZEZ-F
at 31 December 2021 +ZA=t—-H
MELHEEEAE 6,542 - 8,752 15,294
Deferred tax liabilities BREBIEER
2021
—B-—-%
Fair value

adjustment on
Right-of-use  acquisition of

assets subsidiaries Total
WEEMBAT

ERESE MAFERE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTRT UN-

At 1 January 2021 n=-—Z2=-—-%—-F—H 1,008 2,073 3,081

Deferred tax credited/(charged)  FRFT A/ (HIRE)BEH

to profit or loss during the year — IEFEFIIE 5,699 (1,578) 4,121
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-—F+ZA=+—HM
at 31 December 2021 RAERIBE ERRE 6,707 495 7,202
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21, EREHIE (58)
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE
2020
—E-ZF
Losses
available for
offsetting Provision
Lease against future on accounts
liabilities  taxable profits receivable Total
A ARR
FERTRA FEW R
HEaE MER &k st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TRT AR®TRT ARETR

At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF-A—H 1,300 3,286 1,284 5,870

Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRF A/ (HIRH)

to profit or loss during the year B HIEIER 18 (258) (2,980) 2,898 (340)
Gross deferred tax assets RIBE-ZF+_H
at 31 December 2020 =+—HWEL
WIREERE 1,042 306 4,182 5,530
Deferred tax liabilities BEHRIESE
2020
— ? — 7 fﬁ
Fair value

adjustment on
Right-of-use acquisition of

assets subsidiaries Total
GRE  KEHRELR

BE WATERE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®T ARBTT

At 1 January 2020 R-E-ZH—-A—H 1,330 4,423 5,753

Deferred tax credited/(charged) &R A/ (KR E)EBHEK

to profit or loss during the year ~ IEZEF{IE (322) (2,350) (2,672)
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZIBEZZEE+-A=+—HW
at 31 December 2020 RERIBE ERRE 1,008 2,073 3,081
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets

21. i

EBIE ()
EEBIRRE (&)

REHRMS - BETEEHEEEREE

and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial ERBEAMR RIS - THAREEIE
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax ERIBAESR DM UMEBEERRE W
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
2021 2020
:§:_$ —E-E ﬂi
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE B IRER
in the consolidated statement of ERWIELER1E
financial position EEFE 8,587 4,522
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised RERE B AR R TR
in the consolidated statement of ERRIELER I
financial position BEFEE (495) (2,073)
Net deferred tax assets EEBIEEEFE 8,092 2,449
The Group has tax losses of RMB37,792,000 (2020: R-ZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H  =5H

RMB32,765,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2021. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB37,792,000 (2020:
RMB31,541,000) have not been recognised as at 31
December 2021 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008 if any.

75 ] 3K 85 R SR PE SR B %IJE’J%RIEIJEHE
AR¥37,792,000 T (ZE=FF : A
K#£32,765,0007T) ° FTEZEEEYN
REFEIARE » ATEHEEEEENAT
&% 0 FHIE MR RERBREF]

Hiph» A=F-—-F+=-HA=+—8
W ERERRIEE B A K#37,792,000 T
(ZZE=ZF : A\RE#31,541,0007T)
EEZEEERC S EREEE—
ERRFRERMIBARATEL - BRAHRBE
BIERFUEF AT A LUK SET B EE o

REBPBEEEMETE - RPBIKER
N HSIEREREEIIEREE SRR
= ,,\1251145110%%?!]%% BERER=
EEN\F-A-ARAERABAN-Z
ZEF+-A=T-RZEMEENR

& B AR BRSNS I E E PR BA
BE BRI BHRBHRY - BITEERAR
BEHNFEHNRER - gAKENS - BAK
RHB10% - Bt XREBARZER
FEAERIHNMEARBE -BENF
—A-HEELENEFN (WH)DIKK
IR S BATENRL o
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21, BERHIE (18)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) FL?HIE BB (&)
At 31 December 2021, no deferred tax liabilities have been RZZBE-—F+-A=+—8 » $Em
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on TR AR TE AN A 2 85 B8] 1A R B KB A AL
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes HIFT B A BRI AR BB B RIFE T R FE IR
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. MERELERIBEEE - EERE © MB
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these AFEARRERRTKRAEE D IKZE
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable B -WR=B—_—F+-A=+—8H "
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences F'ﬁiﬁﬁ- I SIE A0 TH B A9 1A B R B B
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China BARKRE E’J%?HTE%E SEHAOBAR
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised ’#543 246,000T (=ZFE=2F : ARY
totalled approximately RMB43,246,000 at 31 December 2021 33,141,0007T) °
(2020: RMB33,141,000).
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 22, FEUERFR
2021 2020
—B-—% —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®T T
Accounts receivable FEW AR 619,667 591,202
Loss allowance EiaRE (38,319) (20,036)
Total et 581,348 571,166
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially on REBUEEFAEIPPEZFEITR

credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. For mobile advertising services, online
video distribution services and game co-publishing services,
the credit period generally ranges from three months for
major customers.The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise the credit risk.
Overdue balance is reviewed regularly by the management.
The Group does not hold any collateral and other credit
enhancements over these balances. Accounts receivable are
non-interest-bearing.

5 o BRHEFI  ARF-—REREAE
EXNFE - HRBBESRY - B4
RIREmD R R ERBERYE - £
BEEFNEESR-—BRNF=EATSE
REE DRE HAREBEREE IEZ%E%)’E‘E
®EH - UREREEERR - EEE
SHEARERETENES - 258 Y
ERZSERTEEMEFRREME
E?ﬁﬂi?a}f FEW BRI T EHR o
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

22, FEWARRR (&)

FEWERR (FIREEEE) RREHR
ERBEAHNREIMAOT :

2021 2020
—T-—f —ERIEHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFR ARBT T

Within 3 months 3fEA A 377,579 342,078
3 to 12 months 3Z121{8A 175,717 130,642
1 to 2 years 1224 28,052 98,446

581,348 571,166

The ageing of accounts receivable that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

3 3 {18 51 2 4[5 457 452 25 L1 Y FE U BRR
HORRER IO T :

2021 2020
—F-—F — i
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Neither past due nor impaired BE S m B S FRUE 378,143 342,255
Not more than 3 months past due BHTBE=EA 58,411 43,600
More than 3 months past due but less than HHARE R =1E A
12 months past due BLR+=@EA 124,970 113,762
More than 1 year past due but less than BHREE —F
2 years past due BORME 19,824 71,549
581,348 571,166

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of
default.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired
relate to customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, management is of
the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
for respect of these receivables as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the credit risk is
minimal.

AR 7R AR R (B Y P W AR R B 5T A 3 4
BHTHENEFEE -

EEHERBERNERRREAREEE
BRFFBETHENETFER - RIBBHE
K BEERRBANZSEWIER
SHRERERE  ERFEERLEEX
28 B EERBR o



22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22,

Information about the impairment of accounts receivable and
the Group exposure to credit risk can be found in note 39(b).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:
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FEW AR (%)

BRRURRBERASEEHENEE
[\ B9 B R BRI RE39(b) °

FEYARFURERNERRENEZBNT

2021 2020
ol e o —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTT

At beginning of year F4 20,036 6,094
Receivable written off during the year P9 R A AT ST ] i 6 P LT

as uncollectible (note 9) A (MIEE9) (19,118) -

Impairment losses (note 9) WAEEE (FiEE9) 37,401 13,942

At end of year FR 38,319 20,036

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. TAfTRIE e R HMEK

RECEIVABLES ENL]

2021 2020

—F-—fF —ECEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

Prepayments (note a) FE(SFRIE (Migka) 493,319 466,980

Deposits paid (note b) 2% (FiEFb) 52,645 47,560

Other receivables (note b) H it fEUFRIE (FiEED) 43,358 34,923

589,322 549,463

Less: prepayments, non-current portion B EAFEERE I S (42,675) (31,230)

Current portion RENE D 546,647 518,233
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2021, prepayments comprised payment
advance to the distribution channel suppliers for volume of the
Group’s advertisement distribution of mobile advertising services
amounting to RMB477,687,075 (2020: RMB436,996,742).

The above balances of deposits and other receivables as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 mainly represent the rental
deposits and earnest money to suppliers as security for the due
performance and observation of the Group’s obligation under
the contracts entered into the Group and its suppliers. Where
applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
period date by applying the general approach to providing
for expected credit losses of deposits and other receivables
prescribed by HKFRS 9. Impairment of deposits and other
receivables is assessed based on 12-month expected credit
losses, which are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
that result from the default events that are possible within the
twelve months after the reporting date. When there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime expected credit losses. For measuring
the expected credit losses, deposits and other receivable have
been classified based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected credit losses are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The expected credit loss rate for deposits and
other receivables is minimal.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables, for which there was no recent history of default.

23. FAIRIA « HERE BN
;IE (&)

MEE

(@)

R-ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—08 - @ft
HERERASEEBEES RGN E
LN e R AR 477,687,075 (=
T_TE . AR¥436,996,7427T) E
KT SR E R o

PR =T FR - _FTF+—

A=+—Hmire R EAMmEYRRIAE
HEZHEARERXNNESEZE K
HEE  (EAZERTIEBRALHE
REMERERI A KA TOEEN
B - EEANBERLT  REREH
EITREST - FA—KRITEREE
MM EERNESRRENRERE
it JRE U SR IR O TR 5 B 1R R 1
1 o e R EAMEYWGRIANRETIR
EERE AR - @A EE
A EHME B 1218 A BHE
EER (2HEREEBEN—#D)
EITAE - MEERR BB REER
EHEM - AIBREEHRMEESE
FHERME - R EHEMEEERE - &
e REMEYRBEERBAZEER
BRI R B EAIRBUE T O AR - FAH(E
EERTI2EREERBEEBLRE
RBBATAMGR - HRBREUR
E AT R AR A EA S B TR
(AER) - Ze R EMmEKFIRNE
HEEBBERBRM

bt E ER SR MO E - btk
PrEEnemEERRKFTIAEER -
AT A B8 A9RDER o



24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24,
PLEDGED DEPOSITS
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RERFEFEHURER
T

2021 2020

—B=—% %R

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

Cash and bank balances RERBITHEER 444,883 240,352
Less: Restricted bank deposits: W ZREIBITE -
Pledged for bank loans (note 28) FERITERIKA (FFE28) (42,096) (44,369)
Bank deposits frozen for litigation R SR AR AL PR 1T (1,685) =
(43,781) (44,639)
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERBRESEEY 401,102 195,983
Denominated in: TR HEHMEETE -
- RMB — AR 347,897 151,188
- USD —E7T 27,331 35,891
- HKD -8B 25,874 8,904
401,102 195,983

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between seven days and one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

ARBELIAHER/HEMER - R
i ARYE AR B R R S SN IR AT AR Al
KES - AEE T BRBERERRINE
EBENRTHEAREZRBHEMER -

RITFRRERES BRITERFRAZT
BRARGFE - EHERFRRETFAEE
ZERREEE  HHRNFLXRE—-
FHETSE  RHARZEHEREFR
MERIFE - RITERDIERRBESE
BRI B 0RO SR AVIRTT A ©

—E--FH BEWMEHAERAT 193



Notes to the Financial Statements

A ¥5 8RR Mt o

BEZE--F+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25. FEfTRRER
An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the AEENEMRERNBREARENEE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as HEMEH R ERER D AMTIO T
follows:
2021 2020
—F-—f —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFR ARBTT

Within 1 year 1FR 45,579 17,387
1 to 2 years 1225 2,348 26,663
More than 2 years (Note) 2 Lk (BffEE) 26,403 657
74,330 44,707
The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are BNERAE  T—RREH60E
normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days. OHREE
Note: The balance derived from an amount of approximately W3t AERRERAEEE R B E =
RMB20,965,000 which was under legal proceeding in relations TR AL M TR AR IR FHFT
to the business dispute between the Group and an independent W BEHI A R#20,965,0007T °
third party.
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HibFEMRIARERTRIE
2021 2020
—E-—f —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT

Payroll payable ERA#HE 3,231 3,786

Other payables and accruals HithE(TFRIE R FEFTFIE 49,484 37,131
52,715 40,917

Current portion of other payables and accruals are Hin eI FhIE N BT S IE R BB o

non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three B E=EANFEHR o

months.



Notes to the Financial Statements
B 53R TP 5

BE-_Z_—S+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. 8HAE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows BHEEHBUOT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2021 2020 2020
-5 —ECE2F —ECEF
+=A=+—H +=HA=+-—H —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFR ARBTT ARBT T

Contract liabilities arises from EHNERBELH

Mobile advertising services BEESRE 28,032 42,461 97,511
Online-video distribution services #8#&13 48 7= m 2 & AR 20 20 20
Game co-publishing services i BN E AR A% 1,792 2,763 2,100
Total contract liabilities BREEEE 29,844 45,244 99,631
The contract liabilities mainly relates to the advance BHEEETERREFWENBANRE
consideration received from the customer. It has been BE - BRI ARREBENES B
recognised as revenue from performance obligations satisfied REBENEEUA

due to the changes in the timing of revenue recognition.

Movements in contract liabilities BHBEREEH
2021 2020
—F-—f —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Balance as at 1 January R— A — BW&EeR 45,244 99,631
Decrease in contract liabilities as a HERERBRAEHELN
result of recognising revenue during B8ERD GEAFEH
the year that was included in the aRas) (E7)
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (note 7) (45,244) (99,631)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  E& F 12515 Z M1 hn
of billing in advance from customers aHaE 29,844 45,244
Balance as at 31 December RT=A=+—HAr%e 29,844 45,244
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b )\

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. FHRSRITIER

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at AEER-_ZE-_—F+=-A=+—HH
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: CECERF+TZ A=+ —BWETRRT
ERFBNT ¢

As at 31 December 2021
W=-—®-—%$+=-A=+—H

Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRETHIFIE(%) =[Gl s ARETT
Current BR &R
Bank loans — secured IRITER —BEM 3.050-4.350 2022 30,000
- unsecured —EIKH 3.850-5.000 2022 141,647
171,647
As at 31 December 2020
R-ZE-_ZEF+-A=+—H
Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BT FIZE(%) F|H B AREET T
Current BN HR
Bank loans — secured RITER —BEA 3.500-4.350 2021 42,632
=B
— unsecured — IR 3.850-5.220 2021 152,364
—E-—F
194,996
2021 2020
—T-—%F —ERCEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: EEZRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRPFER 171,647 194,996




28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@  Asat 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans of

(i)

(i)

(iv)

RMB30,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits
of RMB30,000,000 and US$1,897,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB12,096,000) provided by a subsidiary of
the Company, Wanka Holdings Limited;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. GAO Dinan (“Mr.
Gao”) (Mr. Gao is an executive director of the Company),
a subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. and an independent third party, Beijing
Zhongguancun Sci-tech Financing Guaranty Co., Ltd.,
which was counter guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a subsidiary
of the Company, Huanju Times Culture Media (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd.;

RMB39,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB90,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company; and

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.
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. sFRERITER (&)

B3

RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—8 ' &2
RIMERITE K

0] AR #30,000,0007T A
A7) KB R B I W A% B R
AR REEEFERARKE
30,000,000 % 1,897,000
EFLT(HERHARE
12,096,000 ) JR L FE(R

i) AR¥5,000,000THESHSE
SE((mEE]) (SEERR
REIBMITESE) - AR FIE
NEIEBRR U EE (JER)
BRARE—ZBBILE=FI
RARANBERERERERA
ARHBER  AREEREAR
BIGIENGES S A=
(AR BRAFREETET
IRFE RIER

@iy AR¥39,000,000 THBE
& UNGII Y= INETE 76298
{bEE (ER) AR A RRERE
1R

vy AR¥90,000,0007CH = LE
RARNTREER &

v) AR#5,000,0007tHEEE
RARR BN B A m BB R R
bEE (b)) BRA R HE
e
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(®)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank loans of

(i)

(i)

(iv)

RMB42,632,000 was secured by pledged deposits
of US$6,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB44,369,000) provided by a subsidiary of the Company,
Wanka Holdings Limited;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by an independent third
party, Beijing Haidian Tech-Enterprise Financing Guarantee
Co. Ltd., which was counter guaranteed by Mr. Gao and
a subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and an
independent third party, Beijing Capital Financing
Guarantee Co. Ltd., which was counter guaranteed by Mr.
Gao, his spouse and a subsidiary of the Company, Huanju
Times Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

28.

st BERITIERR (&)

M aE

(%)

R-ZB-_FEF+-_A=+—08 &R
AIHRITE KA

M

(i)

(i)

)

ANE#42,632,0007T AR A
B2 E T M B R A A
B K 3 77 716,800,000 F 7T
(HHERHARKE44,369,000
TO)FELR

AR #5,000,0007T H 5 5 4
R A IR A RIEUR B (XX
BB QL) BRAFER

AR#10,000,0007T & 5§
=Ht R EM RO ERERE
RERDAREER  ARE
& RARREINE R BB R
XeEH L) BR A RS
ERRERERER

AR#5,000,000 T & A&
NMBYE=T7It R E AR AR
RERDAER - ZRFHES
A HEEBRARRE KK
[ENGIES A S AW El a3 1Cld
R)ERRARREGERRER
B NIER



28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  Asat 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank loans of (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

(ix)

RMB30,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, his spouse
and a subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Huanju Culture
Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.;

RMB15,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao;

RMB60,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and Mr.
ZHENG Wei (“Mr. Zheng”) (Mr. Zheng is a non-executive
director of the Company) and the Company;

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, a senior
management member of the Company and their spouses;
and

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and an
independent third party, Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-
tech Financing Guaranty Co., Ltd., which was counter
guaranteed by Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng and a subsidiary of the
Company, Huanju Times Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
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BEE - (&)

. sFRERITER (&)

RZBE-_FEF+-_A=+—08 &2

AIMIRTTE T (88)

)

(V)

(i)

(viii

()

AR #30,000,0007TH &%
& HERB KA A B E A A
TIME B b EE (L) B R
DEIREER

AER#10,000,0007TH & %4
Ko AN 5 B 8B R B Br M ER R X
{EEE UER)ERA Rl EE
R

AR#15,000,0007TH = %4
R

AR #60,000,0007TH & %L
4 BEEAE (T8E4]) (B8
EERBARAERITER)R
ANAEER

ABR#10,000,0007TH & %
£ ARE—REREREBR
HEBER : &

AR #5,000,000 T & i 56 4E
R—RBE=HIL R AR
B EERAR D RER -
HE L ~ B4 R ARA R
BRI EEBER L EE (J
FOAERQRRBEEFTEER
BERER -

—E--FH BEWMEHAERAT 199



Notes to the Financial Statements

A ¥5 8RR Mt o

BEZE--F+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. fig&K
Issued
BT
Total par Total par
Company Authorised Number of value of Number of value of
VNG number of ordinary ordinary treasury treasury
shares shares shares shares shares
EBR EERG EEROA
EERMEE  EBREA BEE B HE
'000 ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB
i T AR¥T Ti ARET
As at 31 December 2020 R-BZEF
+=ZA=1+-H 250,000,000 1,274,481 1,029 45,536 65
As at 31 December 2021 RZBZ-F
+ZA=1-H 250,000,000 1,427,695 1,020 57,968 74
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital RATRANSEAMAOT
was as follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares in Issued Share
issue capital premium Total
BRfT
EERYA ERTRA RiDaE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETF R ARETT
At 1 January 2020 EA— 2-ZF-A—H 1,210,716,350 1 1,543,850 1,543,851
Issuance of new shares (Note (a)) BTHR (M () 25,789,000 - 43,366 43,366
Vested restricted share units ﬁ%%EEE’JEEﬁ BZ
transferred to employees (Note (c)) PRAsIRR A3 & A (P ZE(c)) 37,975,767 - 55,618 55,618
At 31 December 2020 and RZZZZF+-A=1-H
1 January 2021 k=E--%-H—H 1,274,481,117 1 1,642,834 1,642,835
Issuance of new shares (Note (b)) BITHR (£ () 135,000,000 = 156,635 156,635
Vested restricted share units EZTEENCRBZ R
transferred to employees (Note (c)) RAEN () 18,214,000 =+ 10,482 10,482
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ-%
+ZA=1- 1,427,695,117% 1 1,809,951 1,809,952
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29, I&A& (&)

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company AARR=ZE—NFE+— At BIRER
with limited liability under the laws of Cayman Islands EHELHIMRILAERRERE
on 7 November 2014 with an authorised share capital of FRAFE  AERAAE50,000ET7T 0 5
US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par #500,000,000 8% = A HE{50.0001 7T
value of US$0.0001 each. Pursuant to the shareholders’ MG - RER=-Z—tF+—A+H
resolution passed on 15 November 2017, each of the issued HBBMNRFRRER » SREBITRKR
and unissued shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the BITRODIRAERARSOREREE
Company with a par value of US$0.000002 each. 0.000002 = JTHIRZ 17 ©

Notes: BfsE

(@  On 7 January 2020, the Company and Xin Point Holdings @ RZZTEZZTF—AtR - AQFHE

Limited (the “Subscriber”), a Cayman Island company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchanges entered to a
subscription agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, 25,789,000 ordinary shares
of the Company at HK$1.90 per share (the “Subscription”).
The Subscription was completed on 20 January 2020. The
net proceeds after deducting the expenses incurred in the
Subscription, amounted to approximately HK$48,999,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB43,366,000). For further details
of the Subscription, please refer to the related announcements of
the Company dated 7 January 2020 and 20 January 2020.

BERARAR ([REBAL —KR
BT EIR ET IS A R])ETA R
Bz BUAAREKERZE
BRETMRBABKGRERE
25,789,000f% E i - REEE AT
A& 1.90487T ([RBFIE]) - RES
HRZZT_ZTF—A=F+HTK - &
HBRRBREMELNFAIE - 115
TR FEB 4 548,999,000 7T (F%5
R AR #43,366,0007T) ° ARER
EEEAE—IE - F2HART
HEA-—Z-_ZF—RtBER=-Z=
TE—A -+ AMBEBEAE -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

On 20 February 2021, the Company agreed to place new shares
to 6 Placees, pursuant to the subscription agreement, the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 135,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$1.45 per share (the
“Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on 1 March
2021. The net proceeds after deducting the expenses incurred in
the Subscription, amounted to approximately HK$189,588,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB156,635,000). For further details
of the Subscription, please refer to the related announcements of
the Company dated 20 February 2021 and 1 March 2021.

Certain employees of the Group exercised vested restricted share
units during the year ended 31 December 2021. 18,214,000
(2020:37,975,767) issued shares underlying the restricted share
units were transferred to such employees which the Company
had allotted and issued to the trustee as fully paid up shares.

The amount is less than RMB1,000.

Excluding 24,524,233 and 33,444,000 shares held by Wanka
Alliance Limited and Wanka Legend Limited, respectively, as at
31 December 2021.

29. iz (&)

FiE : (48)
) RZZEZ—F=-HA=+H ' &XAQH

REMANBERREARETRG - 1B
BREWZ  ARFREERKGRE
fee kT - MRBAEEKRER
=R 135,000,000 % A A 7] 8
B% - RIEBEATRARM1.455T ([R
BEIE]) REFENR-_T=_—F
=R —BREK - &NKRREEEMN
EXNRASRE  FISREFENA
189,588,000/ 7T (FHER K AR K
156,635,0007T) ° £ ERIBSEIERE
—FHFE  F2EARFHEHA=T
——F AT HAER=ZE=_—F=A
—HBRERE -

HE_Z - —F+-_A=+—HIF
B AEEETEENFEEREBZ
SR B IR D BAL o 2R HIAR 15 B AL
H R H18,214,0000 (Z T T4 :
37,975,767 ) B E1TRD (RN A A
M2 A BB KRBTSR 2 RO A%
M EEETZEES -

SR TR ARK1,0007T °

T8 EWanka Alliance Limited &
Wanka Legend Limitedi® ==& —
—F+_RA=T—HHRHEEN
24,524,233 1% 133,444,000 %R 17



30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 31 March
2016 (“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
was replaced by restricted share plan (“RSU Plan”) was made
effect and the RSU Plan became effective from the date when
the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme was adopted, that is 31
March 2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to the
RSU Plan, the vesting condition has been revised as i) upon
the completion of the Company’s IPO, and ii) fulfilment of a
certain service period. Other than that, there is no significant
change as compared with that of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme.

RSUs do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all RSUs to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 31
March 2016. The maximum number of shares issuable under
RSUs in aggregate is 125,000. On 15 November 2017, each
of the issued and unissued shares was subdivided into 50
shares of the Company and accordingly, the number of shares
issuable under the 2016 RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000
and exercise price was decreased to US$0.000002. Following
another share subdivision approved on 3 November 2018 as
of 31 December 2018, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
Class B ordinary shares underlying all the grants under the
RSU Plan.

30.
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30. LIRR{r AEEERIFRB X

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

2016 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, 18,079,202 (2020: 21,162,049)
RSUs were vested and exercisable under the RSU Plan.

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 29 August
2019 (“2019 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2019 RSU Plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to directors,
senior management and employees of the Group for their
contribution to the Group, and to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing them
with the opportunity to own equity interests of the Company.
Eligible participants of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
include the Company’s directors and certain employees
of the Group. The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme became
effective on 29 August 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The board of the Company can determine the vesting criteria,
conditions and the schedule when the RSUs will vest.

As at 31 December 2021, 2,523,000 (2020: Nil) RSUs were
vested and exercisable under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the equity instruments (RSUs) is recognised as an
expense on the consolidated statement of profit or loss with
an increase in equity.

(%)

—T—RER G EEETE ()
R=2=—%+=RA=+—H  ZRH
IR ETEIIE T H18,079,202(=&
ZTF 121,162,049) EZ R HIAR D E
N ESRBIL A FATE o

—F—RER B EEEE
AEER=Z—NAENAZTNBEH
BB E s E ([ = — A ER D EE
FTElD) - Bt EEIRERISESER
AATEZETE (ZRHIIRMDEN) Y
Mg -

ARBAEE_T-NFZREIRODEN
SEEEMAKEERES SAREEER
BEREHBNER  URBREHR
SEFELHNER - UREBREHERA
NEIREHEER S| - BB K % & BT
AMEEMEENABRAEEATARR
BRERRME N - —E—-NERDH
B ENSERSEREGERQRES
EAEEETES - —2-NEFROH
BN =—FE-hEFENB=tNBE
X BRIEBITEHERER - BRI BEZ
R+ FRAXN - XAATDEFE IR
ZRFRDELEBHEERBERE -
PRI R BRI o

R-E_—F+-A=+—H > =F—
NER BB EIETH2,523,000(=
EEF  R)EAZRFIROENDSH
B A F1TfE o

AELERTHE (ZRVRKRMEM) M
ESRBHNQAFERGSBRRAER
REX - BINED RES AR o
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. DI BERAFRER
(continued) (&)
TRIFBE-SE-BER-ZB-—F
+TZA=1t—HLEEFEEZZE—~ERH
SRR - A ESRABHEN
BT RATE S R B R E g
FAGTEME ([T EE )

The following table shows the RSUs outstanding under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme and 2019 RSUs during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, and their weighted
average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

2020 2020 2021 2021
Number WAEP Number WAEP
of RSU US$ per RSU of RSU  US$ perRSU
- :2 - 3
T IR
bt 43 IfEfE —E--% {TiEE
ZRHARG  Ex/ZRH TRERG £/ RRE
EfEE R ER B H JR e
QOutstanding at 1 January R—B—BE&TE 62,499,240 0.0000002 45,536,473 0.0000002
Granted during the year (Note) FRERE (M) 21,013,000 0.0000002 36,639,597 0.0000002
Vested restricted share units EZTEENEREBIR
transferred to employees HIRDEN (37,975,767) 0.0000002 (18,214,000) 0.0000002
Forfeiture during the year RERRK - - (6,269,837) 0.0000002
RSU Withdrawal and transfer into SR HI R B IRE
treasury reverse for further grant REZERHE
BRI - - 276,000 0.0000002
Outstanding at 31 December RT=B=+—HERTHE 45,536,473 0.0000002 57,968,233 0.0000002
Exercisable at 31 December RT=A=+—-AAFIE 21,162,049 0.0000002 20,602,201 0.0000002

For 2016 RSU Scheme, the fair value of each granted RSU M- REZRHERMGELTEM
before IPO period determined by the Hull-White Enhanced = REXRARBEEWERN  RER

ESO Valuation model at each grant date was US$9.7804, HEBHERHNEZREIRDENMR

US$21.2634, US$1.0889 and US$6.48 as at 31 March
2016, 30 June 2017, 31 December 2017 and 22 June 2018,
respectively. The fair value of remaining granted RSU after
IPO period determined by the quoted price of the Company’s
share at each grant date was HK$5.13 and HK$0.61 as at 22
March 2019 and 16 September 2021 respectively.

Hull-White1Z 58 ESOTHEREEEEN 2
TER=Z—R"F=A=+—H =%
—tEXA=tH ZE—tHF+=
B=+—-HBR=ZE-—NEXA=+=
H251%9.78043 T ~ 21.26343% T »
1.0889% T} 6.483%7T - REX DM
BEMBEZ > NSREBHERENER
T REIBRPEN R D TR RERE
ENAFERZZE—NAF=A=+=
BR-ZZE-—FhA+<B25%H5.13
BT K0.618TT °

—E--FH BEWMSHARAT 205
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES
(continued)
Based on the fair value of the underlying RSU, the Group
has adopted the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation model

to determine the fair value of the RSUs as of the grant date
before IPO period. Key assumptions are as follows:

31 March 2016

—E-RE

ZA=t-H

Dividend yield (%) MRS W (%) -
Expected volatility (%) EHRBE%) 60.11
Risk-free interest rate (%) BEBFIE %) 178
Expected forfeiture rate (%) TR WE(%) 0-2

The expected life of the RSUs is based on the best estimation
of management of the Company and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected forfeiture rate and volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical forfeiture rate and volatility of companies
in the same industry is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

For 2019 RSU Scheme, the fair value of shares determined by
the quoted price of the Company’s shares at each grant date
was HK$0.63 and HK$0.94 as at 24 April 2020 and 11 May
2021 respectively.

30. LR BEREMFFREX
(&)
ERERZRFIRMECNAFE
AEBEREXRAHREHBEAIHA
Hull-WhitelZ 2 ESOfLER R EE Z R
FIRPENEERHBBRNATE
BEFZREIIANT

As at
P

30 June 2017 31 December 2017 22 June 2018

—E—+F —E—tF —E-\E
AAZTR  TZA=t-B  ARZtZA

56.35 56.57 56.1
2.31 3.92 29
0-2 0-2 0-2

SZREROEMORBHRIEREL
AEERNSEGMEL - BAR4T
RERATREHIRAITREAE S - FRHIR MR
MRERRIR—ERER - DEITEAF
Y38 118 W 2R R B R A [ BR R 2R B
2. BERMERRNEBRER -

B=F— A FZRHR B BT
EOR-E-TFNA-THAR=F
—FRAT-BRARFARBRER
H B REEEHRG 2 FED R
0.63/87TK0.948 7T °

|1



30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

No other feature of the RSUs granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

As 31 December 2021, The Company has reserved
62,500,000 shares under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
and had 24,524,233 RSUs outstanding as at 31 December
2021 under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in a transfer of 62,500,000
ordinary shares of the Company from Wanka Alliance Limited
to the employees of the Group.

As 31 December 2021, the Company has reserved 51,658,000
shares under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and had
33,444,000 RSUs outstanding as at 31 December 2021 under
the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in a transfer of 51,658,000 ordinary
shares of the Company from Wanka Legend Limited to the
employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-IPO
share option scheme to attract, retain and motivate
employees, directors and other participants, and to provide
a means of compensating them through the grant of options
for their contribution to the growth and profits of the Group,
and to allow such employees, directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. The options may be
vested over such period(s) as determined by the board of the
Company in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the six
months ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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30. LIl AEEERIFRBX

(%)
AR ) TR 30 4 5 0 5 9 1 PR R
DB E A58 o

RZFB-Z—F+=ZA=+—H &2
AEZZE—AEROEBTETHE
62,500,000 f2 0 - R=ZZE=—F+
“HA=+—8  E=Z—~ERDEE
ST EI T B 24,524,233 18 5 R AT
ZRREIIRMDE o BEYTEMARITER
ZIREIIRMDEN (AR EMREER
REME)EEEAR DT 62,500,000
B MR Wanka Alliance Limited#:E
FAREEES o

R-E2E-_—F+=-A=+—H " &2
ARZZE—NFERO BB ET #E
51,658,000 R RR=—=— NFRK
2 3B a2 T % 33,444,000 18 15 &
TEMNZRERMDEN - BEITHEN
RITENZ IR &R DEN (FARQ A
REFNERREMS ) BRELRD T
51,658,000 i & 18 ik H Wanka Legend
LimitedBZE T REEES ©
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31. RESERVES 31. fifE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements AEERAFERBAFEZFESH
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the EREREHNUBERREIEESE
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 99 to 100E 2 RS BRET -

100 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, REFEEBENEERER  XATRHN
the Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC FEIEMAME A R AERRESREE
shall appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year ARPEtENETTRAFENFEEF
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated under BOREBIFERAEER)NET
the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC BoLLZE#HES  MHEESNARS
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use. ZIFRHI o
32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. GFEHERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFRERXS
()  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the () BE-E--—5+ZA=
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use T—HALEE  mEER
assets and lease liabilities of RMB28,253,000 BERRENEEZHE
in respect of lease arrangements for plant and EEAREERBEES
equipment (2020: RMB2,876,000). BEFREAREAARE

28,253,000t (=ZE=F
£ AR%2,876,0007T) °



32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial
position for liabilities arising from financing activities,
which provides the information included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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32. GEMERERMEE (&)

(b)

R EEBIFTS IR B RE 2 E

FREMBRRRANBMEFE G
HEENHORBRESKYR
(REEGERERERAEIINE
BT -

Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable liabilities bank borrowings
FEfFIE HEARE FTRRITHER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2021 WZE--%-f—-H 636 4,170 194,996
Changes from financing cash flows: MERESRELD
Drawdown of banks RITIRE - - 249,647
Repayment of bank loans BERTER - = (272,996)
New leases HEHEE - 28,253 -
Principal portion of lease payments HEMRNAL TS - (6,241) -
Interest expenses paid BAFERR (6,962) - -
Other changes: Hitn2E :
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITERAERZ 7,008 - -
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFR - 54 -
Derecognition of lease AERILRER - (399) -
Exchange realignment Rz - (7 -
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ-F
+=ZA=+—-H 682" 26,317 171,647

The interest payable is included in “Other payables and

accruals” in the consolidated statement of financial

positions.

* e SR ALR & B ARRE

[ AR FRIR KR FIR ] ©
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. GFEHERERME (&)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BUEEENFISINEBRIES
activities (continued) &)
Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable liabilities  bank borrowings
ERFIE HERE TRBTER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF-H—-H - 5,202 235,958
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRELE
Drawdown of banks RITIRE - - 301,506
Repayment of bank loans BERTER = = (342,468)
New leases MILHE - 2,876 =
Principal portion of lease payments HEARNALED - 4,216) =
Interest expenses paid ERFERHRY (9,081) = =
Other changes: Hﬁi’%@l '
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITRERAIERX 9,717 = -
Interest on lease liabilities #EEE\E%UE = 455 -
Derecognition of lease HEKEER = (147) =
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZZF
+=ZA=+—-H 636" 4,170 194,996
* The interest payable is included in “Other payables and * R BT ARG M AR R
accruals” in the consolidated statement of financial [ ELfth e FE R BT 5R3B ] ©
positions.
33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. H{AAEHE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any RIS 3T< ZF%liEﬁTIﬁEKER%
significant contingent liabilities (2020:Nil). BE(ZZE=ZF  #)
34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEHKH
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s REBPAEBRTEFRIBENEEE
bank loans are included in notes 24 and 28 to the financial TEH R BRI 24 K228 ©
statements.
35. COMMITMENTS 35. JKiE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any RERE 315 $$liﬁ1£ﬁ§k§$
significant capital commitments (2020: Nil). TRIE (_ ST F H)
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. FABEAR S
(@) There were no related party transactions during the year (@ REBE=E-_—F+=-A=+-
ended 31 December 2021 except for certain borrowings HIEFEWEITVEBEAIRS
were guaranteed by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng stated in MM 28 Frafi s SE = R BB SE A 1R
note 28. HIERIE TERER
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the b) ATEEFZEEASHTN
Group
2021 2020
—T-—% —ECTEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBTT

Short-term employee benefits SHiEEEA 6,097 7,123
Equity-settled share option expenses DA E MR ER S - 376
Pension scheme contributions BIRE B 1,034 553
Total compensation paid to key BEEZEEASZNH

management personnel FENEER 7,131 8,052
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EBREERTETHAEFHHN
emoluments are included in note 11 to the financial E-—DHFBRNRTERRMT
statements. 11
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  37. #&##ERlE|naEmT R

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

ZHEEMIERBRERRWIRMEDN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as B
follows:
Financial assets SRIEE
2021 2020
—§-—-&  —¥-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
Financial assets at amortised cost REERATENSREE
Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 581,348 571,166
Financial assets included in STARE R EHAMM
deposits and other receivables ERFENERERE 58,961 56,350
Restricted bank deposit ZIRFIERITER 43,781 44,369
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY 401,102 195,983
1,085,192 867,868
Financial liabilities LRIEE
2021 2020
—T-—%f —ERCEHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B AFTENESHERE
Accounts payable P BRFR 74,330 44,707
Financial liabilities included in other FFAEMESRIER
payables and accruals EstEANEmEs 5,302 5,802
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITAEMR 171,647 194,996
Lease liabilities HEARE 26,317 4,170
277,596 249,675
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. £ TEHMAFEERAFEE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B4R
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBWHFEAFEFENERMIE
instruments not measured at fair value at the end of the (REIE RS EmREEEATES
reporting period, other than those with carrying amounts that BREENZEIAERMNRBEHRN
reasonably approximate to fair values largely due to the short REERATFENT :
term maturities of these instruments, are as follows:
Financial liabilities SRR
Carrying amounts
AREE
2021 2020
—B-—f —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables
- non-current portion

AREFR ARET

STARMENRENERAE
— FFENERE D

- current portion —BIERER 500 500
500 500
Fair values
AFE
2021 2020
—B-—-% —ECEE
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables
- non-current portion
- current portion

ARBTRT ARBT R

STARMEMRENSRHEE
—3EENERER A - -
—BNEE o 500 500

500 500
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of restricted
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
liabilities included in other payables have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities (level 2).

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

38. ERMTAMAFERAFE
Bk (%)

eRBE (&)
EREENFGERAR  ZRHFRTHE

K BERREEEY - BUER - &
IR ~ s ARERERRFIEN S
BEE « STAHMENFRERETER
HNEREERTERTERNAFEE
ERHEIPMREEmLEHREEMR

4

Eo

AEENPEHIIEEFESRIAR
FEFENBRRERF  -RE®RER
o BBEIMYEsMERTANEER
BE o WHEEHER TR RE AR
B MEREREMBEFLRALE

TRMEEREENLFEEZEREESE
AR5 (GaH B R HERRIN) ATHRE
HIEREARR ©

hET A FEREHEA T IR ERERR :

AR BRSNS
2 0 AFET BB BA B -
EERRRHBEROTA (E=F
£) A AEANLEERERAFAS

RE G -

REB-_-—FR-Z-2F+-A=T
—B HERAVEAENEEREA
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits and
interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
minimising potential adverse effects of these risks, with
material impact, on the Group’s financial performance. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Foreign currency risk
The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

39.
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LREREEEFERBIR

AEENTIZESMTIAGERERAS
ZEY - ZRFBRITERREBRITE
R ZELTRITANTEENALEER
BELEMEES - AKETARER
HEBLBEMEESIBINAMSRERE
REfE - PIanEUERA N BARRK -

AEEERTAMTRNEZRBRBI
EmE - FERBRABMERERRE - A%
EHERRREESEEINEERE
ZEEREATENERERNEEME
REMNBETANHE -EZETSEEY
HAETEZERRVBERLBRNT o

(a) SPEERELPE
AEBEEEFEARERRER
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BERRZEETEUARBERET
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. £REMEEBFERBUR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)

(a) Foreign currency risk (continued) (@) 4MEERPE (&)
The following table indicates the approximate change TRIIREREREMESRITTE
in the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s equity in FIER T AREERIREAARESE
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign REBHINEERTSEAREHIR
exchange rates to which the Group has significant HMEBELREERBATBRRA
exposure at the end of the reporting period with all other SERER TR

variables held constant:

31 December 2021 —F-—%+-A=+-H
Increase/
Changein  (decrease) Increase/
exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity

XAy el HEzstEm
Ex@E Hm (&) /(aD)
%  RMB'000  RMB’000
% AR®TR ARNTR

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBHETRE

the United States dollar (5) (2,856) (4,441)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & AR#RETHE

the United States dollar 5 2,856 4,441

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMGBTRE

the Hong Kong dollar (5) (1,294) =
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & A R# 58Tt HE
the Hong Kong dollar 5 1,294 -
31 December 2020 —¥-¥Ft+=-A=+—H
Increase/
Change in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity

BRELAT T BRI A0

EXEE &m/ (8d) /(BD)
%  RMB'000  RMB’000

% AR®TRT ARETR

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMAETRE
the United States dollar (6) (14,424) (1,469)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & AR 5% A

the United States dollar 5 14,424 1,469
If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMABLRE

the Hong Kong dollar (5) (152) -
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against ~ # A R# 58T HE

the Hong Kong dollar 5 152 -




39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivables, deposits and other receivables
and bank balances with the restricted bank deposits.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the combined statements of
financial position at the end of eachreporting period.

Due to the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19
pandemic, its effect on the Group’s customers and their
ability to meet their financial obligations to the Group is
difficult to predict. As a result, the Group’s judgments
and associated estimates of expected credit losses
may ultimately prove, with the benefit of hindsight, to be
incorrect.

Accounts receivable

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable in connection with mobile
advertising services, game co-publishing services and
online-video distribution services. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality, assign an internal credit rating
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed on a periodic
basis. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment. Before application of HKFRS 9, the Group
performs impairment assessment under incurred loss
model on trade balances. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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39. £REMEEBFERBUR

(%)

(b)

EEmEE
FEENFERREZREER
A BRERHMEWRRENL
KM EZRERITERAOVIRITAE
B AEEHBRNRAEERR
(HRERBFHREETEEMSE
BAEESZZUBRR)BER
RGO BN KRR
HACEAVBEENREE

B COVID-19 & 15 # 2= A 14
B BB EEAERRF
WEERFSEITHAEBTH
EEREED - Bt - AEERH
R TR E B IE M ARRE (AT AT
HERARERE (BRFR)TE
ﬁﬁ °

FEM R R
FEEHGREBESRE -
BBERE R AREEERD B
BREEENERERRELENEE
Rz - HREBMEFEERR - &
SEHEEECZREKEEEE
FERBEREERFH - REME
AsEFR  AEEEFEEE
EFNEEER  2EAIEE
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FHRBERFIEEH RN - B
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

In respect of account receivables relating to the
provision of individual credit, evaluations are performed
on the customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay and take into account information specific to the
customer. Typically, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers, except for the deposits received in
advance.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which mainly comprise of deposits and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank deposits, arises from potential default of the
counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. Credit risk in
cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits
are mitigated as cash is deposited in the bank with a
high credit rating.

The Group’s customers are reputable corporations and
thus credit risk is considered to be low. Credit risk on
deposits and other receivables is minimal as the Group
performs ongoing credit evaluation on the financial
condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing
of the receivable balances. Follow up action is taken
in case of overdue balances. In addition, management
reviews the recoverable amount of the receivables
individually and collectively at each reporting date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies have been
followed by the Group during the reporting period and
are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.
None of the Group’s financial assets is secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.

39. £REMEEBFERBUR

(%)
(b)

=EEE (/&)

FEW AR (48)

FLE B IR 418 B (5 & 7Y B W BR X
ms AHERFEBBETE
BEFETHE - 2FFHEE
PREF B REER R
NREED  LEREFFHNEEE
B —RME - BRELWERER
O AEEALEGFFBMEE
i o

rEBHEMEREE (TEBHRE
BeRHMEWNRE RER
RESENRZRHERITER)
NEERRREEFHHETE
o ESEBESERZEIAN
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EFEACEFRSHRTMEN
TLES o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts
receivable:
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39. £REMEEBFERBUR

(%)

(b)

SEmEpE (%)

FEWRRSR (48)
AEEFERVERRNVERR
B SEHERE2HEHNEES
1B (EARBERETE) - BRA
SENELFEBRERIER
TEEFENNBRERAERE
EER > HRBEBERELD
BEBRGILEE-—FPESAEEH
NTEEFER -

TEUSEAAEEEENEE
AR R EUERER R RN
aH

For mobile advertising services and game AT BN 5 AR TS R i B B AE AR TR

co-publishing services ms

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARS1E= HAREE BB
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2021 —E-—%5 (%) (NREFET) (AREFT)
Current (not past due) BNER (R@HA) 0.96% 358,277 3,435
Within 3 months past due  EIEI3{E B A 0.96% 58,976 565
3 to 12 months past due BH3E12{8 A 0.96% 126,180 1,210
1 to 2 years past due BH1ZE2F 19.70% 24,686 4,862
Over two years past due mEHEI2F L £ 100% 20,432 20,432
588,551 30,504
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SEL )T EES BEREE EiakE
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2020 —ECEF (%) (AR®FT) (ARETFT)
Current (not past due) BER (RiEER) 0.40% 320,582 1,282
Within 3 months past due BHIEA A 0.40% 43,775 175
3 to 12 months past due BIHI3E 1218 A 0.40% 106,553 426
1 to 2 years past due A1 B2 8.03% 57,006 4,577
Over two years past due BHI2FE L £ 100.00% 5,303 5,303
533,219 11,763
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. £REEEEBERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Accounts receivable (continued) FEIRRER (&)
The following table provides information about the TR EBEAEEHENEE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts Bk R ERRRBEREESEN
receivable: ‘o
For online-video distribution services B EERSEREMS
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

AR BAREE iRk e
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

2021 —EC-—f (%) (NRE&TFTRET) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNER (AREHA) 4.090% 24,295 994
Within 3 months past due BESEAR 4.090% = =
3 to 12 months past due BHASE12{8A 4.090% - -
1 to 2 years past due BH1 24 27.805% - -
Over two years past due BHI2FE LA £ 100% 6,821 6,821

31,116 7,815

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

FHIEER RIREE EERAE
(%)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)

2020 t e 222 (%) (ARBFTT) (AREFT)
Current (not past due) BNER (AR3B1HA) 3.266% 23,729 775
Within 3 months past due BHASEA A - = =
3 to 12 months past due AEA3E 128 B 3.266% 7,893 258
1 to 2 years past due BH1ZE24F 19.253% 23,680 4,559
Over two years past due mHA2 F Lk 100.00% 2,681 2,681

57,983 8,273
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience FEHEEERDENBERENE
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect BMEBELR ZELEE TR
differences between economic conditions during the B URBERERE S EBEHE
period over which the historic data has been collected, BN « BR R AREEEE
current conditions and the group’s view of economic W IEFE T FHM K BRI E
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. EENESR -



39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
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39. £REMEEBFERBIR

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash

flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2021

(%)
(c) mENEREE

FEBBBERAEEMRBES
B TAERESERAVER -
ZIAZRERMIARSREE
(Bl W AR MR A R &S

BEnEHER -

FEEEHEERHBEHRNE
AR (BRRERT A ARBEE AT

M

—¥-—%+-A=+—-H

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2tob5years
BHIRAH
REE RETEHE 1£AFRER 1E2f 2F55
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Accounts payable FETBR TR 74,330 74,330 74,330 - -
Financial liabilities AR AEAR
included in other EREFER
payables and accruals HEeRmas 52,715 52,715 52,715 = =
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 171,647 171,647 171,647 - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 26,317 29,007 8,226 8,425 12,356
325,009 327,699 306,918 8,425 12,356
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. £REEEEBERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mENERREDE (&)
31 December 2020 —E-FEF+-A=+—H
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2to5years
BRRER
IREE HERAE 1FAREREX 122F 2254
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®TRT AR%Tr AR%Tn AR%Trn
Accounts payable 1T ERK 44,707 44,707 44,707 - -
Financial liabilities TARMENR
included in other BREFER
payables and accruals Hemas 40,917 40,917 40,917 - =
Interest-bearing bank TRBTER
borrowings 194,996 194,996 194,996 - -
Lease liabilities HESE 4,170 4,338 2,926 1,059 353
284,790 284,958 283,546 1,059 858
(d) Capital management (d) BXREE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s capital risk is low. No change was made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the year.

FEBEREANTEZEBRBR
BASBEMNFEKERED A4
FREMNEARLLE  UXEER
BEREBRRCRREE -

rEERABLEAREESRS
B AEESERHEAREY
RIBEBR RS RBEEEN
REREREEELRE -  BER
RABRELRE  AEETES
AEARRETRIR - RTHRR
BRBHEEEMRE - AAFE
ERR FAREENELXERR
B RER > EXAEENER
HRSEFHEB LS -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. £RtEEEEBAERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities,
and gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the end
of each of the reporting periods are as follows:

(&)

(d) BEFXREE(E)
AEBERBFEARBLLER (BUR
BEEABERURBAGEHALE)
REXREBLR (UBAEERU
BEE)ERER - REREH
RWREILE R R EARE B E
T

2021 2020
—T-—F —EBEHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

Total current assets REEEAE 1,572,878 1,329,751
Total non-current assets FREEELE 272,485 241,869
Total current liabilities mENE B 434,628 411,382
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELRE 19,822 3,440
Current ratio FEb= 3.62 3.23
Gearing ratio ERGEE 25% 26%
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. RXASMABERRFT

THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RATARE BRI RTRNE R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2021 2020
ot bl —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EMELARNIRE 721,149 721,149
Total non-current assets FRENEEERE 721,149 721,149
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Cash and bank equivalents BHERIBITEEY 820 5,909
Due from subsidiaries FEULH B A B FRIE 327,108 178,146
Prepayments, other receivables FEMFIE - HEtnEUEE
and other assets REMEE 171 175
Total current assets MENEEAEE 328,099 184,230
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Other payables and accruals HibENFERETER 7,712 7,727
Total current liabilities BB EEEE 7,712 7,727
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFEE 320,387 176,503
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #REERRESEE 1,041,536 897,652
Net assets EEFH 1,041,536 897,652
EQUITY ez
Issued capital BEITRA 1 1
Treasury shares BEER5 _* o
Other reserves (note) Hith 4 (MEE) 1,041,535 897,651
Total equity R 1,041,536 897,652
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * SRR EAREA,0007T °
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary to the Company’s reserve is as follows:
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41. KATMBIRRRE (B)

B3

ARABZEEHEETIT

Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital ~ compensation fluctuation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
IR ABERER HERE
BRDEE EAGE  EEEMGEE fite £ &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT TR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(HfEE29) (fE£30)
At 1 January 2020 R=2=2%-f-A 1,543,850 = 90,035 (31,720) (732,461) 869,704
Loss for the year ERESE - - - - (23,889) (23,889)
Other comprehensive loss FREMEELSE
for the year:
Exchange differences ERER - - - (11,759) - (11,759)
Total comprehensive loss EREEFELE
for the year - - - (11,753) (23,889) (35,642)
Issue of shares BORH 43,366 - - - - 43,366
Vested restricted share units ~~ EEFEENCHE
transferred to employee ZRHRAEN 55,618 - (55,618) - - -
Equity-settled share option INEREEN
arrangements BREZH - - 20,024 - - 20,224
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZE+-B=1-H 1,642,834 - 54,641 (43,473) (756,350) 897,652
Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Wi B AR SMERE
Rty aXE  ESENEE ikt Rithta st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(MzE29) (ME£30)
At 31 December 2020 and R=Z2-2F+=A=t-H
1 January 2021 RZZE--§-F-H 1,642,834 - 54,641 (43,473) (756,350) 897,652
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (24,538) (24,538)
Other comprehensive loss ERHMpEAEGE
for the year:
Exchange differences ERER - - - (6,374) - (6,374)
Total comprehensive loss FREEFELE
for the year - - - (6,374) (24,538) (30912)
Issue of shares BORH 156,635 - - - - 156,635
Vested restricted share units ~~ EREFEENCHET
transferred to employee S 10,482 - (10,482) = = =
Equity-settled share option NEREEN
arrangements BREZH - - 18,160 - - 18,160
At 31 December 2021 R=E--%+-B=1-H 1,809,951 - 62,319 (49,847) (780,888) 1,041,535
............................................................................................................................... —E-—F% BNSEERAT 225
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

41.

THE COMPANY (continued)

Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of RSUs granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account
when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
accumulated loss should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2022.

40. AATMBRRR (&)

41.

DR BERNESHFHRERECR
HIERITENZREBDEMDFE
N IR AR I RE 4 LARR 4D B ELRE RO 1
REFTHEE—SME - ZFEBRNT
EARER R BB E ROEER -
TR R AR AR P 2 A 0% W B B B = R et
B8 -

#LEMBRER

NZBE-ZF=F=+HH  EFEF
b S AR T B B A IR K o



“AGM” or

“Annual General Meeting”

[RFAFXE |

“Articles of Association”

[EERAA

“associate(s)”

R INI

“Audit Committee”

[EZEEE

“Auditor”
[ #8567

“Beijing JinChi”

Mbmsith |

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”
[EEE]
“CG Code”
[EEEa~rall
“ChiLe Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
[thEE S PRt EEE

“China” or “PRC”

[ |

Definitions

R

the forthcoming 2021 annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 2 June 2022
ARBABR B FRNAZRETHNERE-ZE--FFERRBERE

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted on 3

November 2018 and effective on 21 December 2018 and as amended

from time to time

ARARRZB-NF+-AZHRRARR=Z-NF+ZB=+—BEXR
W REHE T IS FT A E R A A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAIETZARE

the audit committee of the Company

RARERERES

BDO Limited, the auditor of the Company
AARRHAE B L EERSTMBEHEAERAR

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (1t R&MEEREKRHE
BR 2 7]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 13 May 2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in
Shanghai ChiLe

TREHEERNERBERAR  —XRZEZENFRAT=ZBREREE
FEEMRZNERAR - 58 LiEhg 49%&%

the board of directors of our Company
RABESS

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules

LR Rk &+ PR E A BT Al

Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries

LR B A E)

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual
report to the PRC or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau

REARANE - RXESEMERERRTFRMS - NERAMENHE
YFEEaE - HBIRM
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Definitions

EE

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

[A2E ]

“connected person(s)”

[BREAL]

“connected transaction(s)”

[EAER 5]

“Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
[ & EEE

“Contractual Arrangements

[E#I=HE]
“Controlling Shareholders”

I {2 Rg AR |

“Director(s)”

[E%

“Group”, “our Group”,
“the Group”, “we”,

“us”’ or Hour”
[ ASRE = #M
* For identification purposes only

Wanka Online Inc. (BW=EAGMRAF*), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014 and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1762)

Wanka Online Inc(. EMZEHAERARY  —KRR-ZF—MNE+—ALAR
EHENEEEIMRUNERRBRAT - HROVEERZAMERLS (R
MR 1 1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAIETZANEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries
BMBEBENTHEHNER B SR RBBRNA  RAZEHNEAR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and its shareholders, details of which are described in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Connected Transactions — Contractual
Arrangements”

HRE+GEE LHERBBERREMNEHEEERRERR)TI LN —
RIGHRE  BRAFBHANESERE -BERS —S0TH -6

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of this annual report, refers to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng, Wanka Media Limited
and Countryside Tech Inc.

BAETRAETFZANRER  WAFR  DiESELE - B5L4E - Wanka
Media Limited } Countryside Tech Inc.

the director(s) of our Company

RARES

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as
a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements)
from time to time

ARE HTRBZHMBARRGHEBERHUBXECHASHNRHERS
ANERFHERA BB A A])

N (EXaTE Rl



“HKFRS”
[EEMBREEA ]

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”
&l

“Huanju Times”

581

“Listing Date”
[k BEH]

“Listing Rules

[ E#RAll

“Main Board”

[E#H]

“MHA”

Bt A |

“Model Code”

[l ]

“Mr. Gao”

[ ]

Definitions

R

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BBYHREER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBRSRTHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT E/ﬁ/ﬁ %‘fﬁv

Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EEEAbEHE L R)
BPFRAT]), a company established in the PRC on March 7, 2014, owned
by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital,
respectively

BERAERGER)BRLT ) — RR=_FE—NF=A Lt BEPBERL
MAE SEERBEEDBIEEH 72% K% 28% KA

21 December 2018, being the date the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

2 \FE+ZAT+—B - BRGRERA LA A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
BEBERZMARD R(HE S LR BNETEHEET)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock

Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the

Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

%xﬁﬁ%_%E’J%ﬁ%?&%ﬁﬁ(/‘ﬁ@?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%) BB T GEM Y EEE P
BE1E

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of seven Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Lenovo,
Meizu and nubia

WRZHE > ATELRLZEEEFHEERRL  BES « OPPO -~ vivo »
BK ~ B4R R R Bt

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
LR B+ P& LB ITAESETES XS NRETED

Mr. GAO Dinan (/3 %), our chairman of the Board, executive Director,
chief executive officer and one of our Controlling shareholders

BHRBELE BMANESEXRE  HTES  ERITERERMANES—F
ERRR

SE--FH BWMEHAERAT 229



Definitions

EE

“Mr. Zheng”
[EBSE4 |

“Nomination Committee”

[RBEEE

“Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”

[ERAFEERERE S

“Prospectus”

[BiRER |

“Quick App(s)”

[BeAER |

“Remuneration Committee’

[FHNEEE

“Reporting Period”
[REH

“RMB”
TARR]

“RSU(S)”
I 32 PR A% {3 BE {ir |

“SFO”

[ 2% RSB

“Shanghai ChiLe”

[ Ligithse]

Mr. ZHENG Wei (28)&), our non-executive Director and one of our
Controlling shareholders

BELE  RMNFEHTESREMOEP -—FERRR

nomination committee of the Company

KABREEES

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 3 November 2018,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
ARARR=ZZ-N\FE+—-—B=ZBRANBRESS > HEEERRBERE
SERE-ERLHBRERBRES -8

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its
initial public offering
ARBEBR-E-NE+ZAT-BEBEERARBENERER

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store
or download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile
apps

RFNREANBEEARR  EFFRTMEABESLTHEMARS - B
LERBBERREFES R

the remuneration committee of the Company

KABFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-ZE--—F1+-A=t—-HLEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC
ARY > REEEEY

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme

REBE-Z—AFROBETERENZ RO EN

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREBIESN E(RERIBERODEREHERT ~ BARUARAMT XIER)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L/&ith&s BRlHE
PR A 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 18 June 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% of its share capital, respectively
EPEHREEREERAF  —FR=2F—NF A+ N\BREBEPBEEET
MW ERAR  AEEEREFZESNDFIEEHE 51.0% K 49.0% K74



“Share(s)”

[R5 ] 5
“Shareholder(s)”

[ | &

“Stock Exchange”

[ B3 T B

“subsidiary(ies)”

[PHEAE] 5

“substantial shareholder”

[EZRR] B

“United States,” “U.S.” or “US”

[ € | 5
“US$”
E B

“Wanka Hong Kong”

L& | B

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE”

[ GUERTE s v BE R | B

“opn

[ %] 5

“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—RERGEBEE 5

Definitions

R

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
ARATRAHEREE 0.0000002 3T HIE iR

holder(s) of Share(s)
S ESZEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERSMERAHE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAETZARNERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEAEWRAETZANERE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

EFBERE - HEL B RIHALZEENEHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
£ XBEUREEY

Wanka Holdings Limited (EtMl#Ez B PR Al), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly -
owned subsidiary

UERERAT > —KAZZE-—WEANARNBEEBRIMRLNERA
8 BARMNEEZEWB AR

Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ETMIENE: 1L & (1L =)
BPBRAT]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and
our wholly-owned subsidiary

TIMEBE S EEOR)BRAR ) —FRR=ZFE—NFE+A+BERBEKZ
WAE - AERMNEENBLTE

per centum

Bk

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016
which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted
share unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set
out in the section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme”

ARABRZB-ARF-AXRBEANRD MBS R=ZF-N\FEA=+
B UZRERDEAFSEREMEE - EFIRER - AFERAENE
BERE - - AFROBEE -5
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Definitions

EE

“2019 Share Incentive Scheme” the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors —2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF— R ERBHEE S B ARARARZZB-NAFNRZTHABERMANKRO MBS  EEZEHRIER
[BESEERE - - NFROZEE -

* for identification purposes only « {E{HST

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, TEIRAH B« chE LR R LA LR
and the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual B B T S AR Y EE P X B
report are translations from their Chinese names and are for LU E) o 2B Z LB Y EFE5E%E o
identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese

names shall prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual RERFHEFERET N EEELIZ o
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, B » B TF 1A 548 Bk s ZE R 2 E4F
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic WERER  HEEEEFTTF  BES &
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded BB e B [ 2 A B B F AL o
to the nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to

figures that have been rounded differently to them.
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